INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

ProQuest Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600



Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

÷

٠

UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

ACCOUNTABILITY IN A CONTEMPORARY FIRST NATION CONTEXT: A BLENDING OF FORMS

by Gina Cosco

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial

fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Accounting

Faculty of Business

Edmonton Alberta

Fall, 2005

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada 0-494-08626-2

Your file Votre référence ISBN: Our file Notre reterence ISBN:

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sœuvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.

ABSTRACT

This study investigates historical and current perspectives of accountability within the federal government and within a First Nation community, particularly as reflected in spiritual, social, and hierarchical forms. A review of historical documents and ethnographies, as well as interviews and participant observation, provide a background from which to identify differences in ideologies and forms of accountability that are prevalent in the different contexts. A framework that blends spiritual, social and hierarchical forms of accountability is developed, with a view to providing a more workable process that reflects the goals, visions, and priorities of the First Nation in a language that is meaningful to them, while at the same time meeting the requirements of the federal government.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
"Accountability"	5
Importance of study	7
Paper organization	9
Chapter 2: Accountability theory	13
"Forms" of accountability	13
"Mainstream" form of accountability	14
Hierarchical accountability	15
Socializing accountability	17
Spiritual accountability	18
Multiple forms of accountability	20
Different understandings of accountability	21
Indigenous accountability	24
Accountability vis-à-vis VGFN	25
Chapter 3: Methodology	28
My acceptance by the community	30
My interpretation of interviews	32
Power inequalities	33
Chapter 4: Government accountability	35
British origins of accountability as hierarchical structure	36
Early imperial policies	37
A new Canadian government	40

I	Indian Policy from 1900-1950	43
A	A history of dominance and hierarchical structure	45
Chapter	r 5: First Nations ideologies of accountability before government influence	46
A	A balance among all things	48
C	Oral tradition	51
E	Economic organization	52
L	Leadership	53
S	Social order	55
F	Reciprocity	57
A	Accountability vis-à-vis traders	58
A	A changing economy	60
A	A history of socializing and spiritual forms of accountability	61
Chapter	r 6: Government policies	63
V	White Paper	65
Ŋ	Yukon First Nations activism	67
ľ	New funding arrangements	69
A	Accountability policy at the federal level	72
I	DIA's reporting requirements	75
I	DIA principles of accountability	77
I	Differing perceptions	81
ł	Resource management	83
(Continuing paternalism	86

Chapter 7: Effects of government influence on Vuntut Gwitchin structures and systems	88	
Changing economy in Old Crow	89	
Schooling	91	
Loss of language, loss of identity	92	
First Nation organization	95	
Problems with elected system of government	9 7	
Self-government	98	
Outside expertise	99	
Resource management	101	
Unintended consequences	102	
Chapter 8: Attitudes, actions and thoughts of today – federal and territorial governments		
Lack of accountability	105	
Local DIA	107	
Audits	109	
Value for money	110	
Difference in perceptions	111	
Accountability in self-government	113	
Still the old DIA	114	
Chapter 9: Attitudes, actions and thoughts of today – The Vuntut Gwitchin		
Overarching spiritual accountability	116	
Accountability and resource management	. 117	
Accountability mechanisms	. 121	

Structural accountability within the community	122
Accountability of Chief and Council	123
Financial statements	125
Budgeting process	126
Structural accountability	127
Socializing accountability	129
Accountability process in the housing department	130
Accountability as a balance	133
Citizens' perspectives of accountability	134
A blending of forms	137
Chapter 10: Foundations of a new model	140
Housing Department framework	142
Chapter 11: Present and future studies	
Current study	149
There is congruence	151
Meaning of accountability to participants today	152
Movement towards a new framework	153
A mix of values and forms	154
A holistic approach	156
A workable balance	157
Future studies	159
References	160
Appendix A A summary of fieldwork	173

Appendix B	Interviews	180
Appendix C	Sample Housing Report	182
Appendix D	Example Database Inputs and Red Flags	183

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.	Forms of Accountability	141
-----------	-------------------------	-----

Chapter 1: Introduction

Accountability is linked to the source of an authority, and can be thought of as enforcing or explaining responsibility, and its practice is linked to a judgment about an office holder's action. It involves rendering an account to someone on how responsibilities are fulfilled, on actions taken to correct problems and to ensure they do not recur. (Privy Council Office, 2003:3)

Indigenous accountability takes many forms. Accountability to our respective creators, and to the universe, the earth, the lands, waters, air and natural resources, both renewable and non-renewable. Accountability to our ancestors, histories, societies, cultures, spirituality, belief systems, customary lifeways, communities, extended families and families. We are even now accountable to the superimposed laws of the current governments and their regimes, their police forces, courts, military and financial systems. For me, accountability equals maintenance - as indigenous peoples we must maintain all that is important to us. (Happynook, 2001:1)

Accountability is a concept defined in the eye of the beholder. The two

explanations above demonstrate two very different ways in which the term is envisioned in the lenses of representatives of two different sectors of modern Canadian society: an elected federal government and Indigenous¹ peoples. The first is taken from an official publication of the Office of the Privy Council of Canada, the second from a publication by a First Nation scholar and leader from British Columbia. A problem arises when there is an intersection of groups who identify with each of those meanings, and there is a lack of cross-understanding and cross-matching of what the term "accountability" represents to each party.

¹ Throughout the paper, I use the terms 'Indigenous". "Aboriginal". "First Nations", and "Native" at various times. *The Constitution Act. 1982* identifies "Aboriginal Peoples of Canada" as "Indian, Inuit and Metis peoples of Canada" (S35.2). Prior to World War II, people who were legally "status Indians" were referred to as Indians or Natives in Canada: they are now commonly referred to as "First Nations". For the purpose of this paper I use the terms Indigenous, Aboriginal, and Native in a collective sense, referring to the people under the constitutional definition of "Aboriginal". I use the term "Indian" when the reference relates to a period in time when that was the common nomenclature, and I use the term "First Nation" generally when I am referring to the more recent context.

The First Nations/Canadian federal government relationship exemplifies such a scenario. The Canadian federal government system has historically consisted mainly of the authoritative, hierarchical process of "rendering an account" through numerical reports. It is based on an ideology of the self-interested nature of humans, inequality among all things, and a high regard for material wealth and power. First Nations historically had no conscious, formal "form" of accountability. However, there existed what may be described in western terms as inherent forms of a spiritual and social nature. These were founded on an ideology of respect, equality and mutual interdependence among all things.

Historically, government forms of accountability were imposed upon First Nations. Numerous studies, reports and scholarly writings by a broad spectrum of public committees, individual Native leaders, and interested anthropologists explain problems that have resulted:

> The fact is that internal divisions among native communities between elected band councils and chiefs, their supporters on the one hand, and other groups more insistent on traditional forms of aboriginal authority and political process on the other, are decades old; they stem directly from the subordination of indigenous peoples to the Canadian state and its imposition of a whitestream system of government, against aboriginal systems. (Denis, 1997:29);

...in general, First Nations are often co-opted into accepting, or simply appropriate with few or no other choices, non-Aboriginal models of governing and administrative authorities...thus...non-Aboriginal models and concepts dominate the policy and reform agenda in ways that are not always in the best interests of First Nations, their communities and their organizations. (Depew, 1994:28)

Our central conclusion can be summarized simply: The main policy direction, pursued for more than 150 years, first by colonial then by Canadian governments, has been wrong. (RCAP, 1996)

Conflicts have been manifest in interactions both between the federal government and First Nations and between First Nation citizens and their own Chiefs and Councils. At the local level, there are numerous examples of court cases in which members of First Nations have demanded more say in council decisions and more "accountability" from their leadership in their own communities (e.g., Samson Cree Nation, 1998; Vrsnik, 1999; Veale, 2002). First Nations are also demanding that the federal government be accountable in its own terms to them (Samson Cree, 1998). In turn, the federal government has in recent years demanded more reports and accountability assessments from First Nations (Auditor-General, 1997). But in a study of accountability in First Nations communities conducted by the Office of the Auditor General of Canada in 1996, participants generally felt that programs designed by government do not necessarily reflect the needs of the community. They also felt that the federally imposed accountability regime requires information that is of limited value to them and does not enhance accountability between Chief and Council and community members (Auditor-General, 1996).

The existence of incompatibilities and differences between federal government and First Nations ideologies is not new. It is consistent with imperial and colonial forms that have been the subject of anthropologists' studies for years. Researchers have shown how patterns of social, spiritual and economic systems and relationships are decided by, or at least interpreted by, very different orders of meaning and value across those forms. Researchers say that within an asymmetrical system where the hegemony² of the dominant imperial power prevails, at least some of the practices and modes of

 $^{^{2}}$ Hegemony is taken to mean the taken-for-granted, that is, the consciousness and representation that appear reasonable and credible in a society or community, as described by Comaroff and Comaroff (1991:19).

consciousness of the indigenous culture escape domination and maintain their integrity (Ortner, 1984). And even though a dominant society subordinates the values and systems of another society, it does not necessarily mean that the latter are not valuable and useful in their own right.

Sahlins (1994) suggests that change is now occurring in many colonized societies as previously dominated groups acquire more power and create new "hegemonies" that are based on traditional concepts and beliefs of their own. To him, "the cultural selfconsciousness developing among imperialism's erstwhile victims is one of the more remarkable phenomena of world history in the later 20th century." (Sahlins, 1994:378). In Canada, Aboriginal scholars and leaders are calling their people to recover a cultural identity that is grounded in traditional principles and teachings, to reinvigorate values and principles upon which those teachings were based, and to apply them where appropriate in contemporary circumstances (Alfred, 1999).

The particular community that is the focus of my research is the Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation (VGFN) of Old Crow, Yukon. People of this First Nation have expressed a desire to develop new systems and. in particular, processes of accountability that are more consistent with their own traditional values and priorities. In 2003, VGFN Chief and Council approached a Whitehorse consulting firm and asked them to propose recommendations relating to accountability systems and measures or indicators that might help the First Nation to evaluate how "successful" their system of self-governance is in their own terms. VGFN is a "fourth world" community in that it will not gain economic or political independence from the Canadian nation-state in the near future, if ever. Nevertheless, it hopes to combine techniques and ideals of the dominant culture with those of its own, to create a "cultural space" within Canada that is more appropriate and acceptable to its own cultural traditions and history. Marshall Sahlins calls it: "jiving to the world beat while making their own music" (Sahlins, 1994:389). I was invited to work with the consulting firm and the First Nation to develop such a new framework of accountability.

"Accountability"

In considering the concept of "accountability", I take the position that it comprises an ideology, in that it is concerned with what Eagleton (1991:28) describes as "affective, unconscious signs, meanings, and values that are encoded in practices and relations that bind particular individuals or groups in a social reality". In this sense, forms of accountability in different cultures represent different meanings and values, both conscious and unconscious, and are represented by different signs and practices. A stream of accounting research has identified several "forms" of accountability that exist in different historical and cultural contexts. These forms give rise to different manifestations of particular ideologies: different relationships, different discourses or modes of communication, different mechanisms in terms of techniques, structures, systems, and activities, and so on.

Three forms that have been identified in accounting literature are a "hierarchizing" or "hierarchical" form, a "socializing" form, and a "sacred" or "spiritual" form. The hierarchical form is typically grounded in formal, structured rules and procedures and involves asymmetrical relationships where a subordinate reports to a superior. The socializing form of accountability is less structured, and while it may be ultimately strategic, it is carried out through informal communication among peers. It involves mutual interdependence and a sharing of meanings and understandings. The third, spiritual form represents a moral or ethical relationship between an individual or community and a "higher principal", whether it be a God, one's own conscience, the land, future generations, or another inanimate concept, to which accountability provides comfort and guidance, and ultimately, survival. Each of the three forms exist to some degree within both the federal government and the First Nation, and it is the extent and manifestation of such existence in each, and the potential for a blending of such forms under one framework, that I investigate in this paper.

Throughout the paper, I describe meanings of "accountability" in the language of critical accountability theorists of the western world. The term "accountability", as I will show, seems to be far removed from traditional First Nation culture and First Nation language. But it is the fact that "accountability" in the western perspective is not a familiar traditional First Nation concept that is the root of the problem. The expectation and assumption on the part of the federal government that the concept employed by its own officials and representatives is, or should be, familiar to First Nations has created confusion and misunderstandings in the accountability process. My objective in this study is to investigate similarities and differences in meanings of "accountability" in the two different cultural contexts, with a view to bridging the gap across misunderstandings in my own terms; however, I contend that considering federal government policies, practices and ideologies and those of a particular First Nation in relative, common terms will lead to invaluable practical and theoretical insights and applications.

Importance of the study

Theoretical

The study is important both theoretically and practically. On the theoretical side, accountability literature has identified problems with the interaction and coexistence of different forms of accountability in one organizational setting. For example, Roberts (1991:355) describes hierarchical and socializing forms as being "constructed around an untenable and destructive split of ethical and strategic concerns to the detriment of both". He later illustrates this by considering the diverging interests of board members pursuing financial objectives of wealth maximization while at the same time concerning themselves with broader social and ethical corporate responsibilities (Roberts, 2001). Collier (2004) identifies a "space" between the calculative hierarchical system of accountability and the sense making narration of social accountability. Laughlin (1990) looks at finances in terms of different relationships within the Church of England. He concludes that there is a spiritual aspect that makes demands for increased financial accountability "inappropriate in a sacred and secular context and to an extent, largely impossible" (p.112). He notes that congregational members "are reluctant to call for greater accountability from their clergy and parish leaders more generally – somehow this is deemed unspiritual and inappropriate" (p.113). Other authors call for broadening the conceptualization of accountability to include priorities, values and assumptions of "other" aspects of the environment and societies (Chwastiak, 1999; Chew & Greer, 1997).

I advance the theoretical perspective by investigating how the three forms can actually coexist, complement, and supplement one another and by developing a new 7

model of accountability that combines the three forms into an interconnected hybrid. It brings into account cultural and historical assumptions of both the federal government and the First Nation, and draws on the strengths of each. It gives recognition and voice to the "other", in this case a particular First Nation, and to the values, assumptions and ideologies that characterize that "other". In so doing, the study answers the call from numerous accounting researchers for "emancipation" of accounting processes and a "liberation of spiritual values into the accounting and accountability context" (Chua, 1996; Chua, 1998; Gallhofer & Haslam, 1997; Gallhofer & Chew, 2000; Gallhofer & Haslam, 2004).

Practical

From a practical perspective, the study addresses the many reports written by the Auditor-General's Office, Aboriginal leaders, and other scholars regarding the apparent incompatibility of federal government expectations of accountability and the values and priorities of a First Nation. It also answers the call from within VGFN to develop a new model that reflects its own values and principles. The study articulates similarities and differences between the federal government expectations of accountability and the meanings of the term among VGFN citizens. As an example, mechanisms of accountability predicated upon the government's economic model and ideologies have been imposed upon VGFN even in its own self-governance model. The Land Claims agreement includes references to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles and Generally Accepted Accounting Standards and "accountability" enacted by these principles (VGFNFA, 1993). The presumption embedded in the agreement is that these

principles and standards, and the ideologies that lie beneath them, are "generally accepted" and understood on a consistent basis across all parties, including the First Nation. I will show that this is not the case – in fact ideologies underlying the government economic model and VGFN historical practices and systems vary in many ways. Through an understanding of the respective ideologies, a new model may be developed that is meaningful and workable for all concerned.

I am not in a position to speak or act on behalf of the First Nation so my study comprises a collaborative process in which I bring together local knowledge, historical consciousness, and everyday experiences of those affected, along with my own technical procedural skills and my comparative knowledge of management and accountability issues.

Paper organization

The paper is organized in a manner that is intended first to demonstrate the depths of the ideologies underlying both the federal government and First Nation meanings of accountability; second, to show elements of federal government influences on the Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation with regard to accountability processes and expectations; and then, to reflect on currently held meanings, opinions and suggestions as to the present effectiveness of the status quo. From there, a new framework is developed.

Chapter 2 provides a review of relevant streams of accounting literature in order to provide a background of forms and ideologies of accountability on which my study is based. These include the "possibilities" of different forms of accountability in different historical and cultural contexts, and the concept of accountability to an "other" entity that may not share the same underlying values and assumptions as the principal in the relationship. In Chapter 3, I discuss the methodologies used in the study. These include a review of historical records, interpretations of ethnographers of the area, stories of elders, as well as interviews and interaction with affected parties.

The next four chapters provide a brief review of the evolution of forms of accountability and corresponding underlying ideology within the federal government and the Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation, and changes in attitudes and processes that have taken place over time. Chapters 4 and 5 address the federal government and First Nation histories, respectively, until World War II, when federal government policies first began to significantly affect the Vuntut Gwitchin. Prior to that time, federal Indian policies had been established mainly through the Indian Act, but the isolation of the Old Crow region precluded much direct involvement by the federal government agents with the First Nation. However, through the fur trade, missionary influence, and the gold rush, many aspects of EuroCanadian culture, including, among other things, various material commodities, did become important elements in the lives of the Vuntut Gwitchin.

Changes in policies, structures, and systems of the federal government and VGFN from the late 1940s until the present are described in chapters 6 and 7, respectively. During this period, the First Nation shifted from living a primarily subsistence lifestyle in which mutual interdependence and accountability to the land and future generations were key to their survival, to one of significant economic dependence on the state and subordination in terms of control over social, economic, and political systems and structures. Finally, in the 1990s, the First Nation became a self-governing community struggling to establish systems that reflected its own cultural identity. The influence of

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

the federal government through welfare payments and the introduction of western organizations and institutions suppressed many "traditional" values and it reduced the importance of previously inherent socializing and spiritual forms of accountability in the community. Yet, I will show that those forms of accountability and their underlying ideologies have not necessarily been replaced by corresponding forms and ideology of the nation-state. Rather, a conglomeration of systems, structures, and relationships that are not fully understood by anyone has resulted.

In chapter 8, the current status of forms of accountability relating to the First Nation is discussed from the perspective of federal government representatives, along with the understanding of the term "accountability" of those representatives. The corresponding perspectives of citizens of VGFN are discussed in Chapter 9. Both chapters are based on my own observations from time in the VGFN office and on interviews that I conducted in the summer of 2003 and fall of 2004 with various individuals in Whitehorse, Yukon and Old Crow. They highlight the continuing difference and distance that exist between federal government policies and attitudes and First Nation attitudes and understandings of the same policies.

In Chapter 10 of the dissertation, I present a framework of accountability for the First Nation, with specific detail relating to the area of Housing. The framework proposes a fit between the ideologies and expressed desires of the Vuntut Gwitchin and the realities of the context of systems and structures in which they exist. It is an articulation and demonstration of the importance of what may be considered more "traditional" First Nation forms of accountability and their ability to interact and interplay with what are seen as "western" or "mainstream" hierarchical forms. My hope is that the

11

framework may be projected to other First Nations and applied in their own contexts in the future. Chapter 11 provides a summary of the study and prospects for other areas of research that it might inspire.

Chapter 2: Accountability Theory

Several streams of accounting research relate to accountability. One stream considers sources of accountability and the relative strength of accountability pressures from those sources (Gibbins & Newton, 1994). It investigates the complexities of being held accountable to more than one principal, particularly if the principals have conflicting interest and expectations (Schlenker & Weigold, 1992; Gibbins & Newton, 1992; Carnaghan, Gibbins & Ikaneimo, 1996). Several authors discuss the implications for decision-making of being accountable to one's self as well as to a group of which an individual is a member (Garfinkel, 1967; Schlenker & Weingold, 1992; Cummings & Anton, 1990). More specifically relevant to this study, another stream of research has identified the existence of different "forms" of accountability that vary depending on historical and cultural contexts (Roberts, 1991; Roberts, 1996; Laughlin, 1996; Willmott, 1996). Yet another area of research concerns accountability as it relates to Aboriginal values and traditional relationships, particularly as they compare to European-derived "western" values (Jacobs, 2000; Chew & Greer, 1997; Gibson, 2000; Hines, 1992). In a Canadian context, Neu (2000) and Neu & Therrien (2003) examine the role of accounting and accountability in the denigration and suppression of Aboriginal peoples by the federal government. In this study, I focus on "forms" of accountability, and particularly as they relate to an Aboriginal context.

"Forms" of accountability

Two "forms" of accountability have been described by Roberts (1991) as "hierarchical" and "socializing". Hierarchical accountability is associated with formal,

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

structured mechanisms and procedures that normally include accounting information: financial reports and audits thereof, reporting systems from subordinates to their superiors, and monitoring and control protocols. It is based on numerically calculated conformity to predetermined standards and to the expectations of others. By contrast, socializing accountability involves informal, largely unstructured forms of communication among peers trying to acquire common understandings and reciprocal recognition. Laughlin (1990) introduces what I see as a third form, that of the "sacred" or "spiritual", which he later describes as an accountability to "higher principals", such as the teachings of a God or other Creator, or unwritten moral codes (Laughlin, 1996). The literature suggests that the three forms may be relevant and manifest in different contexts and different accountability relationships within one organization. I explain each of these in more detail below.

"Mainstream" form of accountability

A dominant form in western "mainstream" organizations is identified as the hierarchical form, which is underpinned by agency theory (Chwastiak, 1999). According to agency theory, a principal transfers responsibilities or resources to an agent or subordinate, and in return expects a specific action or, at the least, an explanation of the agent's actions and activities. Agency theory is premised on the view of human nature as self-interested and opportunistic. Because of the potential for agents to maximize their own self-interest rather than that of their principal, "accountability", considered in this context to be the obligation to provide an "account", is a necessary constraint on them (Roberts, 2001:1549).

14

The identification of the hierarchical as a "mainstream" form of accountability has given rise to questions regarding the generalizable "adequacy" of the theory upon which it is typically based (Shearer, 2002). The argument is that the values, assumptions, and expectations embedded within the hierarchical accountability relationships are constructed by a dominant party and imposed upon an "other", over whom it may exercise power. Schweiker (1993) and Chwastiak (1999) argue that the imposition of unfamiliar values and expectations is "unethical", while Chew & Greer (1997:293) suggest that where the "other" is a subordinated indigenous culture, ethnocide may result. In Canada, imposition of such dominant values and assumptions has been made by the nation-state upon its Aboriginal peoples (Neu & Therrien, 2003). It is the ramifications and manifestations of that imposition in terms of accountability that this study investigates.

Hierarchical accountability

Roberts (1991) argues that accountability is a way of constituting individual identity and self-esteem. In a hierarchical form of accountability, he claims that identity is dependent on achieving predetermined standards of expected utility, financial budgets, time deadlines, and the like, and on "visibly" meeting expectations of others. According to Roberts (1991:359), the hierarchical form is individualizing, in that people become preoccupied with an "absorption with self, with how one will be seen", particularly in comparison to others. It is "hierarchizing" in that:

the individualized self can aspire to ever more complete autonomy and each level of the hierarchy apparently offers a move towards this; position in the hierarchy serving as an objective confirmation of relative value and worth (Roberts, 1991:360). Hierarchical accountability in this sense is thus based on values that extol the virtues of unequal relationships and differential authority, and the quest of individuals to achieve ever higher levels of authority.

The formality of procedures and mechanisms within the hierarchical form of accountability and the accounting information embedded within it are able to, in part, resolve problems of divergent interests and distrust that occur in cases of distance, physically as well as across hierarchical levels. In fact, Laughlin (1996) contends that contractual, hierarchical forms are generally associated with situations in which there are low levels of trust and high potential for value conflicts between the parties.

Roberts (1991) suggests that dominance and distrust that are directed towards distant and subordinate parties often come to inhabit and shape local contexts of interaction. As subordinate agents try to conform to the dominant party's expectations, because of either the fear of possible sanctions or the lure of incentives, not only can effective coordination of action be lost, but an individual or community's own sense of values may also be subordinated. Panozzo (1996), in studying the effects of surveillance and control on subordinates, observed that hierarchical accountability systems may undermine and potentially destroy community identities and relationships within communities. As Roberts & Scapens (1985) note, if the relationship is asymmetrical in the first place, hierarchical processes will perpetuate a system of dominance. In a Canadian example, Neu (2000) and Neu & Therrien (2003) explain how the accounting systems and standards of the federal government in Ottawa have played a role in facilitating and perpetuating dominance and control over Aboriginal people all across Canada. It is not the process of subordination that is at issue in this study; rather, it is the extent to which it has occurred in a First Nation accountability context, and whether or not the systems of accountability that have resulted from the dominance are appropriate today.

Socializing accountability

The second form of accountability that Roberts (1991) identifies is "socializing accountability, the social process of "making sense of what is going on" (p.362). This form occurs through "mutual engagement and reciprocal recognition" (Roberts, 1991:362). In other words, where hierarchical accountability entails meeting the predetermined expectations of a superior, socializing accountability rests on mutual interdependence and an obligation to achieve mutual understandings and objectives through interaction among equals. Roberts (1991; 1996) says socializing accountability is generally based on a context in which there is a relative absence of asymmetries of power, and it occurs in a structure which allows face-to-face contact and negotiation. It may be manifested through Sinclair's (1995) "personal meaning", which she describes as being "confidential and anecdotal" (p.224). It is similar to Arrington & Francis' (1993) hermeneutical approach to accountability, in which understanding emerges through discursive practices. In their view, the reasonableness of action is "revealed" through the activity of "giving an account". That is, a person's "accountability" is reflected in the "intentions, motives, passions, and purposes" of the way he or she explains him or her self (Arrington & Francis, 1993:122). It involves interpretation and understanding of the language of communication by the "discursive participants". With such understanding,

the reasonableness or fairness of actions may be assessed in common terms. There is an underlying element of trust and respect in socializing accountability that enables the process.

Jonsson (1996) finds that trust within a group allows members to act without hierarchical control. He says that trust reduces complexity because it lessens the requirement to identify and control every and any potential action. In an economic environment, for example, "keeping each other accountable, giving accounts in the form of stories, and trusting, can reduce the use of accounting information to productive proportions." (Jonsson, 1996:104). Roberts (2001:1567) contends that over time, faceto-face interaction can produce complex relationships of respect, trust and felt reciprocal obligation that far exceed the purely instrumental orientation to action that agency theory assumes. He feels that hierarchy inhibits talk and thus socializing accountability in that it ranks an individual's relative value and the relative worth of her or his opinions. Social relationships, on the other hand, can draw individuals "into a much deeper form of mutual engagement and reciprocal recognition than a calculated conformity with others' wishes can ever secure" (Roberts, 1991:362).

Spiritual accountability

Laughlin (1988,1990) considers "spiritual" or "sacred" aspects of accounting and accountability. He investigates a series of complex relationships within the Church of England, where accountabilities range from being "sacred" in nature to "secular" or "profane". His example of sacred accountability occurs between parishioners and the parish, where the expectation of the congregation is that the Church will provide spiritual

18

comfort and guidance. It is based on an inherent understanding by parishioners of their relationship with their own form of spiritual or sacred entity. While there may be a form of socializing accountability at play among parishioners, the spiritual, according to Laughlin (1988), guides their behaviour, towards one another, towards the environment surrounding them, and so on. Standards or expectations of behaviour in this type of accountability are in the form of informal, unwritten codes of moral and ethical conduct. Subsequent reckoning is through personal confessionals, sanctions induced by one's own conscience or spiritual occurrences, as well as by the approval or disdain of others in the congregation.

Laughlin (1990) notes that there can exist within one organization a range of different accountability relationships that are based on different degrees of prominence of sacred and secular values and ideologies. In its relationship with the congregation, for example, the parish's accountability is to ensure that the sacred is protected, and any matters of finance that may crop up create minimal interference. But within the same Church, there is a relationship between the governing body of the Church, the Commissioners, and the Directors or Central Board which is of a contractual or hierarchical form, one which is typically dominated by formal, accounting-type information flows, budgets, and financial reports.

Laughlin (1990) finds that the internal dynamics manifest in the different relationships create problems: they make "demands for greater accountability of diocese possible, questionable for the Church Commissioners, improbable for the Central Board and impossible for the parishes" (Laughlin, 1990:112). But he confines his analysis only to the effects and relevance of financial accountability. By considering relationships in a broader sense, that is, in terms of social, spiritual, environmental, and other relevance, and by understanding the interconnections among them, it may be possible to achieve such "greater accountability". Financial accountability need not necessarily be mutually exclusive of spiritual or social forms of accountability.

In a slightly different vein, several recent research papers have addressed accounting and its relationship to the spiritual (Lehman, 2004; McKernan & McLullich, 2004) and reflections of accounting and order in spiritual environments (Ezzamel, forthcoming; Jacobs & Walker, 2004). The first authors lament the loss of spiritual values of honesty and integrity in financial reporting and accounting regulations through a utilitarian emphasis on right and wrong. The latter authors investigate the use of accounting numbers in the constitution of order in social and spiritual contexts. I take a slightly different approach from both. I am not concerned with the relationship between accounting numbers or order and the spiritual. I consider spiritual accountability as a code of conduct and way of life that guides people to act in a manner that allows them to live with their conscience and with a balance in their lives. It is not necessarily directly related to any utilitarian form of accounting, nor need it be. I take the view that spiritual accountability, as a phenomenon in itself, may coexist with, and enhance other more instrumental forms of accountability.

Multiple forms of accountability

Roberts (1991) submits that a combination of the two forms that he identifies, socializing and hierarchical accountability, represents the ideal. While they may seem independent of each other, they can in fact complement and supplement one another.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Within an organizational context, informal forms of social accountability, for example, can do much to enhance and secure a routine sort of interdependence. At the same time, hierarchical forms offer some protection from favouritism, nepotism, local collusion or abuse of unsurveilled power that can occur within the informal. But while the two forms may be interwoven and in a practical sense dependent upon each other, Roberts (1991) finds that their coexistence can be problematic in many organizations. A commitment to hierarchical structure and obligations and the individual self interest that it entails, for example, can threaten informal loyalties. Conversely, informal loyalties and solidarity among colleagues can undermine and subvert functional responsibilities.

In a later study, however, Roberts (2001) advocates attempting to balance the two forms. He suggests that socializing accountability can have both strategic and moral dimensions: it can address both practical, instrumental procedures and decisions and at the same time fulfill moral considerations within an accountability relationship. I add the third, spiritual dimension to the mix. I show that in some contexts, such as traditional First Nations, cultural values of egalitarianism and reciprocal dependencies underpin a form of social accountability. At the same time, a spiritual relationship among individuals, communities and the natural world which affects many of their actions and decisions is evident. A practical balance of the three forms across relationships within the VGFN context today is the ideal that this dissertation works towards.

Different understandings of accountability

A significant problem with achieving a balance of forms of accountability is that there is often a lack of mutual understanding between parties to the relationship of

21

expectations and assumptions. In "mainstream" western contexts, for example, spiritual and socializing forms of accountability, as I show in this study, are not given the legitimacy that they often warrant. At the same time, in the asymmetrical agency theory model, the terms of understanding of accounts are imposed by the superior: the principal expects certain actions of the agent without consideration of whether or not those expectations have the same meaning to the agent (Roberts & Scapens, 1985).

Similarly, Shearer (2002) argues that the principal defines the scope of the relationship in its own terms, and in so doing, denies any difference between itself and those to whom it is accountable. It presumes an equality, or at least a consistency, between parties to the relationship, in terms of expectations, values, and assumptions. And since those terms in the agency theory model are purely of an economic nature, the principal fails to consider any social or environmental concerns of the "other".

While Shearer (2002) raises the important issue of considering broader terms of accountability, she does not connect it to the existence or use of different forms of accountability identified by Roberts (1991) and Laughlin (1990). She focuses on enhancing social "accounting" as a conduit to "discharging" the accountability of an entity with regard to a broader community. As an example, social accounting for a particular organization would take the form of a numerical record of pollution emissions, usually with a value attached thereto. Sanctions for excessive emissions would be rendered by way of fines. The process represents a hierarchical form of accountability to the public for the company's environmental activities.

Socializing and spiritual forms of accountability, by contrast, are processes that encompass social controls and moral codes of conduct through mutual understandings of expectations and values. Such forms relating to pollution would involve informal communication and sanctions of a social or spiritual nature. Moral and ethical codes, based on respect for the environment and potential social sanctions such as boycotts, would increase the desire to curb pollution more than the imposition of monetary controls on units of hazardous output.

Chwastiak (1999: 426) addresses the need for understanding non-economic ideologies in accountability relationships with the "other" as she decries how the principal-agent theorists':

perpetual habit of viewing human beings solely in terms of economic potential diminishes the value of humanity itself, which can only be enriched by such non-material life affirming qualities as compassion, respect for difference and our shared future.

She uses the example that, "a forest should be appreciated for its role in replenishing the soil, water and air essential for the reproduction of life, not because it provides the raw material needed to sustain our current materialistic culture" (Chwastiak, 1999:438). Thus, she says, accountability should take a form that ensures an appreciation of the forest for all of those reasons, not just in terms of its economic value and efficient use. In this study, I show that an ideology reflecting such a broader appreciation underpins much of the Vuntut Gwitchin way of life and local forms of accountability. It is this aspect that will be considered in the new framework of accountability for the First Nation developed in Chapter 10.

My approach answers calls to go "beyond accounting" in the conventional sense.

Gallhofer & Haslam (2004) suggest that:

..accounting can reflect values other than the material and capitalistic, can concern itself with the intangible, the non-measurable, go beyond science, put emphasis on community and respect our guardianship over the environment. Accounting might also be able to better reflect the whole person, including the spiritual dimension. It can allow a range of voices to emerge that indicate various dimensions of the spiritual in this way helping to constitute or enhance the spiritual. Relatedly, there is a need to go beyond the conventional form of accounting if these new values and emphases are to be communicated appropriately. The usage of various forms of narrative – for instance, interviews, oral histories, self-reflection and conversations – ought to be considered. Alternative media to the published annual report can be experimented with or explored in a way consistent with having spirituality integral to accounting.

Indigenous accountability

Accountability literature has not been limited to a study of European traditions. Several Australasian studies (Jacobs, 2000; Chew & Greer, 1997; Greer & Patel, 2000; Gibson, 2000) examine Aboriginal values and traditional relationships in Australian and New Zealand. They identify culture differences and incompatibilities between indigenous Aboriginal values and western values that are implicit in the accounting and accountability structures and systems that have been imposed upon them by their imperial governments. Greer & Patel (2000), for example, draw on the characterizations of Hines (1992) and contrast the "yang" values of objectivity, quantification, and efficiency that underlie western systems with core indigenous "yin" values of sharing, relatedness, and kinship obligations. In this dissertation, I look at similar differences and incompatibilities in a Canadian context, and I address problems that may arise from them, and develop steps towards a solution.

Neu & Therrien (2003), have investigated the effects of federal accounting and accountability practices on Aboriginal peoples in Canada. They address the direct effects of federal practices on Aboriginal culture and livelihood, and suggest that accountability is a two-way street: government is accountable to the people, just as First Nations are accountable to the government. As an example, Neu & Therrien (2003) discuss the lack

of accountability to Aboriginal peoples implicit in poor regulation of environmental controls: they observe that the resulting "ecocide" directly affects Aboriginal peoples in that their livelihood depends upon the land and its resources. My approach is somewhat different. I consider to what extent government accounting and accountability processes have been imposed and adapted into the internal fabric of a First Nation. At the same time, I investigate the extent to which the integrity of the First Nation's own systems has been maintained, and look to a way of incorporating them into a new framework of accountability.

Accountability vis-à-vis VGFN

I consider the use and the legitimacy afforded all three forms of accountability, hierarchical, socializing, and spiritual, in the context of VGFN. I relate ideologies underlying such forms to practical manifestations in VGFN and in the Department of Indian Affairs (DIA)³, the department of the federal government with which the First Nation primarily interacts. I include aspects of the Yukon Territorial Government in relation to wildlife management, over which it has jurisdiction.

In the hierarchical organizational context that Roberts (1991) describes, human nature is theorized to be motivated by self-interest and opportunistic behaviour. In an environment of egalitarianism and communal survival where the human world is embedded within the natural world, self-interest is entwined with communal interest. Competition and opportunism may exist, but they are not the driving force of human nature within the general ideology. Rather, the framework of obligations is based on

³ For simplicity, I have referred to the government department responsible for Aboriginal affairs as the Department of Indian Affairs (DIA) throughout the paper, although the departmental location of the governance of Aboriginal peoples and name of the department has changed many times over the years.
mutual respect, trust, and shared values. Socializing accountability, as a form of mutual interdependence, mutual understanding, and reciprocal obligations, is the norm. Egalitarianism is rare in contexts such as Roberts describes, but it is typical in First Nations such as VGFN.

In the complex structure of the Vuntut Gwitchin world, a similar range of relationships to those in the Church of England exists. There is, for example, a relationship between the citizens of the First Nation and the Chief and Council, which is of what Laughlin (1990) would describe as mainly sacred or spiritual in nature: it entails a sense of mutual accountability to maintain and sustain the gifts of the Creator, the resources, and the well being of the community. At the same time, there is a secular or contractual relationship, for example, between funding government bodies and Chief and Council, the local administrative custodians in charge of allocating the funds. Just as Laughlin (1990:111) describes in his study, the distinction between the communal and contractual and between the informal and formal within VGFN are rather fuzzy in the "untidy dynamics" of organizational life. By articulating specific relationships and forms of accountability within VGFN and the federal government, and between the two, I am able to clarify some of those dynamics and develop an overall framework of accountability that considers their differing ideologies, values and assumptions. I show that rather than being counterproductive, the different forms may work together to create a framework that is more meaningful and more understandable to all parties concerned.

I agree with Laughlin's (1996) point that it is important that the dictates of "higher principals" such as the sacred and spiritual do not preclude accountability in the sense of providing "accounts". No one form of accountability, and no one entity to which one may feel accountable, is mutually exclusive of any other. Thus, while Aboriginal peoples may feel accountable to the Creator on one level, for example, on another there is still a responsibility to account for monies spent: economics are an integral part of the life of the Vuntut Gwitchin today, as are continuing relationships "at a distance" with the federal government. An Aboriginal ideology of accountability, as described in the quote by Happynook (2001) in the introduction of this paper, includes a wide variety of forms. It is achieving a workable balance of forms, as Sinclair (1995) suggests, that is at issue in this study.

Roberts (1991:365) comments that social forms of accountability may "temper the pursuit of strategic objectives with ethical concerns", and he feels that in practice they could only work in local contexts. But in those local contexts, he claims, they "are repeatedly subordinated to systems of hierarchical accountability sustained through the sanctions of power and money" (p.365). In VGFN, the organizational structure of the society was not historically hierarchical, but today it finds itself in a hierarchical relationship with the federal government and with federally-derived systems that were designed on the basis of a hierarchical structure.

In this study, I investigate to what extent elements of the ideology within traditional structures and systems have been retained by citizens within VGFN, and to what extent the hierarchical systems are accepted and deemed appropriate in today's context.

Chapter 3: Methodology

In learning about the Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation and the federal government Department of Indian Affairs, past and present, and developing a model of accountability, I have drawn on many resources. The methodology in this study includes: 1) reviews of: historical documents of fur traders, missionaries, and government agents in the area of Old Crow; ethnographies written by anthropologists and other scholars of Native studies who have lived in the Old Crow area; translations of stories told by local Vuntut Gwitchin citizens; various federal and territorial government reports and legislation relating to First Nations accountability, particularly those of the Department of Indian Affairs and the Auditor-General for Canada; and, agreements between federal, territorial and Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation governments relating to funding, resource management, and self-governance; 2) interviews with federal government and VGFN representatives as detailed in Appendix B; and 3) recollections from work I did with Yukon First Nations as a Chartered Accountant in the 1980s, as well as observations from visits I made to Old Crow in the summer of 2003 and the fall of 2004, as described in Appendix A. My focus in the paper is "accountability", so in each case I have targeted information that relates to that area.

My interviews⁴ were conducted with a view to helping identify aspects of accountability that are, and are not, useful and meaningful to the participants, and to identify meanings of accountability that could be incorporated into an accountability framework today. This methodology represents a form of action research in that it allows

⁴ Following research protocol, prior to starting my fieldwork. I obtained ethics approvals from the University of Alberta Faculty of Business and from VGFN. At the beginning of each interview, I explained my project to the participants and had them read and sign the Participant Information and Consent form approved in the University of Alberta proposal.

one, as researcher, to learn about the real world situation being studied while simultaneously trying to improve it (Checkland & Scholes, 1990). Assuming, as action research does, that problems such as a perceived lack of accountability is itself a social construct, effective solutions may only be developed after the context surrounding and embodying the issue is well understood. There are many different stakeholders in the VGFN situation: various departments of the federal and territorial governments, Chief and Council, VGFN citizens both resident in Old Crow and non-resident, the natural resources. And, there are long histories of differing cultures and ideologies among them. A significant purpose of this study is to enable an understanding among the stakeholders of those differences and of the historical contexts from which they arose. In a survey of this type of action research, 87% of the respondents indicated that the primary purpose of the research was to develop understanding rather than to bring about change (Mingers & Taylor, 1992). Although I hope to accomplish more, if such an understanding is the extent of what comes out of my work, it will be a huge step forward for the community, and I will feel that I have accomplished something.

Some of the methodological issues that typically arise with the type of research in this study relate to: my acceptance by the community as a researcher, particularly given the short period of time I spent in the field; the interpretation of documents and interviews; and, the issue of power and power inequalities among participants. I will address each of these separately.

My acceptance by the community

During my years working as an auditor in three different Yukon First Nations in the 1980s, I took my small child with me and as I worked, he played with any children that may be in a particular Band office. While I do not remember any overt comments, his presence was clearly acceptable and in fact, I felt, enabled a considerable level of comfort between me and the people in the offices. Over the years, I came to feel very comfortable entering First Nation communities generally and found I was being asked to do more and more work in various First Nation organizations prior to moving away from the territory.

I went to Old Crow, then, with some familiarity of working with and within a First Nation community, though not this particular one, and not as a researcher. I was initially accepted to some extent by the fact that my first visit to the community in spring 2003 was as part of a consulting team that has worked regularly in the community for a number of years. I was introduced by the consultant to Chief and Council and other Directors in a meeting where I explained that I hoped to do research for my PhD thesis, and that in the course of my study, I was willing to work with the First Nation to provide assistance to the ongoing accountability project of the consultant team. I was not paid for my work. At the end of August, 2003, after three visits to the community, I submitted a lengthy report documenting the structure of present VGFN systems and including many of the suggestions discussed in this dissertation. I have received no direct feedback on the report, although on my last visit in the fall of 2004 I noted that several of the suggestions have since been implemented. I discuss these in Chapter 10. On my first visit, I stayed on for three days after the other consultant team members left, which allowed me to begin to establish my own identity. I returned to the community on three later occasions for four or five days at a time. I became friendly with the Director of Finance, even staying with her on my last visit. She is from a small village in Kenya and, in my observation, is regarded within the community as being a kindred spirit more among the citizens than among Chief and Council, although she also has an easy relationship with the latter. With each visit, I felt more recognized and more comfortable, and I was increasingly invited to community meals. On one occasion I was invited to come down with the other local residents to meet a special plane that was coming in. Being with the Finance Director enabled me to be included in these gatherings as her friend more than as a researcher, which allowed for observation of very natural, common interaction among the people. Several times the Finance Director phoned citizens or office workers and asked them to assist me with my study. She also provided access to systems and organizational information.

My period of fieldwork in Old Crow was very short; however, my study is not an ethnography and did not require submersion in the culture. I relied on existing stories, documents and ethnographies to gain insight into changing cultural ideologies and traditions as well as traditional forms and mechanisms of "accountability" among the Vuntut Gwitchin. My visits to Old Crow and my interviews were focused specifically on systems, structures and meanings of "accountability" as they exist and are perceived today. While my visits were short, I felt they were extremely productive.

My interpretation of interviews

"Interviews" with local residents in Old Crow took a form different from typical accounting research in which questions are posed and answers are probed. Rather, it took the form of me making very general comments about systems, life in the north, and the like, and listening to participants' responses. My efforts to clarify points raised often left me simply with more to interpret. As an example, one participant offered to me that "accountability" is "just common sense". When I asked if she could elaborate a bit, she shrugged her shoulders and motioned outside and said, "you know...keeping healthy, the culture". This was a person with whom I had had quite a bit of contact and developed what I considered to be a friendly relationship. She was very happy to talk to me, but at the best of times, she was a woman of few words, and was clearly not about to elaborate more. It was up to me to interpret what she meant.

In a somewhat similar vein, several times while sitting in the office, when I made what I thought was a prompting comment regarding some activity or relationship within the community, it was met with silence. But some time later, perhaps half an hour, one or other of the employees would say something that wasn't a direct response to my comment, but was in a way related to it. In part, I attributed this to the fact that I was an outsider, although I seemed to have been accepted quite well, but it was also partly the culture of communication that I observed both in the office and in the community. The obtuse references and paucity of words were consistent with what I had encountered in other communities when I was working with them, and with what many ethnographers have observed. Several ethnographers have reflected on the importance of understanding such methods of communication. Goulet (1998:xxxi), for example, stresses that in

researching First Nations the investigator's "willingness to learn experientially and to observe quietly people's non-verbal behaviour are the prerequisites to progress".

Several ethnographers speak of the "stories" told by Native elders in particular, which do not necessarily describe specific events or activities; rather they are told with the objective that answers are to be found in the process of the listener's consideration of the stories (Goulet, 1998; Cruikshank, 1991). Interpretation of verbal and non-verbal action and interaction is dependent on the context in which it takes place, and on the listener's prior awareness of both the process and the values and assumptions underlying the stories. Goulet (1998:2) notes the ability of many contemporary First Nation individuals in his study to act according to Euro-Canadian patterns of interaction and behaviour when dealing with Euro-Canadians and according to traditional patterns when interacting among themselves. I was cognizant of this during my fieldwork in Old Crow. Being aware that individuals may interact with me differently from the way they do with one another, I spent much of my time there simply observing interactions among local citizens within the First Nation office and at the community functions that I attended. And to an extent, many of my comments throughout the paper reflect my own interpretation of comments of the participants.

Power inequalities

The issue of unequal positions of power among the participants is relevant to the development of a framework of accountability that is representative of input from all of them. In terms of my approaching individuals and gaining insights from them, I felt comfortable in my relationships with all participants and I made every effort to include

individuals from different stakeholdings. In terms of the relative authority of the stakeholders, however, the federal government will always be the superior government. And at the local level, Chief and Council have been given executive powers through the VGFN constitution, as I discuss in Chapter 7. The roles of power, political relations, and the governance structure are specifically excluded from my study according to my research approval from VGFN; I can only try to facilitate input from all levels. The fact that in the past year more public meetings have been held and more individuals have spoken up, as discussed in Chapter 9, indicates that power struggles and power relations are becoming at least somewhat less obstructive to community input to decision-making. Family rivalries may always be around, but as one individual said to me, the process of working towards the same goals of community wellness and maintaining the culture of the people will hopefully outweigh the negatives. She also indicated that intermarriages between families seem to be diluting the rivalries.

In the meantime, my observations and interviews, combined with historical and current literature reviews, allow me to examine the ideologies underlying accountability systems and relations of the federal government and a First Nation in Canada in light of my own, western frame of reference.

Chapter 4: Government accountability

Accountability is a relationship based on the obligation to demonstrate and take responsibility for performance in light of agreed expectations. (Auditor-General, 1998:2).

The above statement represents the Canadian federal government position on accountability. It highlights several areas of concern in the context of First Nations/federal government relations. In particular, it raises the issues of to whom and how "performance" is to be "demonstrated", and the extent of "agreement" of expectations between the parties to the relationship. In this chapter, I show that the government position represents an implicit hierarchical form of accountability that assumes a universal understanding of the government's own values and assumptions.

I briefly look at the principles of Westminster-style government, upon which the federal government of Canada is based, and the ideology that lies beneath them. I follow that ideology forward to the attitude and actions adopted by British colonists and the government of Canada as they related to Indian affairs, and to the evolution of Indian policy from colonial times on. I pay particular attention to the imbalance of power between the government and Indian peoples and the persistent Eurocentric attitude of superiority shown by the government. The stereotyping of Indian peoples as, among other things, a helpless race that must be civilized, as I will show in chapter 8, has endured into the modern era and is part of the reason that Native ideologies of accountability are still not recognized by the government. The rather broad-brush analysis in this chapter is not intended to be a genealogical account; rather, it is meant to demonstrate the historical depth and continuing strength of the federal government

ideology and attitudes, particularly with regard to Canada's Aboriginal peoples. It is this depth that has allowed the ideology and attitudes to endure.

British origins of accountability as hierarchical structure

The concept of hierarchy and domination were inculcated into British ideology long before the institution of Parliament. The feudal system represented a hierarchical structure, with subordinates reporting to superior lords. In medieval times, mechanisms of accountability such as "judicial audits" ensured that taxes were collected and that the sheriffs collecting them discharged their obligations to do so to the King (Normanton, 1966). Accountability, at that time, was a one-way street that maintained the power of the sovereign.

Over time, arbitrariness of the King's powers became intolerable to the feudal barons, and in 1215, the Magna Carta was written with the intention of formally curbing some of those powers. While it was not immediately effective in doing so, it ultimately led to the establishment of the first English Parliament in 1265, in which a separation of powers between law-making and managing functions was codified (Jennings, 1883). The King and the "executive" management arm of Parliament were made accountable to the new legislative body, initially to guarantee citizens that they would not be taxed excessively and that their monies would not be spent arbitrarily (Normanton, 1966). The relationship reflected, in part, an ethical or moral accountability to the citizens, to ensure that their interests were looked after. The mechanisms put in place to effect such accountability were of a hierarchical form and each had a regular routine: structures of financial planning, accounting, banking and auditing (Normanton, 1966;5). Formal "accountability" became a matter of ensuring "regularity" of financial accounts in terms of checking arbitrary use and ensuring compliance with laws and procedural rules that had been put in place.

The belief that the power of government officials and leaders needs to be curbed has carried through to contemporary times. Hood (1995:93), in describing the present day need for public accountability, notes that it is underpinned by the assumption that politicians, "are inherently venal, using their public office whenever possible to enrich themselves, their friends and relations." In a similar vein, Normanton (1966) notes that there is a historical connection between administrative secrecy and the hierarchical state. The King, with his arbitrary power, had felt no obligation to share his motives or activities with the public. As Parliament became more complex, secrecy and a concomitant distrust continued to pervade all levels of the hierarchical structure (Normanton,1966). Hierarchical forms of accountability and procedural mechanisms became more entrenched. As discussed in Chapter 2, hierarchical forms are more commonly associated with high levels of distrust, and indeed, such was the case within the British Parliamentary system. It was a hierarchical structure, modeled on these British systems and ideology, complete with controls and mechanisms of accountability related to them, that the British government introduced to its Canadian colonies.

Early imperial policies

The imperial movement was based on "the idea of European identity as a superior one in comparison with all the non-European peoples and cultures" (Said, 1993:7); the "empire" was conceived as an instrument for the betterment of mankind, an instrument of

freedom rather than oppression (Stanley, 1983:13). Colonization thus proceeded with the objective of expansion through authority and domination of "inferior races", of which Aboriginal peoples in Canada were identified as one.

Relations between Aboriginal peoples and early settlers in the area that became part of Canada were mostly good. Settlers relied on Aboriginal peoples for assistance in survival in an unfamiliar environment, and trading and military alliances were established between Indians and European leaders. While the imperial government in Britain held that the Indian peoples were "uncivilized", for a long period of time there were many instances of mutual tolerance and even respect for difference between the two (RCAP, 1996B).

The Indian Branch of the imperial government in Britain was formed in 1755, initially to secure Indian support for English military actions against the French in North America (Leslie & Maguire, 1978). It adopted the policy of protecting Indians from European encroachment in the use of their lands, a policy that was made into law with the adoption of the Royal Proclamation of 1763 (Tobias, 1983:40). Accountability within the Indian Branch was based on a hierarchy of Superintendents, Deputy Superintendents, Commissioners, Interpreters, and Missionaries located in the colonies (Leslie & Maguire, 1978:7). A report by the Superintendent General of Indian Affairs in 1795 describes the process:

'That the said Agents or Superintendents shall by themselves or sufficient Deputies visit the several Posts or Tribes of Indians within their respective Districts once in every year or oftener as occasion shall require to enquire into and take an account of the conduct and behaviour of the subordinate officers at the said Posts and in the Country belonging to the said Tribes to hear appeals and redress all complaints of the Indians make the proper presents and transact all affairs relative to the said Indians.⁵ (cited in Leslie & Maguire, 1978:7)

In practice, the Proclamation and hierarchical controls did not stifle expansionism or encroachment on Indian lands, and subjugation and exploitation of Indian peoples only grew. The importance of Indians as traders and military allies for the colonists declined as European settlement expanded and the French military threat disappeared (Patterson, 1972). The number of immigrants grew and the Indian populations decreased following the ravages of disease. After 1830, the policies of the British government went from being one of protection of Indian lands to one of "civilizing" Indian peoples. The British colonial Secretary in 1838 is said to have defined the goal of government policies: "to protect and cherish the helpless Race and raise them in the scale of Humanity" (cited in Ponting & Gibbins, 1980:5). Similarly, Bagot (1845:9), in his Report to the Legislative Assembly in Britain, noted that the government was looking to:

the moral and religious improvement of the Indians, and their instruction in the arts of civilized life, as the principal object to be kept in view in our intercourse with these tribes.

"Civilized" life, in terms of colonial ideology, meant being like Europeans.

In the mid-1800s numerous laws were passed that confirmed the domination of Indians in Canada by the colonial governments of Upper and Lower Canada and established Indians' placement as wards of the state. Among other things, for example, Indian reserve lands were given special status, being deemed non-taxable and protected from seizure on non-payment of debt; a ban on sale of liquor to Indians was put in place, and the precedent was set for non-Indians to determine who was an Indian and who was

⁵ It is interesting to note that "redress" was an identified aspect of the process. I come back to this point in Chapter 6 when discussing three elements that have been identified in a new structure of accountability developed by the Auditor-General of Canada in the 1990s. Redress is one of the three.

not (Tobias, 1983:41). An indication of the depth of the subordination of Indian people is demonstrated in the fact that exclusive responsibility for their actions was undertaken by the colonial governments. One historian describes the enactment of the liquor ban in 1836:

In substance, the legislation represented an act of paternalism which sought to make the white community accountable for Indian abstinence by making the delivery of spirits a misdemeanour punishable by law. By contrast, the Indian apparently seen as a child-like ward of the state - was not required to assume any responsibility for his actions. (Barron, 1983:197)

Liquor vendors were held accountable, through the courts, for this aspect of the behaviour of Indian people. This exemplifies how opportunity for Aboriginal peoples to be accountable for themselves on a spiritual or social level was subjugated.

Treating Aboriginal peoples as wards of the state did vest an ethical as well as a legal form of accountability in the Canadian government: an accountability to the people to provide services and protection, as a parent is accountable to children for protection and survival in a paternalistic relationship. But the relationship and the attitude only perpetuated the stereotyping of Indians as incompetent and uncivilized in terms of being able to look after themselves.

A new Canadian government

The government of Canada was established by the British North America Act of 1867 (now the Constitution Act, 1867). The new Parliament was modelled on the Westminster-style of Parliament, having a legislative House of Commons and an upper Senate. Ultimate authority rested with the Crown, which was represented by the Governor-General, who was appointed by the monarch. A study of the federal government administrative systems in the early 1900s showed that they consisted mainly of hierarchical forms of accountability (Villard & Willoughby, 1918). Individual government officials were held individually and personally responsible for expenditures in their departments, and for the accuracy of accounts. Formal budgetary procedures and hierarchical lines of authority and responsibility were in place, and financial accounts were published, audited and controlled. The study also highlighted the self-serving, competitive attitude of administrative authorities:

it is natural, and indeed laudable, that each head of a bureau should emphasize the value of the service which he directs and seek to increase its scope and importance and, ... will ask for all that he can possibly hope to get without regard to the demands of the other services." (Villard & Willoughby, 1918:5)

An underlying ideology that values self-interest, power and authority, identified in Chapter 2 as being typical of mainstream economic entities, is evident. In terms of Indian affairs, the new Parliament passed various statutes, collectively known as "Indian Acts". They replaced traditional Indian governments with a model of Band Councils and electoral systems similar to their own, took charge of Band finances, and imposed a system of land tenure, among other things. The Indian Act of 1876 consolidated and formalized much of the colonial legislation in one document. The Act was amended numerous times, and in 1880, it gave discretionary authority to a newly created Department of Indian Affairs (DIA) over health, education, use of land, housing, band council election, and finances (Statutes of Canada, 1880). The roles of the Superintendent General and the Indian agent were established, and they were charged with ensuring that the multiple "Indian" ways of life were brought into line with the policies decreed by Ottawa (Ponting & Gibbins, 1980). In the following years, in an attempt to expedite assimilation, sections were added to the Indian Act prohibiting

various Indian celebrations and ceremonial practices, and compelling children to attend

schools, which increasingly meant boarding schools (Statutes of Canada, 1884a:27:3;

1894:32:11; 1895:35:6).

The power of the Superintendent is evident in the legislation:

as a result of bands refusing to exercise their police and public health powers and not expending their band funds for this purpose, the superintendent general was empowered to make the necessary regulations and expend band funds for whatever expense was entailed in carrying out regulations (Statutes of Canada, 1898:RG10,vol.6809,vol.11:4)

Indian peoples, in the view of the government, did not cooperate particularly well with

Indian policies, resulting in more and more amendments to the Indian Act restricting their

activities. For example, in 1906 the following amendment was made:

In the event of any conflict between any regulation made by the Superintendent General and any rule or regulation made by any band, the regulations made by the Superintendent shall prevail. (Statutes of Canada, 1906:92:A2)

and in 1927:

In the event of a band refusing to consent to the expenditure of such capital moneys as the Superintendent General may consider advisable for any of the purposes mentioned...and it appearing to the Superintendent General that such refusal is detrimental to the progress or welfare of the band, the Governor in Council may, without the consent of the band, authorize and direct the expenditure...(Statutes of Canada, 1927:98:81:1)

Also in 1927, an amendment was made to the Indian Act that made it illegal for status

Indians to organize politically, or to retain legal counsel in pursuit of claims against the

Government (Statutes of Canada, 1927). Every effort was made to stifle any claims or

independent thoughts of Indian peoples.

By this time, the superiority of the white man was felt to be established on all fronts, even in the presumed "Indian lifestyle", as indicated in the Report of the Deputy Superintendent General:

It may be conceded that the typical Canadian Indian is the hunter and trapper, and, when one thinks of him, buckskins and beadwork and feathers are still cloaking him with a sort of romance. But these are rarely seen, except in pageants and on holidays when the superior race must be amused by a glimpse of real savages in war-paint. ... The aboriginal hunter is supreme no longer in his own craft; gone is the fiction that he is superior in these pursuits. The white man equals him as a trapper, and holds his own on the trail and in the canoe. (Lougheed, 1920)

Indian Policy from 1900-1950

During the period prior to World War II, a review of the Annual Reports of the

Branch of Indian Affairs reveals no change in written policy on the part of the

government since the early 1900s. Indeed, Indian policy and legislation across Canada

was put largely in a state of suspension at that time (Leslie & Maguire, 1978). An Indian

agent was appointed in Whitehorse in 1914. His role has been described as being mainly

an administrative centre, organizing some welfare and medical benefits (Coates,

1991:171). When he retired in 1933 he was not replaced (Pierce, 1998).

The Annual Reports demonstrate a continuing stereotyping of Yukon Indians by the federal government. The section for each year from 1920 through until 1947 reads, as taken from the 1935 report:

Tribal Origin. - The Forty-Mile, Blackstone, and Moosehide bands belong to the Takudah tribe. There is a band of Slaves at Lancing Creek who migrated from Good Hope on Mackenzie River; another band of Slaves, called Nahani, is located at the headwaters of Pelly River. All these Indians are of the Athapaskan stock. At Mayo, Selkirk, Little Salmon, and Carmacks there are bands belonging to the tribe known as Stick Indians. Bands belonging to the Tlingit tribe are found at Whitehorse, Teslin Lake. Champagne Landing, and Carcross.

Occupations. - Hunting, trapping, and fishing are the chief occupations of the Yukon Indians. The women derive some revenue from the sale of moccasins and curios of various kinds, and the men are expert at making toboggans and snowshoes. Little farming is carried on owing to climatic conditions but some of the Indians cultivate patches of potatoes and other vegetables for their own use.

Dwellings. - The Indians of the Yukon live in log cabins. (Crerar, 1935:25)

The "occupations" and "dwellings" descriptions are very generalized statements for describing a multiplicity of different lifestyle patterns. Such generalization is a typical technique in stereotyping (Berkhofer, 1978:3).

As Thomas Berger noted, in conducting a study in the northern Yukon, Louis St. Laurent once remarked that in the 1930s and 1940s, "Canada seemed to govern its North in a state of absence of mind" (Berger, 1988:163). However, in the late 1940s public interest in Indian peoples in Canada was peaked, largely because of the strong contribution of the Indian population to the war effort and because of a new internal awareness about human rights that had been generated by the newly signed United Nations "Universal Declaration of Human Rights". Concern was expressed for the poor treatment of Indian people, including the fact that they were not even considered to be citizens, yet they had recently returned from fighting for the country (Tobias, 1983:51). A joint committee of both the Senate and the House of Commons was struck and meetings were held with Indian leaders across Canada to consider their status. In 1951, revisions were made to the Indian Act and some of the most oppressive laws were dropped. However, Indians were still not allowed to vote and numerous other measures fostering assimilation remained intact. The precedent that had firmly established a persistent attitude and stereotyping within the federal government, generally, of Indian peoples as helpless and inferior, continued.

A history of dominance and hierarchical structure

The discussion in this chapter has identified several important aspects relating to the evolution of federal government/First Nations relationships. The Canadian parliamentary system is based on the British Parliament, which was instituted initially as a curb to arbitrary powers of the governing authority. It brought a measure of accountability to ensure that the people were treated fairly. The mechanisms used to ensure this represent a hierarchical form of accountability, based on asymmetrical powers, formal procedures and rules, accounting controls, and financial reports.

Prior to the institution of the Canadian federal government, colonial policy held that Indian peoples were child-like, to the point of not being able to take responsibility for their own actions. After confederation, Canadian Indian policy through the Indian Act of 1876 was also based on this premise. Indian peoples were controlled by the Superintendent-General of Indian Affairs and his agents who made decisions relating to, among other things, their education, housing, finances, and social welfare. There were no expectations of accountability on the part of the Indian population in terms of controlling their own lives. Significant changes to Indian policy only began to occur after World War II.

The next chapter conducts a review of the lifestyle and ideologies of the Vuntut Gwitchin, particularly with regard to accountability forms, during the same period as discussed in the present chapter.

Chapter 5: Ideologies of accountability among the Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation before government influence

In my investigation of VGFN ideologies and activities in this chapter, I rely upon available historical accounts of the northern Yukon in which Old Crow is situated. These fall into two broad groups. First, there is a raft of personal descriptions written by missionaries, traders, and researchers who spent years living among the people in the Old Crow area in the late 19th and early 20th centuries. Second, there are personal interviews and oral histories told by elders to anthropology researchers and local residents of the area in recent times. I also draw to some extent on Canadian Aboriginal scholars and the Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples when describing values that are common over a broader spectrum of Aboriginal peoples, including the Vuntut Gwitchin. My objective is to demonstrate that there is an "otherness" that is significantly different from the federal government ideologies; that is, that government ideologies are not universal.

The names used in the chapter vary. "Kutchin" is a name given to the people who traditionally lived in the region spanning the territory from the lower Mackenzie River Valley in the Northwest Territories through the northern Yukon, to east-central Alaska. The Kutchin have at various times been known as the Tukudh, Loucheux, and more recently, the Gwich'in, which means "people". They were historically divided into eight regional bands, one of which is the "Vunta" or Vuntut", meaning "of the lakes". These were people who lived among the lakes of the Porcupine River/Crow Flats area, and who settled in what is now known as the community of Old Crow. Now they call themselves the "Vuntut Gwitchin", which means "people of the lakes", or simply "Vuntut" (VGFN, 2004c). They are one group of the larger Gwich'in Nation, which is composed of the original Kutchin regional bands, all of whom speak the Gwich'in language. Some of my sources in this chapter, particularly notes of fur traders and missionaries, refer to experiences and observations of the Kutchin as a larger group; other, more recent works, relate specifically to the Vuntut Gwitchin peoples. I use both names at various times, depending on the source I am using, although the similarities in the literatures indicate that they are virtually interchangeable.

The village of Old Crow was formed around 1912. It is an isolated community of approximately 280 people, located at the confluence of the Old Crow and Porcupine rivers in the far north of the Yukon Territory. It had been known as a good fishing and hunting area prior to contact with fur traders. When trading posts were established by the Hudson Bay Company (HBC) downstream at Fort Yukon in 1847, and later at Rampart House, Old Crow had been a gathering spot for various Kutchin families and bands on their way to trade their furs (Acheson, 1977). Trappers and their families began to build log houses around Rampart House to be near the trading post. In 1911-1912, a disastrous smallpox epidemic struck the area, and most of the native houses had to be burned down. Subsequently, two local white traders opened a store in Old Crow, and the population began shifting there from the Rampart area and from the upper Porcupine River in the eastern region. The population of bands from both areas had been diminished in size because of disease, but through intermarriage they reconstituted a regional band which became the Vuntut Gwitchin. An Anglican Church was built in the village in 1926, and the RCMP moved from Rampart House to Old Crow in 1928. A community hall was built by the Indians in 1935 (Acheson, 1977).

A balance among all things

As was typical of northern Aboriginal peoples, the Kutchin at the time of first contact with fur-traders depended entirely on local natural resources for their subsistence and survival. Murray (1910) describes his experiences living at Fort Yukon in 1847, noting the deep understanding of the environment among the Indians and their use of animals and other natural resources for all aspects of their lives: shelter, food, tools, and so on. The fur traders themselves existed on subsistence provisions from the Kutchin people, as Murray describes: "we had brought little to eat, depending on them [Indians] to bring us meat...we much wanted dressed moose skins for shoes in winter, parchment for windows for our [log] houses, deer skins, etc." (Murray, 1910:49).

The Vuntut Gwitchin, as other First Nations, believe that survival of each life form in subsistence conditions is dependent on the survival of all others. It is based on the belief that a balance across all things is necessary, an equal respect among all things. In historical times, it was believed that every form of nature had a life of its own, and there were relationships of mutual respect among them all. A now deceased Yukon elder described to anthropologist Julie Cruikshank, for example, how troublesome glacial surges are caused by careless human beings angering the glaciers by cooking with grease near them, a disrespectful form of behaviour.

Vuntut Gwitchin elders refer to an unwritten code of ethics such as the one reflected in the glacier story. It relates to interactions "between humans, nature, and the spiritual world" and has been passed down for generations through oral tradition (Sherry & VGFN, 1999:162). Rules and social norms relating to the protection and use of landbased resources are still deeply embedded in Vuntut Gwitchin knowledge and culture.

Conformity to the code of ethics was ensured through a form of natural control, according to the elders. Traditionally, they say, if a person took more than his or her share, for example, or exhibited disrespect for any aspect of Mother Earth, something unfortunate would happen to either him or a family member: an illness, a drought, or some other disaster (Sherry & VGFN, 1999:265). Each activity affected community life and the natural world, and sanctions for improper behaviour occurred through natural means or cultural traditions. The code is reflected in the story of one Vuntut Gwitchin elder:

People always tried to help one another. Whenever they got anything they always tried to share. The plants that we picked, we have to replace it in the ground with something. When you are travelling out in the bush and picking plants, such as tri'itthah, you must pick it up with the roots and all and replace it with matches or some other possession. This is like paying for it to the earth. If this is not done there will be a terrible rainstorm. But, when you take a plant such as the alder tree, you do not have to pay for it...This is how people managed to live well. (Mary Hager, interview in Sherry & VGFN, 1999:118).

There are several issues about accountability highlighted by this story. First, the consequence of a rainstorm for non-compliance with the code reflects a form of spiritual accountability to an inanimate "higher principal", with sanctions for non-compliance. Second, the requisite replacement of plants with another possession reflects the emphasis on reciprocity, an integral aspect of socializing accountability. Further, the fact that the alder did not have to be paid for but other plants did indicates an order of relative values. Within these forms of accountability, then, there were clear precepts and sanctions. "Living well" depended upon an understanding of the cultural code of behaviour and adherence to it. Boldt & Long (1984) define the relationship between the natural and spirit worlds as a spiritual compact as opposed to a social contract. Referring to the spiritual sanctions incurred, Murray (1910:87) notes that the Kutchin in the early days of

the fur trade, "have, like all other tribes their good and evil spirits...according to this account the spirit worked mighty wonders betimes."

Another ethic requires an overall respect for animals, including respect for their feelings:

[The old people] they get mad at you if you talk bad about the animals and fish. You don't say things like that to old people. They'll get mad at you. They are going to say, 'Don't say that about food. Don't laugh at the animal.' 'You are going to spoil your luck', they say. (Peter Josie, interview in Sherry & VGFN, 1999:268)

Failure to comply will result in personal bad luck which, in this context, refers to success in hunting and thus the ability to survive. I show in Chapter 9 that the enduring belief in this ethic is problematic when set next to federal government solutions to resource management.

Apart from the spiritual sanctions, on a practical level obeying "natural laws" ensured survival in the natural world. Historically, hunters and trappers of the Kutchin spread out across the landscape to avoid excessive use of any one area and potential depletion of resources, "so that they would always be there." (Yukon Native Brotherhood, 1973:15). The knowledge required to maintain a balance and respect the natural laws is derived from the experiences and wisdom of elders who have observed migration patterns, weather patterns, cycles of game food sources and predators, and so on, and have passed them down from generation to generation. An example of such knowledge relates to maintaining a supply of muskrats. One Vuntut Gwitchin elder said:

If we don't trap the muskrats for two years the oldest muskrats die and there are no young ones to replace them. If there is too much muskrats, they will not survive because there will be a shortage of food. (Mary Kassi, interview in Sherry & VGFN, 1999:161). The theory is that the overabundance of muskrats will eat all the food and no future generations will be able to survive. The process of passing down traditional knowledge such as information relating to muskrats – oral tradition - is in itself a form of accountability to future generations. It ensures survival of cultural traditions as well as the people.

Oral tradition

Cruikshank (1994:408) views oral tradition as "a coherent, open-ended system for constructing and transmitting knowledge". Rather than passing down formal rules and procedures in a didactic manner, stories are told that infer the complexities of life in the natural world: "facts enmeshed in the stories of a lifetime" (p.408). For example, in oral tradition, the construction of a snowshoe may be described in a metaphorical story about a boy on a hunt. A listener is expected to identify and learn the inferences of what significant attributes contribute to the effective functioning of the snowshoe, what snow conditions were, and so on. By discerning information that is embedded within the story an individual will learn what is an appropriate form for a snowshoe to take.

An important aspect of the process is that the listener interprets and learns rather than being instructed. Goulet (1998:29) describes it, "to explain too much is to steal a person's opportunity to learn". The use of oral tradition as a teaching tool represents, in accountability theory terms, a "socializing" form of accountability as discussed in Chapter 2. The relationship between storyteller and listener is not one of asymmetrical power, it is a mutual engagement underscored by respect, trust, and felt reciprocal obligation: the speaker to teach, the listener to learn. There is a mutual responsibility to understand and interpret a shared meaning; a mutual interdependence among the parties that is necessary in order to sustain survival today and in future generations, and in order to sustain the culture into future generations.

Economic organization

Before guns and traps were introduced by the fur traders, subsistence activities among the Vuntut Gwitchin were carried out in varying sizes of groups and varying locations as game patterns changed and as needs of the group changed. There were no specifically predetermined dates or times attached to various activities, they served no purpose in terms of immediate gains or obligations (Nagler, 1975). Rather, people acted in accordance with circumstances. Economies were structured such that they reinforced cooperation and sharing in order to deal with such potential hardships as shortages from unusual weather, forest fires, or faunal epidemics (Ray, 1984:2). In times of food shortages, as an example, hunting groups in the area tended to be larger. Acheson (1977) points out that this may not have been the most practical strategy in terms of saving the most lives, but it was the social solution that the group settled on, providing social comfort and support. Gathering in larger groups was also desirable when economies of scale could be obtained from communal efforts. This was particularly true in setting up and operating fish camps in the summer and caribou "surrounds" in the fall in the Old Crow area (Osgood, 1936). In these situations, cooperation was necessary in order to acquire maximum yield. In turn, the harvest was shared among the entire group. The lifestyle was one of adapting to a changing environment. Flexibility was integral.

One way in which the Vuntut Gwitchin dealt with the unexpected challenges and inconsistent returns of the environment was by producing surplus meat and fish that was dried and stored for later use. As one elder from Old Crow explains the economic system:

Back in the old times, people here in this country lived a very hard life. There was no such thing as refrigerators and freezers. In the spring people dried caribou meat. Those who dried caribou meat and stored it up in a cache lived very well during the summer. In August and later on, when caribou start coming back through this country people went up into the mountains and set camps in different places and dried meat. During November, when anyone saw caribou on their trapline, they came back and shared the news and people went out to go hunting (John Joe Kaye Sr., interview in Sherry & VGFN, 2001:218).

His words exemplify an interdependence and sharing among people and a form of mutual, socializing accountability to ensure the survival of all.

Leadership

In the past, Kutchin societies were egalitarian, in that there was no asymmetry of power between leaders and others. As Father Emile Petitot (1899:70) observed of the group in the Old Crow area, "Indians do not consider themselves as inferiors to their chiefs and yield to them in no respect whatever". In his time living among them, Petitot noted that the daily routines of chiefs were no different from those of any other person, and the only guarantee of the chief's continuing role, as in other traditional Native groups, was the approval of the people (Petitot, 1899). If he was effective, he continued; if he was bad, he was simply replaced, with no ramifications within the community.

Leadership consisted of various different leaders at different times and for different purposes. It was a multiple and rotating position. There were war leaders, hunting leaders and sometimes leaders who simply possessed powerful medicines (Balikci, 1963; Osgood, 1936). However, the ability to direct groups in subsistence pursuits was considered to be the most important (Acheson, 1977). Hunting leaders were chosen, in fur trader Murray's (1910:90) observation, because of their superior hunting abilities. They had no decisional or coercive authority other than, for example, to interpret the environment and suggest where and when the best hunting might be. Decision-making among the Vuntut Gwitchin, as observed by Petitot (1899), represented the collective group pursuing its common good. Individual self-interest, including that of the chief, was intertwined, if not equated with, group interests. McDonnell (1992:15) has described such leadership as "followership and if people cannot be persuaded to follow some initiative or enterprise then leadership simply dissipates." It was not an "accountability" relationship in terms of leaders "accounting" to the people for their actions.

Traditional forms of leadership such as just described were eroded to some extent by both the fur trade and missionary activity. The importance of shamans, individuals with "good medicine", was attacked by missionaries' Christianization activities, undermining their spiritual and medicinal authority (Balikci, 1963). The increasing individualization of the fur trade lessened the need for other types of leaders. Traditionally there had been hunting activity group leaders, but when the HBC entered the picture, they (HBC) selected individual trading chiefs with whom they dealt exclusively. By the turn of the century, however, the HBC had left the area. Communal hunting activities declined with the introduction of sophisticated guns and traps. Vuntut Gwitchin informants told researcher Balikci in 1961 that for the first two decades of the century, "the Vunta Kutchin found themselves with no leaders" (Balikci, 1963:50). A change came about in 1920 when, under instructions from the Indian Affairs agent, the first Band chief was elected. His role was to act as a link between the Indian Affairs administration and the Band, as I discuss further in Chapter 7.

Social order

While there was not a sense of hierarchical order or hierarchical accountability among the Kutchin people, there was a social order in which there were shared premises and expectations. Everyone was distinguished according to his or her age and gender, and each was vested with certain complementary sets of duties and obligations. Murray (1910:86) observed, for example, that among the Kutchin in the late 1800s:

> Women do all the drudgery in winter, collect fire wood, haul the sleighs along with the dogs, bring snow for water, etc. but the men always cook, and the women are not allowed to eat until their husbands are satisfied.

The obligations of men and women were different from each other in such a way that each was a necessary part of the whole matter of survival of the group. Murray (1910) observed that while there may have been social protocols regarding distribution of meat in terms of who ate first, for example, all resources were shared across the entire group. The interdependent roles and expectation of orderly conduct demonstrate an accountability to each other in terms of the moral order: a socializing form of accountability.

Failure to respect the order, or to respect each other, led to drastic consequences. Murray's (1910:88) interpretation was that, "By all account they are a most treacherous people, and the taking of a man's life is no more regarded by them than that of a moose". While this may be a rather dramatic interpretation, now deceased elder Joe Netro did record a number of stories of individuals being killed because of what was apparently

considered to be failure to comply with the unwritten social and moral code of the group.

A typical excerpt from his, A Book of Indian Legends and Storys [sic] from Old Crow,

Yukon Territory, is:

At this stage the two brothers grabbed the lady by the legs and arms and held her over the fire in a position that her stomach would severly [sic] burn and kill her. If she had fed her husband from the beginning after she killed the bear she would probably be still alive today. The two brothers also killed the older boy and girl of the family because they didn't tell their dad that their mother killed a bear (Netro, 1973:12).

The consequences for failure to meet the accountability expectations of the group were

fatal for mother and children. While adherence to the moral code of behaviour was a

spiritual form of accountability, there was also a social form at play, in that expectations

were mutually understood and sanctions were meted out by members of the community

itself.

The process of accountability for the collective interest, and the lack of hierarchy

among the Vuntut Gwitchin were also observed much later, in the early 1930s, by

researcher Osgood:

If a chief indicates that a certain man should play a certain part in the activity of the group and the appointed person does not do it, the chief probably says nothing but the man's relatives bring pressure to bear on him. If he still refuses, they may do it for him, in which case the individual gains a bad reputation. (Osgood, 1936:123).

Given that non-performance of the activity in this description resulted in the social sanction of a bad reputation, it was presumably in the best interests of the group. The fact that the man's relatives felt obliged to "bring pressure to bear", if not to step in to perform the activity, reflects an accountability to the moral order of the collective.

Reciprocity

The sharing and sense of mutual obligation associated with the stories above reflect a reciprocity among people within the group. It is a form of accountability to the common good, to survival, that is typical of indigenous societies, according to anthropological studies (Sahlins, 1972). Based on an analysis of a series of such studies, Sahlins (1972) notes that reciprocity can take one of a "continuum of forms". At one end is a pure gift, from which an open stipulation of return would be unthinkable. At the other end is "self-interested seizure, appropriation by chicanery or force requited only by an equal and opposite effort on the principle of *lex talions*, negative reciprocity" (Sahlins, 1972: 191).

Sahlins (1972) notes that the most common form of reciprocity in indigenous societies is one of a generalized expectation of some form of reciprocal act at some stage. He notes that such reciprocity actually "strengthens interdependence and so the chances of each and all to survive [the] non-economic danger" (Sahlins, 1972:215). The stories of elders cited above show that the Vuntut Gwitchin exemplified this form. For them, a "generalized" reciprocity of sharing information and resources was a necessity during the days of a subsistence lifestyle and collective ownership.

A contributing factor to the successful cooperation among the Vuntut Gwitchin, and the success of generalized reciprocity, was, as Sahlins (1972) suggests, a measure of trust. Similar to Murray's (1910) observations of the honesty of the Kutchin mentioned earlier, Osgood (1936:115) observed that there was an inherent level of trust on a material level among the Vuntut Gwitchin: "The Indians recognize need as an undeniable right and share their property most generously and for anyone to take more is

not clearly conceivable." Chief Factor of the Hudson's Bay Company, Robert Campbell, noted in his 1851 diary that upon arrival at an unmanned trading post, the Kutchin typically:

took such of things as they required or wanted, leaving in their place furs more than equivalent to pay for all. Many a civilized and Christianized white man might take a lesson in honesty from these poor Indians in their natural state. The temptation to help themselves to many things, such as clothing and blankets, was no doubt very strong in their destitute condition but their self-denial and integrity enable them to resist (Campbell, 1851:95).

However, as the fur-trade progressed, social distance between the Kutchin and the traders increased and levels of trust decreased; new forms of accountability relationships developed.

Accountability vis-à-vis traders

Before white fur-traders came to the Yukon, there was considerable inter-band trade among the Kutchin as well as trade between Kutchin bands and Eskimos (Slobodin, 1962). It was conducted between "friends" or partners, in relationships that "involved mutual aid and respect" (Tanner, 1965:24). Even when relationships became strained, "the institution provided a means for trade to continue despite hostilities between the parties" (Tanner, 1965:33). There was an accountability in the relationship that ensured continuing trade practices. For example, killing a "partner" in war was taboo because it was necessary to keep him alive in order to keep trading (Osgood, 1936:132).

Trading was a system of direct exchange, a balanced form of reciprocity, and when white traders came, new terms of trade were introduced, along with new supplies and modes of exchange. Tanner (1965:54) notes that terms of trade were dictated by the trader and, "it was up to the trapper continuously to revise his ideas of what constituted reciprocity". In the southern Kutchin areas, for example, Hudson Bay traders reported that trappers used notched tally sticks to keep track of the potential exchange value of their furs (Krech, 1984); however, to the extent that HBC held a monopoly trade, that value was subject to somewhat arbitrary adjustment (Tanner, 1965). Thus, while there was a "counting" by the trappers, they were not able to hold the traders to account for predetermined consideration for their furs. At the same time, accountability to the relationship on the part of the trappers was not necessarily binding either.

Credit was provided by the Hudson's Bay Company based on "made-beaver", a standardized unit of exchange. Goods that were both purchased and sold were assigned values in terms of made-beavers. Traders outfitted trappers in the fall on the strength of pelts they were expected to bring in the spring. Even though the two activities occurred at different times, they were both considered parts of the reciprocal exchange. Innis (1930:381) notes in his review of HBC records around the turn of the century that in the northwest, which included the Kutchin area:

Indeed [receiving] 75% of the total [debt owing] is regarded as a very favourable recovery...Moreover, the Indian is a ward of the Crown and cannot be sued if he does not pay his debt. Repayment of his debt depends on "his good heart". Instead of paying the debt the Indian may sell his fur to a competitor.

While trade and credit were dependent on a personal relationship between trader and trapper, as Tanner (1965:53) notes, it "was of one of a narrow and instrumental kind." A sense of instrumental accountability in terms of meeting debt obligations, according to Innis' (1930) notes, was apparently not a top priority for the trappers. The prevailing sense of accountability among the Native people continued to rest with ensuring the well-being of their own group. Their wants and needs remained simple. And as some HBC traders noted:

Apparently they [Indian people] saw no value in work for work's sake, or money for the sake of power. They were content to survive and to spend any excess income on a good time. It may be that this is an over-simplification of their motives, but the fact is that they never seemed to trap more than enough to satisfy their minimal wants (cited in Sealey, 1969:213).

A changing economy

The Klondike gold rush of the late 19th century brought wage labour, a cash economy, and retail stores to parts of the Yukon. Because of the remote location of Old Crow, the central economic base for the Vuntut Gwitchin in the area continued to be hunting and trapping into the 1950s and beyond. However, many traditional technologies had been replaced with guns and other modern hunting and trapping equipment through the fur trade, and people did come to rely on these and many "white man's" household items. Structural changes had also occurred during the fur trade as people moved nearer to trading posts. Also, new technologies allowed them to hunt and trap on a much more individual basis. Patterns of hunting and trapping activities changed to suit the fur requirements of the traders, undermining trappers' ability to obtain enough of their traditional subsistence game to live without the supplements of white man's supplies (Tanner, 1965). Exchange patterns indicate that accountability to the group became associated with only certain activities: furs, and items exchanged for them, for example, became an individual commodity and were distributed according to who set the trap. Game, on the other hand, related to subsistence production, and continued to be distributed among an entire group (Tanner, 1965).

When wage labour and the cash economy reached Old Crow near the middle of the 20th century, as in other parts of the Yukon, it brought with it a separation of buying and selling activities and thus a breakdown of the trade reciprocity arrangement (Innis.

1930). Wage labour allowed for other sources of income than just furs. Once trappers were able to earn cash wages, they could afford to withhold fur payments to the traders. The latter had to give them a break before the trappers would continue to trade. In time, alternate markets in different locations such as Whitehorse provided trappers, including the Vuntut Gwitchin, the opportunity to take their furs to other stores. But while cash changed the economic activities of the people, on a certain level it did not change their underlying concept of reciprocity or accountability. Tanner (1965:69) notes of the Vuntut Gwitchin that, "The Indian trapper offers a peculiar kind of ambivalence to questions of income and credit", and that:

the process of losing money each year in bad debts was an integral part of the exchange relationship between trapper and trader. It is the price the trader pays to keep his clientele and to keep them trapping (1965:71).

Again, in terms of accountability as a balanced reciprocal payment, the trappers still did not follow the requirement for an equal and opposite return. However, perhaps in their minds, and in their set of values, the furs that they provided did represent an equal and opposite return. Measurement and value are very subjective and may only really be interpreted in the particular context.

A history of socializing and spiritual forms of accountability

The ideology among the Kutchin prior to trade with the white man was one based on equality among all living things, respect for all things, maintaining a balance, and providing for the collective good of their own people. There was a spiritual form of accountability to a moral order and an unwritten code of conduct. Knowledge of spiritual and social ethical standards and sanctions were passed down from generation to
generation through oral tradition and by observing how people behaved toward one another. There was a generalized reciprocity among the people that was predicated on the goal of collective well-being. In addition, a widespread socializing form of accountability existed, in that continued survival depended on personal communication that resulted in common understandings and interpretations of knowledge. As the Kutchin developed relationships with European fur traders, a more balanced form of reciprocity evolved, in the sense that expectation of a certain value of exchange for furs began to come into play. However, values given by the traders were subject to arbitrary adjustment and trappers were forgiven a large number of bad debts. These imbalances indicate that accountability for each party continued to be, to some extent, in terms of its own measures of value and in terms that had meaning and priority to its own group.

After World War II, government influence increased significantly and forms of accountability changed among the Vuntut Gwitchin. Before I look at the next era in the evolution of Vuntut Gwitchin ideology, however, in the next chapter I return to the government perspective and review changes in attitudes and Indian policies that have occurred since the 1950s.

Chapter 6: Government Policies

The last two chapters have discussed ideologies and underlying forms of accountability that were at play prior to the point in time when the federal government came to have significant influence on the Vuntut Gwitchin. The government attitude towards Indian peoples in Canada took a dramatic turn after World War II. With the changes to the Indian Act in 1951, the goal of assimilation still remained but the means to achieve it were slightly amended (Tobias, 1983). Rather than trying to direct or force enfranchisement on Indian people, for example, the new policy made it easier by eliminating the testing period and strict requirements for acceptance as an enfranchised citizen (Statutes of Canada, 1951). More emphasis was put on education, economic development and encouragement for Indian peoples to achieve greater autonomy and responsibility in running their own affairs through Band Councils, albeit under the direction of DIA. While the policies of DIA as represented in the new Indian Act had changed, my review of the Annual Reports of the Indian Affairs Branch to Parliament for the years since the inception of the Branch reveals that the manifest attitude and practices of the Department were slow to change.

The Annual Reports to Parliament, written by the Superintendents General of the Indian Affairs Branch, consisted mainly of summaries of agricultural activities of Indian peoples across the country, including those in the Yukon, and the status of attendance at, and academic progress within, educational programs. They consistently portrayed the status of Indian people in a very positive, favourable light. For example, in the report for 1950, the year prior to the changes in the Act, the report on the Yukon said,

"Employment was maintained at a reasonably high level during the year and, despite poor

returns from trapping, there was no great hardship among the Indians of the Yukon" (MacKay, 1951:63). Similarly, a recurring theme for at least four years before and after adoption of the new Act, was: "During the year, the vast majority of Indians continued to share in the national prosperity enjoyed by white Canadians" (MacKay, 1951:55); "During the year, the majority of the Indian population shared fully in the overall prosperity of the country" (MacKay, 1953:44); "In most of Canada the Indian population shared fully in national prosperity during the year under review, and in many regions there was increasing evidence that Canadians of the Indian race were making social and economic progress" (MacKay, 1954:40). However, the Hawthorn Report, a study of the state of affairs among Indian peoples in Canada in the 1960s, proved that the positive portrayal of progress was wholly overstated. It concluded that "the general picture the figures present of native Indians in Canada is one of serious unemployment or underemployment, poverty and dependency" (Hawthorn, 1966:46). Similarly, the study showed that school performance was very low, particularly compared to non-Indian students (Hawthorn, 1967:130). Other studies showed that health standards among Indian people across Canada in 1960 were extremely low (Frideres, 1998:117).

The federal government commissioned the Hawthorn Report to assess the effects of the "new approach" adopted with the policies of the new Indian Act and study "the contemporary situation of Indians of Canada" in terms of their "participation in the social and economic life throughout the country" (Hawthorn, 1966:5). The report stated that the system in place remained largely one of paternalism: "the old system of administration which, in spite of a radically changed [Indian] Branch philosophy, shows a remarkable tenacity of life in many agencies and in many reserves." (Hawthorn, 1966:59). The "radical" nature of the change in philosophy may be considered to be somewhat of an overstatement, as the underlying policy continued to be towards assimilation.

The Hawthorn report itself demonstrates a continuation of paternalistic attitudes. For example, it notes that while kinship ties among many groups are seen as a source of support and economic advancement, in some circumstances, "The mutual ties of rights and obligations act as deterrents to economic advancement in an industrial society" (Hawthorn, 1966:121) The underlying ideology of the Report is clearly one of "modernization", the desire being to bring Indians into the modern EuroCanadian world. It observes, for example, the need for:

important changes in social welfare or relief policy to free the individual and his immediate family from the burdens of supporting other kin, and thus encourage their independence and ambition to better themselves. (Hawthorn, 1966:121)

The statement shows a clear lack of appreciation of the importance of kinship in Indian culture, and of the values and ideologies underlying social and economic patterns within it. By suggesting change, the Report minimizes the values of interdependence and social accountability which, as previously discussed, form a large part of Native ideology. The Report not only lacks insight, but it also perpetuates a stereotypical attitude, as demonstrated in the comment:

Behaviour patterns widely attributed to Indians as proof of personal disorganization are those of drunkenness, sexual promiscuity, shiftlessness or laziness, irresponsibility, neglect of family, and the like. (Hawthorn, 1966:127).

White Paper

The Hawthorn Report and the attitude within it were brought to the table as the groundwork for the Department of Indian Affairs when it created the White Paper on Indian Affairs in 1969. The White Paper acknowledged the plight of Indians. It

proposed as a solution complete assimilation of Indians into white society, ostensibly giving them "equal status, opportunity and responsibility, a role they can share with all other Canadians" (Government of Canada, 1969). The Indian Act would be abolished, thereby ending any special status or treaty rights for First Nations. The proposed policy promised "all Indian people a new opportunity to expand and develop their identity within the framework of Canadian society" (Government of Canada, 1969).

The White Paper was met with considerable protest from most Aboriginal peoples and marked the real beginnings of Indian resurgence in Canadian society. Until this point in time there had been little protest or action on the part of Aboriginal peoples against their treatment by the federal government. The negative reaction to the White Paper proposals united First Nations in their quest for Aboriginal rights, self-determination, resolution of outstanding treaty issues, and self-governance as separate nations. Several submissions were made to the government, including, among others, what became known as the "Red Paper" (Cardinal, 1969), and "Wahbung: Our Tomorrows", a position paper by the Manitoba Indian Brotherhood (1971). They argued that in reality, it would be virtually impossible for Aboriginal peoples to realize equal opportunities, given their low social and financial status at the time and their continuing lack of acceptance within the dominant culture. The papers proposed counter policies such as retention of status, preservation of Aboriginal culture and traditions, recognition of the spirit and intent of tribal units as opposed to government-based bands, and protection of federal jurisdiction over Aboriginal people. In other words, they recommended that the protections provided by the Indian Act be maintained and the treaties be lived up to, but that the paternalism within the Act be removed (Cardinal, 1969). The government was thus held to account

for its fiduciary obligations as protectors of Indian lands and Indian peoples, and it was asked for respect by the Indian people. The White Paper was withdrawn in 1971, with a promise from the government to reconsider it. From that point on, the government began to recognize First Nations as something other than simple wards of the state. They began to work towards providing means for First Nations to start to take real responsibility for their own affairs through self-administration and land claims negotiations.

Yukon First Nations activism

Indian people of the Yukon were some of the first to be proactive when it came to addressing the paternalistic and stereotyping attitude of the federal government. In 1973, the newly formed Yukon Native Brotherhood (YNB)⁶ presented a document to the federal government entitled *Together Today for Our Children Tomorrow: A Statement of Grievances and an Approach to Settlement by the Yukon Indian People*. It was written "so that you [government] will better understand our deep feelings [about our land and about the future of our children]" (YNB, 1973:2). It explains, among other things, the history of differences, what it means to be an Indian, and the influence government policies have had upon their communities:

In nearly all our villages, all services are provided by Whites – teachers, nurses, doctors, lawyers, postmasters, probation officers, welfare workers, etc. They came from the South with a few exceptions, and do not attempt to understand the people they are supposed to serve (YNB, 1973:23).

The Statement outlines Yukon Indians' position on Aboriginal rights and claims to their traditional lands. It was signed by representatives of all of the twelve Yukon bands that existed at the time, and insisted that, "until social and economic equality is achieved...[it

⁶ The YNB later became the Council for Yukon Indians (CYI) and then the Council for Yukon First Nations (CYFN).

is] our right to be dealt with as a special group of people...provided for in 1867 under Section 92 of the British North America Act" (YNB, 1973:48). Through this document, the YNB held the federal government to account for its fiduciary obligations. At the same time, it represented a collective socializing form of accountability among Native people of the Yukon in that it brought them together in a common interpretation of their need to maintain their culture and to promote self-determination and self-governance. It was an accountability to their culture and to future generations: "...for our children, and our children's children, for many generations to come" (YNB, 1973:27).

After *Together Today for our Children Tomorrow* was issued, land claim negotiations began between YNB, the federal government, and a little later, the Government of the Yukon, following a process established by the federal government. An Umbrella Final Agreement in Settlement of Land Claims in the Yukon was signed in 1993, and ratified by the House of Parliament in 1995 (Government of Canada, 1993). At that time, VGFN and three others of the then fourteen Yukon First Nations signed Self-Government Agreements. Since then, five more have followed suit. Selfgovernment agreements transfer rights to settlement lands, provide for payment of settlement monies and continued funding mechanisms, and transfer administrative duties over many programs and financial matters to each First Nation. I discuss them in more detail in Chapter 7. Even before the signing of the self-government agreements, funding and accountability arrangements began to change for Yukon First Nations.

New funding arrangements

On the heels of the White Paper, and the subsequent reactions, a Report of the Special Parliamentary Committee on Indian Self-Government, known as the "Penner Report", was commissioned in 1983. It was critical of the existing direct program-related funding arrangements, recommending more flexible funding and devolution of program administration to First Nations, but only, "with an adequate system of accountability in place" (Penner, 1983:33). Subsequently, DIA began to shift emphasis from simply providing direct services and administration to being primarily a funding agency. The intent was to devolve powers and responsibilities to Aboriginal peoples; however, even when First Nations started to administer government programs themselves, they had very little real autonomy. The vast majority, if not all, of programs and services had been put into place by the government. Consequently, they were subject to specific terms, conditions, and process and reporting requirements stipulated by DIA on a program-byprogram basis. Those conditions and reporting requirements represented an "adequate system of accountability", in accordance with government systems ideology.

By the late 1980s, a range of funding arrangements had been developed that offered different degrees of discretionary and obligatory responsibility to First Nations. They included Contribution Agreements for reimbursement of specific program expenditures, Alternative Funding Agreements (AFA) and Comprehensive Funding Agreements (CFA), which provided flexible fund transfers for up to five years. The latter arrangements allow First Nations themselves to allocate funds and transfer them internally between various programs. Even so, all funding arrangements were based on budget submissions for various projects and expenditure categories. With the introduction of flexible transfer funding, the authority given to the local First Nation government meant that it was now "accountable" to its constituents or communities for allocation of funds. It was given discretionary authority to divide those funds among programs as it saw fit, as opposed to adhering to government imposed allocations. The terms of the funding agreements provided that, consistent with federal government systems and ideology, assurance for such "accountability" at the local level would be provided by means of audited financial statements to be submitted on a timely basis (DIAND, 1993).

The federal, ministerial notion of "accountability", synonymous with financial accountability, was thus presumed upon local First Nations as if there was an equality of understanding. The federal government assumed that financial statements and audits thereof were meaningful to First Nations. However, as indicated in the previous chapter, the ideologies of hierarchical authority and controls were foreign to the people of VGFN. They were used to what I have described as socializing and spiritual forms of accountability that included neither directions from a higher authority nor time constraints. Accounting in terms of generally accepted accounting principles were a complete unknown to the First Nation, and there was no training provided by the federal government. It is little wonder that financial records and submission of reports on time were a very low priority among First Nations. It is also little wonder that non-Aboriginal individuals were called upon by the federal government to perform financial management functions in order that such requirements would be met. I observed such a scenario a number of times when I was working as an external auditor with three First Nations in the Yukon during the 1980s.

At that time, my experience was that financial statements and budgets were prepared in every case in accordance with the federal government format either by non-Native managers or under the direction of non-Native consultants. There was no input from the Band itself as to how funds should be allocated. The role of Chief and Council, as I saw it, was to rubber stamp the documents prepared by outsiders. My observations were corroborated by an individual who was Band manager of another northern Yukon First Nation for nine years from 1985-1994. He said that at the beginning of his term, there was very little structure to the organization and there was, in his view, little understanding, or at least inappropriate application, of the systems that had been put in place by the government. According to him, submissions of Government Expenditure Approvals forms, for example, were made on the basis of "convenience" rather than according to level or type of expenditures, as one might expect.

The manager, a non-native, in his words, "basically took over all of the finances" and modeled new processes on the federal government system. He noted that his efforts were always and only concentrated on ensuring accountability through accurate recordkeeping and reporting of financial transactions. This attitude was consistent with what I observed in the financial affairs of other Bands. Budgets, fund allocation, and accountability mechanisms were thus directed and shaped by non-Aboriginal interests and non-Aboriginal values and terms of reference. First Nations were given the authority to direct or transfer funding themselves, but they had no experience or tools with which to do it. Thus, non-native managers were brought in to take control. Accountability of a hierarchical form, familiar to the non-Native managers and consistent with the requirements of DIA, were put into place. The necessity for accountability on the part of Chief and Council was reduced.

Accountability policy at the federal level

During the 1970s the federal government recognized problems in accountability within its own bureaucracy, and particularly in its relationships with First Nations. A Royal Commission on Financial Management and Accountability was established in 1979. The resulting "Lambert Report" made 165 recommendations that were intended to institute "proper accountability and proper financial administration and controls, sound management, and render[ing] full accounts for the exercise of responsibility and authority" within the government (Lambert, 1979:21).

Studies were then undertaken in 1980 and 1986, under the auspices of the Office of the Auditor General, to develop frameworks of accountability for First Nations. With more and more devolution of program administration to First Nations, it was unclear to the federal government whether or not it was still accountable for ensuring that First Nations receive "social and economic gains", or whether it is simply now responsible for ensuring an equitable distribution of funds to Aboriginal groups, each of which then pursues its own objectives (Auditor-General, 1980). The dilemma was initially observed in the 1980 report, and reiterated in the Auditor-General's reports for 1986 and again in 1988: "The Department's [Indian and Northern Affairs] accountability to Parliament and to the public, beyond standard financial reporting, is not clear" (Auditor-General, 1988). In 1991 the Auditor-General advised that as long as DIA provides funding, under the federal government systems the department is still ultimately accountable for decisions made by First Nations. "DIAND has the authority and responsibility to act in the best interest of the Indian peoples while maintaining its accountability to the Canadian public for funds used in the process" (Auditor-General, 1991). Thus, Parliament requires "accountability" for activities and decisions that are the results of the process of accountability at the local level.

Auditor-General Kenneth Dye noted in his 1991 Report that, "accountability for satisfactory results [in DIA] is elusive" because of a lack in planning and because the control framework is often administered from a distance. He also recognized that there are communication difficulties in the accountability relationship between the Department of Indian Affairs and First Nations:

there needs to be a clear understanding, between those being held accountable and those holding to account, of what the performance expectations are, recognizing the nature of the external constraints on accountable management (Auditor - General, 1990).

His statement is consistent with Sinclair's (1995) finding that a shared agreement among participants in different contexts is necessary in order to secure accountability. By noting "external constraints" on management, he acknowledges a "difference" in the possibilities and parameters of accountability and its forms and mechanisms in a different context, although he is not specific. However, while Dye and Sinclair are cognizant of the need for a shared agreement, they assume that there is one (and only one) sense of accountability that may be secured, and that it can readily be understood by all.

The Department of Indian Affairs' responses to the Auditor-Generals' reports were consistently that it was emphasizing more accountability by Indian Band Councils to their own constituents and working with them to that end (Auditor-General, 1991:14.20). Not surprisingly, accountability to DIA took a hierarchical form, which mainly comprised financial and statistical reports.

Dye's successor, Auditor General Denis Desautels, realized that Aboriginal

communities are not homogeneous and have varying needs, resources, and governing

structures. He recognized that Bands identify their priorities differently. For example,

some place more emphasis on environmentally and culturally sound economic

development than do others (Auditor-General, 1993). He tried to prompt recognition of

such difference in DIA by posing questions to the department such as:

Did CAED [Canadian Aboriginal Economic Development] strategy expenditures take into account priorities of aboriginal people, or could the funds have been used differently to generate greater benefit? What is meant by 'economic selfreliance' and what criteria will be used to determine whether it has been achieved? (Auditor-General, 1993).

Desautels also recognized problems with government expectations of

accountability as a process for First Nations. In 1994, he wrote, for example, that with

regard to compliance with requirements for social assistance documentation:

The extent to which documentation is inadequate points to a systemic problem. However, it is unclear whether the non-compliance is largely in form or in substance. The former may suggest that more training is required or that the requirement for documentation is too bureaucratic and not consistent with First Nation culture. But the latter may signal that public funds are at risk. The Department faces the challenge of ascertaining the nature of the non-compliance and, where necessary, modifying its control mechanisms to respect First Nations culture while safeguarding public funds. (Auditor-General, 1994).

Thus, he officially recognized potentially different underlying ideologies between First

Nations and DIA. However, it appears to have made little difference, in practice, to

mechanisms of accountability that address the relationship. Desautels recommended that

the Department improve its accountability framework with regard to First Nations by

insisting upon timely submission of audited financial statements, program activity and

other financial reports, acceptance of monitoring as a criterion of eligibility to receive funding, and an evaluation of funding arrangements to assess the quality and level of services provided to band members (Auditor-General, 1995). Although the philosophical issues of difference were acknowledged, the only solution proposed was a financial, hierarchical accountability system.

DIA's reporting requirements

The Department of Indian Affairs, meanwhile, required maintenance of financial statements and records of First Nations prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for governments and institutions of comparable size, and an annual audit (Irwin, 1995). Indeed, the Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation Self-Government Agreement, which was ratified in 1995, includes clauses requiring financial accountability:

- 22.1 The Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation shall prepare, maintain and publish its accounts in a manner consistent with the standards generally accepted for governments in Canada.
- 10.1 The Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation Constitution shall:
 10.1.3 provide for a system of reporting, which may include audits, through which the Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation government shall be financially accountable to its Citizens (VGFNSA, 1993)

Not only is the ideology imposed upon the First Nation in terms of the accountability relationship with the federal government, but it is also imposed upon the relationship between the First Nation and its own citizens. As I discuss in chapter 7, the financial statements and audit report in their present form in fact garner mixed reviews as to their importance and relevance among both DIA and VGFN members today.

Within the federal government, calls continued to be made through the 1990s for increased public and political accountability, both within the government generally and with regard to First Nations. In 1996 the Office of the Auditor-General conducted a study on "Accountability Practices from the Perspectives of First Nations". Researchers interviewed participants from nine First Nations and one Tribal Council from across the country. The discussions mainly focused on the relationship between particular First Nations and government organizations; however, the report notes that, "Overall when internal accountability was discussed, it was mostly in terms of communication and interaction between Council and administration and members of the community" (Auditor-General, 1996:13.38). It is noteworthy that on an internal level, non-financial matters comprised the dominant theme. In terms of the First Nations/DIA relationships, the study found that neither party has a good understanding of the other's objectives, and that the current reporting regime is of little value to the First Nations. Councils saw themselves as accountable to members for results and to government for process, and requested more emphasis on the former. According to the report of the study, participants told the researchers that:

government did not invent accountability, and that it was practiced by First Nations in their own way prior to contact. Their concept of accountability originated, they said, from a need to build consensus, through broad participation and consultation (Auditor-General, 1996:13.73).

The concept of accountability identified by the participants fits the socializing form described earlier: it is based on deriving mutual understandings through face-to-face interaction among equals.

DIA principles of accountability

Also in 1996, DIA announced its adoption of three principles of accountability: transparency, disclosure and redress. Transparency ensures that the governments' (First Nations as well as the Department) methods of operation are known by citizens. Disclosure ensures that citizens are informed of the governments' (First Nations as well as Department) plans and actions. Redress provides an avenue for citizens to appeal decisions affecting them individually or collectively (Auditor-General, 1996:33.43). DIA's 1996-97 plan included encouraging and assisting First Nations to codify their governance and administrative practices, thereby "helping to strengthen their local accountability" (Auditor-General, 1996:33.44). DIA developed an "Accountability and Management Assessment Workbook", designed for First Nations to assess a wide range of topics including community leadership and governance structures, human resources management and program management, in terms of the three principles (DIAND, 1997). The workbook was meant to be a basis from which DIA could work with First Nations to improve accountability at a local level. Alternative Funding Agreements were contingent on completion of the workbooks. The ideology underlying the plan, however, assumes a hierarchical organizational structure, where the government develops plans and makes decisions based on information in the workbook and then informs the First Nation on how to "improve" accountability. The whole process is clearly at odds with the concurrent Auditor-General study of the First Nations perspectives on accountability discussed above. However, DIA proceeded with its plan (Auditor-General, 1999).

The workbook itself consists of 78 pages of extremely detailed questions as to whether procedural rules and codes are in place and whether or not they are being

adhered to. The first question in each individual section, for example, is whether or not the community has "formal, documented rules in place" by which to carry out the various activities and actions within the program or department. Another typical question, this one under "Education Program Operational Controls" is:

Are quality control checks periodically carried out to ensure that staff responsible for the delivery of services and the processing of applications for services/benefits are in accordance with the policy and operating procedures for the Education program? (DIAND, 1997: Education, p.5).

In short, an analysis of the workbook reveals that a structure of hierarchical rules, procedures, and controls remain the basis of the required accountability. From the government perspective, the assessment is comprehensive. From the perspective of First Nations, it is formal and inflexible, and many aspects are not applicable in their local context. A VGFN Director indicated that the First Nation has opted not to complete the workbook as they do not receive funding under an Alternative Funding Agreement and they see no advantage in it.

Subsequent to the new policy directives in 1996, new reporting requirements were also put forward for First Nations receiving funding from Comprehensive Funding Arrangements and Financial Transfer Agreements, the source of VGFN basic funding. The Department of Indian Affairs describes these agreements as:

funding mechanisms which define minimum standards for a local accountability framework in order to transfer increased authority to First Nations over program design and delivery and the management of funds. (INAC, 2000a:7).

Again, the standards for local accountability are set forth by DIA.

Pursuant to the terms of the latter Agreements, a 260-page First Nations National Reporting Guide with an accompanying 71-page reference guide for filling in the reports contained in it was provided to ensure the "minimum standards" are achieved. The number of reports is huge. Under Education, for example, VGFN is required to submit eight annual reports:

Nominal Roll Student Census Report Annual Certification of Teachers and Curriculum Provincial-Territorial Education Services Report Graduation reports Register of PSE/Summary Total of PSE funded Students Indian Studies Support Program (ISSP) Cultural Education Annual Activity Report (INAC, 2000:10)

Each of these reports itself consists of a plethora of specific details relating to gender, residence, accommodation, year of study, length of program, and on and on. DIA asks for the reports so that it may include the results in its comparative database for all First Nations across the country (INAC, 2000). From this, the Department plans to assess progress in terms of decreased social welfare, improved housing conditions, increased education levels, and so on. The assumption is that all First Nations are comparable. As Depew (1994:i) notes in his comprehensive report to the Department of Indian Affairs, such is not the case:

comparison of First Nations at these levels [political cultures and associated aspects of group formation and social organization] draw attention to significant differences and similarities in the ways institutional authority, legitimacy and accountability are conceptualized, structured and practiced.

The hierarchical form of accountability may be practical in a long-distance relationship such as between DIA and VGFN, where there is a historical lack of trust and a lack of knowledge of the capabilities of the "other". However, as mentioned, the hierarchical reporting system has been instituted as if it is the appropriate process at the local level as well. As far as VGFN is concerned, the reports are not used at all. Only the accounting department sees the reports submitted to DIA, and the staff indicated to me that they felt they are an onerous waste of time. A review by the Auditor General's Office in 2001 echoed this view. It revealed that of the 168 reports required from each First Nation annually, many are not completed, and many are redundant. Auditor-General Sheila Fraser's 2002 report states that:

..reporting requirements must be overhauled so that they support meaningful accountability and serve the real needs of First Nation Communities and government. (Auditor-General, 2002).

While Fraser has been critical of the way the Department of Indian Affairs has handled accountability when it comes to First Nations, the Department itself has, as of 2004, made no changes to reporting requirements. A First Nation Finance Director attending a meeting for First Nations in the Yukon in the winter of 2004 told me that attendees were informed that if reports for certain funding arrangements are not submitted on time, their funding will be withheld.

It is noteworthy that while the Department of Indian Affairs requires financial accountability from First Nations by way of an annual audit as a term of their funding agreements, there is no requirement that DIA's compliance with the terms and conditions of the agreement be verified. Fraser is critical of the Department's position that, in relation to land claim agreements, its "only responsibility should be fulfilling specific [legal] obligations" (Auditor-General, 2004). Non-financial obligations and accountability to the "other" in theoretical terms, apparently do not fit into the structurally oriented models of managerial, hierarchical accountability that characterize the Department.

Differing perceptions

The DIA position does not go unchallenged either by First Nations or by some

members of Parliament. As an example, Hansard recorded an exchange regarding a 2001

motion in the House of Commons. The motion by Mr. Phillip Mayfield (Cariboo-

Chilcotin, Canadian Alliance) requested:

That the government stipulate that in all financial transfer arrangements between the Federal Government and individual Indian Bands...that the use of any public funds be publicly reported and accurately audited. (Government of Canada, 2001:1620).

In discussion, Mr. Rick Laliberte (Churchill River, Liberal), who is Cree, said that, "The motion does not address the plight of aboriginal peoples. It only addresses the problem the minister has accounting to the treasury of the country." (Government of Canada,

2001:1640). He went further to say:

Accountability can go both ways. It is a double edged sword. If the treaties and their spirit of intent were to share the land, in light of a handful of funds for housing, for medicine and for education, these funds are now being allocated because of the land that was transferred. If aboriginal people want to look at the accountability of finances they can look at the accountability of the lands and the management of their resources.

Laliberte is referring to monies that were paid to Indian peoples pursuant to signing treaties in the 1800s and early 1900s. The monies were meant to go towards programs such as housing, health, and education, in exchange for surrender of land. To Aboriginal people, he says, accountability for the monies is really an accountability for the disposition of the land and its resources rather than to a record of the account to which the dollars are allocated. Laliberte presents a view similar to that propounded by Chwastiak (1999), who is critical of the concept of accountability being addressed only in the terms of the dominant party; that is, financial terms. Laliberte and Chwastiak argue

that accountability should be rendered in terms of what is important to the "other" - in

Laliberte's case, the land and resources.

In the same Parliamentary discussion, Mr. Guy St-Julien (Abitibi-Baie James -

Nunavik, Liberal) points out that:

There will always be audits. Hon. members are aware that the government always has access to the books, will always be on top of things and will always know exactly what is going on in the communities.......What needs to be addressed above all is the quality of life, improving housing and health in order to improve the present situation in the aboriginal communities (Government of Canada, 2001:1735).

St-Julien alludes to the importance of other forms of accountability that consider social

and spiritual matters, upon which First Nations ideology and implicitly, their health and

well-being, are based. Nonetheless, the Mayfield motion was passed, with no evident

follow-up of points raised in the discussion.

The House debate highlights the continuing paternalistic attitude towards First

Nations by some of the members. Mr Reed Elley (Nanaimo-Cowichan, Canadian

Alliance), for example comments on:

the work that lies before us in terms of *bringing aboriginal people* into some sense of sustainability and economic development, *giving them* a sense of selfworth and *bringing them into* the Canadian family in every way possible (Government of Canada, 2001:1655). (emphasis added)

To this individual it is still a job of the paternalistic government to "give" First Nations an identity and "bring them into" its dominant family.

It is not only the federal government that has shown paternalism towards

Aboriginal people. In the Yukon, the Territorial government has exhibited a similar

attitude in the area of resource management.

Resource management

Although DIA manages all lands and water resources in the Yukon, by an amendment to the 1898 Yukon Act⁷ in 1900, the Yukon Territorial Government was granted legislative powers to "make ordinances for the preservation of game in the Yukon Territory" (Statutes of Canada: 1900, c34:1). In 1901 a Game Ordinance was enacted, establishing various laws relating to bag limits and hunting areas, from which Indian people were exempt. In 1920, changes to the Game Ordinance made the prohibitions and penalty provisions apply to Indians (McCandless, 1985). In his historical study of Yukon game laws in the first half of the 20th century, McCandless notes that the population of the Yukon between 1921 and 1941 increased only 10% and was composed of a fairly equal balance of native and non-native people. He notes that enforcement of the game laws continued to rest with the federal police, but practically speaking, hunters were basically left alone:

both the Indian and non Indian communities regarded the wildlife resources as virtually without limit and drew from the resource with a confidence borne from decades of use. The overall attitude was complacent. It was a poor one for the coming decade [1940s] (McCandless, 1985:40).

The "coming decade" was the one during which the Alaska Highway was opened up, the 1940s.

The highway provided new, ready access to the territory and between 1941 and 1951, the population of the Yukon doubled as white business people moved in. With them came the attitudes that had come to prevail in other parts of the country that game

⁷ The Yukon Territory Act (1898) recognized the Yukon as a separate territory within Canada and established a government structure. However, all members of the government were appointed by the federal government, which retained jurisdiction over all but minor administrative matters. Under provisions of the Act, any ordinances passed by the Yukon government, for example, could be disallowed by the federal government.

are objects for sport and, to a lesser extent, utility (McCandless, 1985). Game legislation and the selling of licenses had endowed provincial governments with the roles of both gamekeeper and vendor of hunting rights.

By 1945, the Yukon Fish and Game Association was organized by a group of recent arrivals. At their instigation, new game laws consistent with those in their home provinces were introduced. McCandless (1985:49) writes of the effect of the new organization in the territory:

A general antipathy towards Indians and traditional game use appeared. New attitudes included seemingly irrational hatred of wolves, a desire to import Alberta animals such as elk and bison into the Yukon, reductions in bag limits, increased enforcement, and finally, endorsing for a licensing system for big game hunting which prevents Indians from participating as managers.

Once again, the ideology of First Nations and values associated with their relationship with animals and the land were ignored as the territorial government, in this case, imposed its authority on them. In the government's eyes - the eyes of the law - wildlife became detached from any local understanding of varieties, abundance or ecological patterns. While the relationship in the Yukon between non-Natives and Natives prior to the 1940s has been described as "more symbiotic than parasitic or exploitative", that changed as the non-Native population increased and the federal and territorial governments took over more authority in the Yukon (McCandless, 1985:151).

The approach to wildlife management in both the territorial and federal levels of government is based on an ideology of profit maximization and rational decision-making. It is of a "scientific" nature, based on linear descriptions of reality at certain points in time. As Nadasdy (2000:118) notes, to biologists, animals are "objects of study" that can be understood by quantitative analysis. A study conducted in 1989 by the Yukon Territorial government Renewable Resources department of the muskrat population in the Old Crow Flats area illustrates the approach. The study represents biological and economic perspectives on how "to generate the maximum remuneration per unit effort and unit cost as well as to ensure a continued harvestable muskrat population" (Simpson, 1989:38). It consists of numerical counts of sightings of the animals in different areas and intrusive examinations of the reproductive systems of both male and female animals to determine their reproductive status. In First Nations terms, as described in Chapter 5, such examinations are clearly disrespectful of the muskrats.

In the end, the recommendations of the study are that trapping should be done in the spring and muskrat "pushups" or house-like mounds should be marked in the fall. These are practices the Vuntut Gwitchin have followed since storytelling began. Thirdly, the study recommends that, "All trappers in Old Crow should be encourage [sic] to participate in the trapper education programs offered by the Yukon Trappers Association and the Government of the Yukon" (Simpson, 1989:38). Given that trapping has represented the livelihood of many Vuntut Gwitchin for much of the past century and prior, it is, at the least, paternalistic to suggest that they travel over 860 kilometers to the city to take a white man's course about it.

The territorial government attempts to promote efficiency and effectiveness in the area of resource management. However, it does so in its own terms. Practical and cultural factors significant to the Vuntut Gwitchin are observed by the researchers, but they are not considered in the final analysis. The authors of the muskrat study note:

the Chief said that there would always be trappers going to the Flats even if the market for the pelts disappeared. This certainly suggest that spring ratting is more important for social and culture reason (sic) than for economic gains (Simpson, 1989:37).

But a few paragraphs later, the study makes recommendations as to how to maximize profit per unit effort, ignoring the cultural observation. In perpetuating the paternalistic attitude towards the Vuntut Gwitchin, the territorial government at the same time ignores the relevance and importance of the First Nation forms of accountability towards the land and its resources and to future generations.

Continuing paternalism

While DIA has come a long way from completely dominating the Indian "childlike" wards of the state, its systems and value sets continue to be imposed upon First Nations. On a financial level, DIA has broadened its mandate of accountability. However, it still considers the concept of accountability only in terms of Roberts' (1991) hierarchical form. The Auditors-General over the years have increasingly acknowledged that this form may not be the most appropriate for a First Nation, yet the suggestions for improved accountability at the Department level continue to rely on ever more onerous procedural rules and controls. The Indian Act itself has not changed since 1985; the official basis of federal policy towards status Indians has also not changed.

There is continuing paternalism within the federal government in Ottawa as well as in the Yukon Territorial government, as evidenced by the continuing misunderstanding of the significance of cultural difference exemplified in the House of Commons debate and in the muskrat study. I discuss present day attitudes and practices of local Yukon DIA authorities and employees in Chapter 8. In the next Chapter, I look at changes and transitions within the Vuntut Gwitchin in connection with government influence from directives and policies discussed in this chapter. Government influence has come to shape many First Nation practices whether, as Depew (1994) suggests, it be through cooption, lack of known alternatives, or other factors. However, the philosophical underpinnings of those practices have not necessarily been transferred.

Chapter 7: Effects of government influence on Vuntut structures and systems

Federal Indian policies described in the last chapter were developed initially to direct the affairs of First Nations in southern parts of Canada. The Yukon officially became part of the Dominion in 1870 under the Rupert's Land Act, and at that time the policies and directives of the federal government were in theory extended to those living in the territory. The remote location and scattered settlement prevented federal government policies and federal agents from having significant influence in the Old Crow area until after World War II.

The first Royal Canadian Northwest Mounted Police (later RCMP) post was established at Rampart House, west of Old Crow on the Porcupine River, in 1913. It was relocated to Old Crow in 1928. The official aims of police patrols at that time were primarily to check the health and well-being of people on Crown lands and to ensure compliance with game regulations (Dobrowolsky, 1995). As far as other government agencies were concerned, while they presumably visited occasionally, their presence was not felt significantly. One elder still living in Old Crow said:

In the 1930s and 1940s we don't know anything about government. We trap and sell the furs to get supplies. At that time people took good care of the land and they did not abuse the animals (Edith Josie, interview in Sherry & VGFN, 1999:159).

The building of the Alaska Highway during the 1940s literally opened up access to the Yukon Territory from southern Canada. Institutions of the federal government and of white businessmen began to move north, and their influence on Yukon Indians, including the Vuntut Gwitchin, increased. In this chapter, I look at some of the changes that have taken place among the Vuntut Gwitchin since that time. I rely on a review of ethnographic studies relating to the Old Crow area conducted in the 1960s and 1970s, as

well as more recent VGFN documents and my own observations. As the focus of the ethnographies was not on accountability per se, I have had to interpret that aspect of the lives and lifestyles from the information recorded by the researchers.

Changing economy in Old Crow

Fur traders, predominantly the Hudson's Bay Company, had provided the source for materials and supplies upon which the Vuntut Gwitchin became dependent during the fur trade. As the fur industry declined, the survival of the Vuntut Gwitchin, as of other First Nations, was jeopardized. As discussed in Chapter 5, they were no longer able to harvest enough furs to provide the supplies they needed, but at the same time, their subsistence patterns had been compromised. Federal programming relating to Yukon Indians took a dramatic shift after World War II. The Family Allowance was introduced in 1944 and relief payments relating to medical and welfare programs were made available (Coates, 1988). Initially, there was no reciprocal obligation or accountability required of First Nation recipients to provide anything in exchange, either in goods or services, for the federal monies received. To qualify for the Mothers' Allowance, Indian mothers had only to be resident in Canada and have children under sixteen years of age. Only in the 1950s did a requirement that children attend school begin to be monitored (Coates, 1988). Other forms of relief do not appear to have been associated with such an accountability.

From the First Nation perspective, Balikci (1963:104) observed during his nine week stay in Old Crow in 1961 that to the people, "government relief is an endless source of getting something for nothing", and "there is a general feeling that they shouldn't work

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

too hard, since the possibility always exists of getting relief" (p.106). This is a variation of the philosophy noted earlier by fur traders, that Indian trappers saw no need to work more than necessary to meet their needs. Financial accountability, in any form, was not evident.

As government institutions moved into place in the town of Old Crow in the 1950s, the economy began to change dramatically. Increased labour opportunities occurred from building and maintaining houses and other government structures. Just as cash money became increasingly forthcoming to the Vuntut Gwitchin from both government assistance and wage labour, the fur market dropped significantly. Hunting and trapping declined and dependence on government assistance grew (Acheson, 1977). An increased individualism occurred as the "individual became more of a basic unit of society, and his labour became marketable" (Pierce, 1988:155). Money was received on an individual basis and, according to Balikci's (1963) observations, was considered to be personally owned. Balikci (1963:193) noted that while moose meat, and on occasion caribou, was still shared in the traditional manner:

> trapping and logging were conducted by single individuals. They are always considered as strictly cash-procuring rather than subsistence activities; and the income is treated as personal property never to be shared with others.

Consumption of, and desire for, imported goods such as manufactured clothing, house furnishings and supplies, hardware, and so on, also increased, as their availability had risen dramatically with improved access from the outside (Kassi, 1987).

Actual cash transactions were rare well into the 1960s in Old Crow; government and fur trade income simply involved bookkeeping activities at the store where all monies were received and all supplies were sold (Balikci, 1963:103). Cash at that time

was required only for personal activities. If an individual had extra money in his or her account, he or she would purchase "prestige" items such as boats, motors, power saws, and the like. My general observations have been that while such items are privately owned, they are generously shared with others. In terms of saving money, Balikci (1963:103) observed that "people did not work in order to become 'rich' and to see a bank account grow...systematic work in order to save money and increase one's standard of life is extremely rare." While the Vuntut Gwitchin have always been concerned about providing for, and being accountable to, future generations, the mechanism of saving money in order to provide such accountability is not a traditional concept to them. By contrast, saving money to meet budgetary expectations and allow for future contingencies *is* typical of a hierarchical form of accountability in mainstream western society.

Schooling

One method through which the government tried to inculcate western culture into First Nations was through residential schools. The education system was one of the cornerstones of the Indian policy of assimilation (Tobias, 1983), and it did reach the Yukon in the first half of the century. Its purpose was to actively rid Native students of the meaning of traditional and familiar customs, beliefs, and other cultural ideologies. It aimed to produce a "well educated Canadian citizen equipped with attitudes and intellectual skills that enable him to function within the larger society" (King, 1967:ix). During the 1930s and 1940s, children from Old Crow were removed from their homes and sent to a residential school in Carcross, in the southern Yukon. Richard King, who was a teacher at the school in the 1960s, observed that removal such as that of the Old

Crow children disrupted relationships within families and the community. He noted that generally, the physical distance took away the opportunity for children to know their families very well, and it took away opportunities for children to learn about traditional customs and ideologies from their parents and elders (King, 1967). Also, all schooling was done in English, and children were punished for speaking their own language.

A school was established in Old Crow in 1950, and at that time, children in the higher grades were transferred to a school in Inuvik (Kassi, 1987). These schools, too, were run by English speaking teachers and continued to undermine passing on of the culture to some degree. Children going to Inuvik were physically removed from the opportunity to go out and help in traditional land-based hunting and trapping pursuits. To enable attendance at the local school, families moved into the community on a year-round basis, inhibiting their ability to go out in pursuit of subsistence activities (Balikci, 1963). Acheson (1977) observed that the existence of a much larger permanent communal group than previously meant that interdependence across the entire community was much more difficult. While strong ties and accountabilities within families continued, there were now numerous different family groupings living within one community, and they did not all have such strong ties with each other. Inter-family "politics" began to creep into the picture, as I discuss below.

Loss of language, loss of identity

Gradually, through the loss of the language among the youth, the increased individualism, and the lessened need and opportunity for traditional pursuits in the eyes of the community, activities associated with traditional cultural identity of the Vuntut

Gwitchin declined. A resolution at the General Assembly in 2004 stated that, "the Gwitchin language is the foundation of our culture and our identity" (VGFN, 2004). The resolution went on to single out the loss of the common traditional language as a significant factor in the loss of Gwitchin identity. Today the majority of citizens, apart from elders, speak very few words of the Gwich'in language: there were only two people that were identified to me in the community, other than elders, as being fluent in Gwich'in. As I discuss in Chapter 10, the General Assembly resolution calls for Chief and Council to encourage use of the language at home, and the VGFN telephone is now answered in both languages (VGFN, 2004).

In the 1980s and 1990s then, to the extent that a Vuntut Gwitchin sense of accountability was intertwined with identity, indigenous forms of accountability were also eroded. Oral tradition and mutual interdependence, which had formed cornerstones of the social accountability typical of traditional Vuntut Gwitchin lifestyle, as described in Chapter 5, declined. There was less need to go out on the land, cash in hand, and less feeling of mutual accountability with other members of the community. People in Old Crow, as in other Yukon First Nations, turned to alcohol, and during the 1960s, alcohol began to take its toll on the community (Kassi, 1987). Unemployment was very high and violence increased. People had become dependent on government payments that they assumed would always be forthcoming, but at the same time, those payments allowed citizens to lead a lifestyle of apathy and idleness. Cruikshank (1975) identified a similar pattern in the southern Yukon as a vicious cycle.

Ann Acheson (1977) argues that the structure of the community also changed. She notes that since their arrival in Old Crow, agents of the federal government controlled the selection of teachers, nurses, police, and ministers, and the way in which they carried out their activities. The structure of the First Nation became one of specialization and compartmentalization of behaviours and activities. Acheson observes that spiritual activities, political activities, education and medical treatment, for example, are officially carried out by completely separate entities in Old Crow now: the Church, Chief and Council, schoolteachers, the nurse. Before government influence took hold, the functions were interconnected through the process of maintaining a balance across all things. Spiritual and educational activities, for example, occurred simultaneously in the course of the subsistence life of living with the land and its resources; decision-making was made through mutual cooperation among people within groups (Acheson, 1977). With the separation of activities, Acheson observes that interconnections became less obvious, and social distance grew. Interactions among people started to be associated with separate activities. Thus, certain activities and certain individual relationships took on more importance than others. Maintaining a balance became much more difficult.

During the 1970s, an awareness began to grow among the Vuntut Gwitchin that their new lifestyle contained serious problems with which they had to deal (Kassi, 1987). By the early 1990s a prohibition against alcohol was instituted by community resolution, and it is still in effect. Several people told me that while there is still a substance abuse problem within the community, in their view it is a fraction of what it used to be. With fewer opportunities to drink and more free time, men have turned more to follow traditional pursuits, and there has been an increased effort to organize community events and recreation programs. The community came together in the 1970s to testify at an inquiry into a proposal to run a gas pipeline through their traditional territory. Berger (1988:62), who conducted the inquiry, explained, "virtually everyone, man and woman, young and old, spoke and they spoke with one voice", in opposition to the pipeline. In fact, eighty-one individuals from the village of two-hundred-and-eighty testified. There was clearly a common, underlying vision and mutual understanding of the issue at hand. The people showed a united accountability to their land and their culture (Berger, 1988).

First Nation organization

Another aspect of community life that has changed considerably since the 1920s is in the area of leadership and political organization. Erosion of both the role of various traditional types of leaders and the interdependence of individuals within communities began with the fur trade and missionary activity, as mentioned earlier. The federal government system of band organization had an even greater impact. The Indian Act of 1876 had legislated that band membership be designated by the Minister and that a system of elected officials be introduced whenever the superintendent of Indian Affairs "thought a band was ready for it" (Tobias, 1983:46). In Old Crow, the first elected Chief and Council were instated in 1920. However, as mentioned in Chapter 5, there was no Indian agent resident in the territory after 1933, and the Chief and Council in Old Crow had little interaction with DIA.

Until the 1950s the community had continued to lead a lifestyle of fur-trading and subsistence. At that time, the RCMP constable became the Indian agent in the village. His role went from simply recording game statistics and ensuring the safety of hunters

and trappers to making most of the decisions for the community. Indian Affairs passed their information through him. He was also charged with distributing government relief payments, supervising projects initiated by Indian Affairs, and making payments related to those projects (Balikci, 1963:72). There was no delineation even in more recent Indian Acts of Chief and Council's fiduciary duties, responsibilities, or accountability mechanisms, or even a definition of the relationship between Council and the Band membership. By the 1960s in Old Crow, the constable was making decisions concerning financial allocations, social programs, housing, education, and more. Chief and Council were deemed by the federal government to be the authoritative decision-making body, but in fact it was white officials and advisors who actually ran the formal aspects of the legal Band for many years. By the late 1960s in Old Crow, one anthropologist living in the area observed that there were "literally no community-level concerns …that are not in some way touched by the White world" (Acheson, 1977:193).

Practically speaking, Chief and Council were generally ill-equipped to perform most of the administrative tasks involved in running the band organization. One Vuntut Gwitchin citizen said to me about Chief and Council prior to self-governance, "how would they know anything, they had no experience". They were simply local citizens who won a popular vote. Another Gwitchin speaker told a researcher that in the 1960s and 1970s, "we had no respect for our Chief and Council, they were no longer our leaders, they were just people walking around with briefcases trying to become white people" (cited in Sauve, 1997:66).

The situation did not change in VGFN until the late 1990s, after self-governance had come into effect. A consultant who acted as Band manager for VGFN in the mid

1990s told me that he, as acting finance director at that time, prepared budgets, for example, with "little input from Chief and Council...mainly because they didn't understand the process." He indicated that the budget was not used for decision-making by Chief and Council for the same reason. Nor did it represent a mechanism of accountability within VGFN. Rather, it was used as a basis for funding calculation by DIA. The funding process was such that DIA would initially withhold 10 to 15% of the budget, and at the end of the year it would compare reported expenditures to the budgeted amounts. According to the former manager, if there was a significant discrepancy, it was dealt with by the government either keeping the holdback or supplementing deficits with further funds. The ensuing year's budget, according to my observations of systems in other First Nations in the 1980s and the Old Crow manager's observations in the early 1990s, was adjusted to reflect the prior year's actual. While the mechanism of comparison to budget was in place, it was conducted by DIA, and there were no significant ramifications to the Band for variances. Thus, budgets were virtually nonfunctional as an accountability tool. Accountability within the First Nation was nevertheless equated with financial accountability to the federal government through the form of audited financial statements.

Problems with elected system of government

One of the problems with the elective system of government in First Nation communities such as the Vuntut Gwitchin is that family allegiances and alliances that traditionally formed the basis of the most significant accountability relationships continue to prevail. Election results are often extremely close, as families are set against families.
Typically, the elected winner remains accountable first and foremost to his or her own family, and only secondarily to the entire community. A common complaint that I have heard in communities is that the family of the elected official becomes the "haves" and other families are the "have-nots", at least until the next election. Nepotism and favouritism have been cited as the cause of much of the perceived or real "corruption" reported within many First Nations across the country. Inquiries such as that of the Samson Cree Nation (1998) exemplify this. But it is not a surprising consequence of the coming together into one community of a number of different family groupings, each of which has historically been mutually interdependent and accountable within itself. VGFN has exhibited such divisiveness; even in the past two elections, results show that the Chief won by two and five votes respectively (VGFN, 2004c). Since VGFN has settled land claims and become self-governing, many aspects of the First Nation organization have begun to change, however.

Self-government

The Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation Self-Government Agreement (VGFNSA) was signed in 1993 and ratified in 1995. It is an agreement among VGFN, the Government of Canada, and the Government of the Yukon which gives VGFN exclusive legislative power over all management and administration of VGFN affairs, programs, and services (VGFNSA, 1993:15). Separate departments were set up by VGFN in the 1990s for housing, education, natural resources, and social services. The structure is hierarchical, with Councillors being Directors of the portfolios. A system of controls and accountability procedures consistent with those of the federal government were put into

place by a new Finance Director brought in from Whitehorse: checks and balances, rules and procedures for payment authorizations, and the like.

A Constitution was written pursuant to the VGFNSA which, among other things, divides the powers of the VGFN government into four branches: the Chief and Council, the General Assembly, the Elders Council, and the Tribal Court. While resolutions are passed by the General Assembly, Chief and Council still carry out most of the day-to-day decisions, many in consultation with outside experts. The mandates of Chief and Council are significant compared to what they were prior to self-governance:

- The Chief and Council shall have and may exercise all the legal capacity, rights powers and privileges of the Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation as a legal entity and in accordance with the Constitution, may authorize the doing of such things as it may deem conducive to the exercise of such rights, powers, and privileges in the best interest of the Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation.
- The Chief and Council may enact such laws as it deems conducive to the general welfare and good government of the Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation. All laws enacted by the Chief and Council shall be consistent with the objects in the Constitution and the policy and guidelines established from time to time by the General Assembly. The Chief and Council shall establish, by law, after not less than 30 days written notice in advance, a general procedure for the enactment of laws. (VGFN, 2004a)

Outside expertise

Even though it is now legally self-governing, the First Nation is still an entity created in the image of the federal government, effectively analogous to another department. The implied assumption is that the structures and systems therein are meaningful and effective in the First Nation context. But while the First Nation became "self-governing" overnight, and immediately responsible and accountable for its own money, there was not a corresponding overnight change in the expertise within the community. It is not surprising that the First Nation has relied heavily on independent non-Aboriginal advisers to learn about organizational structures and systems and to obtain advise on investment decisions, among many other things.

During the course of my field work I met and spoke with six different consultants to VGFN, all of whom are trained in mainstream institutions and work largely in non-Aboriginal contexts. In my observation, the influence of those outside consultants has only served to further instil the western, hierarchical sense of accountability in the First Nation. My discussions with them indicate that financial. hierarchical accountability are their main consideration. One VGFN Director told me of a seminar that an outsider gave to the First Nation administration on "accountability". The Director subsequently placed some notes on the wall regarding accountability that included "responsibility", "taking ownership" and "reporting". The seminar was clearly based on an ideology of individualism and hierarchical structure.

Chief and Council indicated to me that they are anxious to comply with the accountability requirements of DIA in order to provide what they see as legitimacy to their citizens, as well as to outside agencies. It is the hierarchical form of accountability that they are mainly coming to associate with in terms of the First Nation organization. Yet I would argue that neither Chief and Council nor local citizens have wholly embraced financial reports and hierarchical forms of accountability as the most appropriate for the community. There is presently a variety of overlapping manifestations of hierarchical, spiritual, and social forms of accountability at play within the First Nation. I leave a detailed discussion of these until Chapter 9. Suffice now to say that there is an

inconsistency between the practices espoused within the new form of government and the practical manifestations and understandings within the First Nation.

Resource management

The VGFN Final Agreement (VGFNFA), relating to settlement of land claims was also signed in 1993 and ratified in 1995. It has brought a new light to the area of resource management for the First Nation. Under the terms of the agreement, Vuntut National Park, the Fishing Branch Ecological Reserve and the Old Crow Special Management Areas were established (VGFNFA, 1993:10.3.2.1;10.3.2.2;10.3.2.3). The three areas and the remainder of Vuntut Gwitchin traditional territory are subject to separate planning programs, each of which is in the form of a partnership between VGFN and one or more of Parks Canada, Yukon Territorial Government or the Canadian Wildlife Service. Management agreements were established for each area on the basis of considerable input from the community, and elders in particular: numerous meetings and open forums were held in Old Crow at which many elders presented their traditional knowledge and opinions (North Yukon Fish and Wildlife Management Plan, 2003). There is ongoing participation in all the agreements through a Renewable Resource Council of which, in accordance with the terms of the VGFNFA, at least one half of the members are VGFN nominees (VGFNFA, 1993:16.6.2). The Council has been responsible, for example, for sending out a community questionnaire that is designed on the basis of "household interviews and a public meeting" that it conducted and organized (NYFWMP, 2003:1).

While there is considerable input into the planning process from the community, ultimate responsibility and authority over most aspects of resource management still rests with the territorial and federal governments. In the Vuntut National Park Draft Management Plan, for example, "Parks Canada is responsible for matters related to planning, development and management associated with the Park and the protection of Vuntut Gwitchin rights in the Park" (Parks Canada, 2002:8). VGFN's role is to administer their own citizens' activities within the area. There is an internal accountability within VGFN which, as I discuss in Chapter 9, is mainly carried out through socializing forms.

Unintended consequences

After World War II the federal government exercised control from a distance over Yukon First Nations, intending to assimilate them into the dominant society through imposition of new forms of local government organizations, financial and administrative systems, and through the indoctrination of children. Typical of colonial policy, the initial intent was not only to maintain economic and political control over people and the land, but also to dominate and subjugate their ideological practices and beliefs (Prasad, 2003). While federal Indian policy has changed over the years, and VGFN has been selfgoverning since 1995, a residual of those colonial practices and policies within the community still exists. As Neu & Heincke (2004) suggest happens with the imposition of colonialism, there were unintentional consequences.

The distribution of social assistance and other federal monies to the people of Old Crow created a dependency on the government that carried with it no apparent reciprocal accountability towards the funding agency. A guaranteed cash income decreased the necessity to hunt and trap and it decreased the mutual interdependence that typifies a subsistence lifestyle (Balikci, 1963). The federal government systems reduced the need for traditional ideologies of accountability by undermining traditional leadership roles and decision-making processes. Compartmentalization of activities and systems within the community created social distance and decreased the need for mutual accountability. At the same time, residential schools prohibited children from understanding their own identity and ideological heritage. Thus, while traditional ideologies of accountability were minimized, for most people no replacement model was introduced. The financial accountability expected by the federal government was understood – and perhaps not well - only by those few who were dealing directly with federal officials. The rest of the community was left with a diminished sense of self-identity or accountability.

As Aboriginal awareness and empowerment increase, and as the relationship between the federal government and the First Nation evolves, the issue of accountability is becoming more complex and more challenging. Responsibility for programs has been devolved to VGFN, as to other First Nations, and accountability at the local community level has become more important. Under the present system, there is increasingly a dual responsibility on the part of Chief and Council. They are required to meet the terms and objectives of the funding agencies such as the federal government, and at the same time, to meet the needs and objectives of the community and to carry out the directives of the General Assembly. The two levels of accountability have become integrally connected, in that the accountability of activities and decisions required by the federal government are ultimately the result of processes of accountability at the local level. However, at the local level, "accountability" is a confusing concept. The hierarchical forms of accountability that have been introduced have not been fully embraced, but there seems to be little opportunity for recognition of "socializing" or even "spiritual" forms.

There is a strong movement in the community now to regain cultural identity, values and traditions that are perceived to have been lost due to the influence of the federal government. These include recovery of the Gwich'in language and a renewed accountability to the land, to future generations, and to each other. The next two chapters highlight misunderstandings in expectations of accountability between federal government representatives and local VGFN members, and indicate the extent of cultural ideologies of yesteryear that still exist in the minds of all participants.

Chapter 8: Attitudes, actions and thoughts of today – federal and territorial governments

As I have described in previous chapters, ideologies of accountability of the Department of Indian Affairs/Yukon Territorial Government historically differed in values and priorities from those of the Vuntut Gwitchin. In both spheres, there is now a degree of recognition of difference in the two cultures, and there has been a certain amount of cross-over of practices and systems. But still, the integrity of ideologies at the local level, both within the larger governments and in the First Nation community, has to some degree been sustained.

In this chapter I look at current attitudes and perspectives within the DIA both in Whitehorse and in Ottawa, with regard to "accountability" and cross-cultural understanding; that is, understanding of the "other". In Chapter 9, I look at corresponding attitudes and perspectives of VGFN citizens. Much of the work in both chapters is based on interviews, conversations and interactions with various individuals, who spoke with me frankly. Because of the sensitivity of First Nation/ government relations, I have chosen not to identify participants, to protect existing and future relationships and personal reputations. The exception is direct quotations from publicly broadcast video recordings or published documents.

Lack of accountability

Government representatives consistently spoke about Yukon First Nations in a collective sense. Two basic themes emerged: 1) the importance of financial, hierarchical forms of accountability, as I have outlined them in chapter 2, and 2) the lack of capacity

and education of First Nations as a reason for their lack of "accountability" as defined by the federal government. As one manager said:

typically First Nations are becoming more accountable....agreeing to completing reports, sending them in on a timely basis.....it's also subject to how well educated and aware the specific people are in the various programs where they are reporting.

He added that First Nations are usually willing to participate in the reporting process but lack the "degree of understanding of the importance of the required information or how to do it".

This manager equates accountability with completing reports and submitting them on time, exemplifying what I have described as hierarchical accountability. There is a moral dimension to his sense of accountability, encompassed by the social statistics that comprise a large part of the reports. Accounts of education attendance, number of individuals attending social programs, employment statistics, for example, represent accountability relating to the social issues and needs of the First Nations. DIA intends to use statistics to assess the "improvement" in social as well as economic conditions both within the First Nations from year to year and across First Nations nationally (DIAND, 1997). Such comparisons are not particularly helpful to the First Nations themselves. The forms are completed, but VGFN representatives tell me that they "barely look at them". When the DIA manager notes that First Nations are "agreeing" to complete the forms, he is implying that, in his view, they see the reports as a legitimate form of "accountability". However, as I noted earlier, the First Nations have been instructed that if they do not complete the forms in a timely manner, some funding sources will be cut off. The reporting process thus still amounts to enforced compliance with federal government requirements. It is a form of hierarchical accountability that requires the

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

expectations of the "superior" government to be met. Even the "moral dimension" of accountability is addressed through hierarchical mechanisms.

In lamenting the lack of education among First Nations, the DIA manager is really lamenting the lack of education in DIA's ways of reporting. His comment that First Nations "do not understand the degree of importance" of the information really means that they do not understand the degree of importance to him and his department. He does not consider that either the reports or the reporting process may *lack* importance or relevance for First Nations themselves. Indeed, as I discuss in the next chapter, such is the case. It is such persistent blinkers on the part of DIA representatives that precipitated Auditor-General Sheila Fraser's remarks (Chapter 4) that reporting requirements must be overhauled so as to be more meaningful to First Nations and to better serve their needs. Fraser first made the comments in 2002, and she reiterated them in a public meeting in Whitehorse in August 2004, a very public acknowledgement of the cultural differences in meaning. Yet, there has been no apparent change at the local DIA level: as of fall 2004, according to one DIA representative, the existing reporting systems are still treated as if they are necessary and sufficient.

Local DIA

An individual involved in renegotiation of a First Nation Financial Transfer Agreement (FTA) told me of the disparity that he perceives between local and Ottawa DIA representatives. There are presently two separate sets of negotiations taking place, one with local officials relating to the agreement itself; the second with Ottawa representatives, relating to an implementation plan and actual funding terms for the

agreement. The individual indicated that he felt local DIA negotiators were "very supportive" of First Nations and their requests in the negotiations, but that negotiators from DIA in Ottawa have "the old DIA attitude of being very closed, not open to new things". They have a set amount in mind and are not actually "negotiating". In his view the attitude and the "uncooperative" directives come "right from the top…the Prime Minister's office down". At a more general level, a local DIA employee said basically the same thing: federal policies and procedures are usually "driven from the top down…voted by Parliament and the Treasury Board." The employee said that First Nations are "trying to fit into those policies but wellness⁸, for example, needs to be addressed but is not provided for". She indicated that there is not a lot of autonomy at the local DIA level.

A First Nation employee of DIA said that it is her observation that there is presently a significant residual "DIA attitude" at the local level. She goes so far as to consider it to be "racist", in that she feels First Nations individuals are not given equal opportunities for advancement within the Department. She concurred that the attitude comes from the top down - that is, from Ottawa down - and that it is more noticeable when individuals from "outside" come into positions of power within the federal organization. Her view is that individuals coming from Ottawa are much less in touch with First Nation issues, particularly local issues. I raised her concerns with several non-Native individuals who work with DIA. While they did not share the view that racism exists, they did agree that directives come from Ottawa and are equated with an "old" attitude of domination, control and distance.

⁸ Community wellness was identified by both DIA representatives and VGFN members as the top priority within the First Nation. I discuss this further in Chapter 10.

Another DIA manager noted that audited financial statements represent the main "source" of accountability for First Nations both to the government and to their own citizens. However, later in the conversation, she allowed that there is generally no tool of accountability to the citizens at this point: the auditor's report "tells them nothing". (This perception was echoed by a number of Vuntut Gwitchin citizens, as I will discuss in the next Chapter.) A Chartered Accountant who performs some of the First Nations audits in the Yukon told me, in casual conversation, that in his view the purpose of the audited financial statements of self-governing First Nations is really simply to ensure that monies transferred by the government have been deposited and that transactions are recorded correctly. In his view, there is "no accountability" within the First Nation itself. He indicated in subsequent conversation that for him, as may be expected of western accountants, "accountability" embodies the ideology of hierarchical authority and controls, represented by efficiency and effectiveness in the use of money. For him, accountability comprises controls, and monitoring thereof, expenditure authorization and payments, appropriateness of expenditures relative to local government policies and constitutions, and the like. The audit represents verification of the authenticity and appropriateness of transactions. But the auditor indicated that the kinds of controls and procedures that would provide what he would call adequate "accountability" are not in place in the organizational structure and systems of the First Nation. Having said that, there must be some form of accountability at play, because the financial statements of VGFN have been given a "clean" audit opinion for a number of years. As I discuss in the next chapter, it is simply not of a strictly hierarchical form that would satisfy the auditor's understanding and expectation.

Value for money

From the perspective of several DIA managers that I spoke with, budgeting is seen as an important tool of accountability for self-governing First Nations. But those participants felt that budgets are presently not being used effectively in that First Nations "are not getting the best bang for their buck". In essence, the individuals equate accountability with value for money; with efficient and effective spending. This topic was raised a number of times by other federal and territorial government representatives. often in the context of examples. For instance, I heard stories of First Nation delegates travelling first class on airplanes and staying in first class hotels while government representatives attending the same meetings travelled economy and staved in less expensive hotels. The individuals relating the events did not think that there was malicious intent or even dishonesty involved; rather, with all the money at hand, they said, First Nations are "like kids", and spend it as they see fit at the moment. One person equated the lack of efficient spending and accountability related thereto with the practice from traditional hunter-gatherer and fur-trading days described in Chapter 5, of not keeping surpluses of supplies and not saving cash. Another individual said that he felt it is a "vestige" of the DIA model described in Chapter 6, in which an accountability of monies received was not required of First Nations by the federal government.

Other anecdotal comments made by government representatives who had worked on committees with First Nations were that financial accountability is an area that is "completely foreign" to them, that monetary issues are something that many First Nations people are not comfortable with, and that many Native people do not make a connection between amounts spent and the items on which they were spent. All of these comments exemplify a continuation of the stereotyping that existed in the 1800s (Chapter 4) of Indians being child-like and inferior. Today, they are childlike, as if to say, "they don't mean to spend money unwisely, they are just so naïve and child-like that they do", and inferior, in the presumption that because the speakers think that money has been spent unwisely, it must have been, and the First Nations do not have the sophistication to realize it.

Difference in perceptions

There are several important issues that accompany the stereotyping attitude. As discussed in Chapter 7, budgeting has always been done by non-Native managers, so the amounts in the budget may be unrelated to the real needs and priorities of the First Nation. The budget has not been used by the First Nation other than as a required report for funding arrangements, so in federal officials' terms, it is not being used effectively. This leads to the second issue, that the perception of what "getting value for money" represents to non-Native government officials may be ideologically very different from that of many VGFN members.

The main difference in perception of value for money relates to differences in priorities, or at least, differences in understandings of priorities. The view of all of the government representatives that I talked to is an economic view, as described by Shearer (2002). It relates only to the use or exchange value of particular target objects and gives

no credence to spiritual, cultural or other sources of value. For example, one DIA manager mentioned that a particular First Nation has made a decision to maintain the "cultural integrity" of its housing units; that is, to maintain the traditional one room log structures. To do so, each one must be renovated, a project that will cost far more than building completely new houses would. Given that there is only a fixed amount of money available for housing capital costs, the government official argued that the extra costs of renovating would not be an "efficient" use of money in his eyes. But to the First Nation in this case, as I discuss in Chapter 9, spending money in this way *is*, to them, value for money. To many elders and other Vuntut Gwitchin citizens, for example, value is represented by their heritage, and wealth comes from the land and their culture (Kassi & Moses, 2003; Gregg, 2003; Sydney et al, 1977). The DIA representative that I spoke with acknowledged that First Nations value systems are different but indicated that he did not really understand it.

Similarly, VGFN spends money on travelling around and lobbying United States senators to preserve the Porcupine Caribou herd. Citizens of VGFN regard caribou as part of their lives, part of their culture, spiritually as well as from a subsistence point of view, and pride in the heritage of which caribou are a central part means that maintaining the herd is a top priority (Gregg, 2003). The herd is in danger because the United States government is planning a large oil well project in the million and a half acre area in northeast Alaska that serves as the animals' calving grounds. One federal participant said to me that some would suggest the monies could be "better spent" elsewhere than travelling around the country to lobby. But the Vuntut Gwitchin have a spiritual connection and accountability to the land, the resources, their heritage and to the caribou; to them, this funding choice makes sense.

The importance of the land and the caribou represents the value system that Chwastiak (1999) envisions in her plea to invoke accountability processes that ensure an appreciation of natural resources and all that they hold outside of economic potential. While most DIA representatives acknowledge the importance of such resources to the First Nation, they continue to exemplify the self-interested economic subjects described by Shearer (2002). They have not yet infused their own understanding with the moral dimension of considering the values and needs of the "others".

I note some irony in the DIA managers' comments regarding "value for money" and "monies well spent", given that they represent the very government that is perpetually plagued by charges and reports from the Auditor-General of misuse of funds and lack of accountability in their own sense of the term. However, all of the DIA participants talked as if the perceived inefficiency on the part of First Nations is neither standard nor acceptable behaviour.

Accountability in self-government

One DIA manager noted that "accountability" has created a challenge to selfgoverning First Nations in that systems were initially set up by the federal government on a "not-for-profit" basis. Cost reductions to provide greater profits, for example, were not necessary. She says that now First Nations must get into the "mindset" of being in a business, and people must be accountable for their time and their productivity. She also notes that citizens themselves are moving away from being "entirely dependent" on DIA.

She says that when First Nations first became self-governing, citizens would phone and complain to her about not getting housing, for example. They felt that if they were not happy with the local First Nation government, DIA should step in to help them. The manager's response was to go to Chief and Council meetings and become part of the decision-making process. In practice, as I discuss in the next chapter, this is an ideal, but not very practical, solution in the context of VGFN today.

This manager acknowledges that First Nations are becoming more aware that "accountability" is an important issue in today's world. She "constantly" receives calls from First Nations asking for help in preparing budgets and setting up financial systems. However, her only frame of reference is the government model. Given the lack of practical benefits of the government-modelled budgets to First Nations, to date her help to them in this regard would seem to be a case of protracting the ineffectual. It seems that the lead may have to come from the First Nations if things are to change. Indeed, VGFN has now asked the private consultant with whom I am associated for assistance in incorporating some more "traditional" values into their systems (Chapter 10).

Still the old DIA

Even today, then, the primary mechanism of accountability considered by many DIA and non-Native individuals who work with First Nations in the Yukon takes the form of hierarchical authorities and controls and formal reports. While current Auditor-General Sheila Fraser has acknowledged that the formal reporting requirements of DIA are inappropriate, at the local level those same reports continue to comprise the core of the Department's accountability requirements. It is one thing for DIA to require such

reports for its own sense of accountability, since that is what it understands. But the Department also imposes such requirements on First Nations as a way to deal with the internal affairs of those Nations. The expectation about what the "other" should do is very much a projection of the Department's own ideologies and processes. My interviews suggest that it reflects a poor understanding of the values and priorities of First Nations. In the next chapter I describe what forms of accountability exist at the local VGFN level, what the term means to Vuntut Gwitchin citizens, and what forms of accountability they envision for their First Nation.

Chapter 9: Attitudes, actions, and thoughts of today - The Vuntut Gwitchin

In the last chapter, I discussed the views of a number of federal and territorial government representatives as to what appropriate processes of accountability entail in relation to First Nations. In this chapter I identify forms of accountability at play within VGFN that I observed in my visits, and as described by Vuntut Gwitchin citizens to me personally, to another researcher, and in two documentary videos about the First Nation. I also discuss comments and suggestions made by VGFN citizens about forms of accountability that are meaningful to them and that they would like to see in place.

Overarching spiritual accountability

The cultural heritage of the Vuntut Gwitchin people forms the basis for a continuing form of accountability within the First Nation. A responsibility to that heritage is regularly acknowledged both informally and formally, as demonstrated in a General Assembly report:

We believe that every Gwitchin person is responsible to all other Gwitchin for the survival of our culture and the values and traditions through which our people survive. Through our ancestral guidance we shall teach, live and protect our Gwitchin way. (VGFN, 2001:24)

While there is a social form of accountability among the people to each other, it is secondary to an overarching spiritual form of accountability as defined in Chapter 2: an accountability to the higher principals of cultural survival and interconnections with the land. As Chief Joe Linklater said in the locally directed video *Imprints of Our Ancestors* (Kassi & Moses, 2003), "we drink the water, we live off the land, so really, we're part of the land". Other citizens made similar comments in the video, filmed at ancestral sites in the Old Crow area: Peter Lord said that out on the land "you feel good, eat food, sleep

good and enjoy life. Out here no worries. Everything is here."; Roger Kaye said that being at an ancestral site is "very spiritual" and makes him feel proud. In his view, coming to the site that elders talk about and thinking about what they said "will help you do things right." The sentiment of such comments is exemplified by the many families who spend time "out on the land" each spring and by the constant general conversation that I heard during my visits, relating to the land and its importance to the people and the culture. The former Chief's comment, quoted in chapter 5, that even if there were no muskrat at all for furs, people would still go to Crow Flats every spring to trap muskrat, is consistent with that sentiment.

The First Nation tries to instil the spiritual importance of the land in its youth. The local school has an "elder in residence" and a program of traditional pursuits in which students are taken out to the Crow Flats trapping grounds for a few weeks in the spring. Several elders make the journey with the youth, providing spiritual guidance on how to live with the land and appreciate it, as well as practical guidance as to how to trap, skin and cook muskrat, among other things.

Accountability and resource management

Management of such land-based resources is critical to Vuntut Gwitchin life because of the spiritual value of the land in making people "feel proud" and "do things right" as Roger Kaye says, because of its importance in sustaining the cultural heritage of the Vuntut Gwitchin as described in Chapter 5, and because of the land's provision for the economic needs of the people - food, clothing, and shelter⁹. It reflects an

⁹ The Chief estimates that on average, even in 2003, each Vuntut Gwitchin family eats about two hundred and fifty meals of caribou per year.

accountability to the Creator, to the land, and to future generations. Underlying that accountability is a complex ideology of interconnected values and priorities: mutual respect and interdependence. It is a form of accountability that Chwastiak (1999) suggests is missing in the self-interested economic world.

The different approaches of the federal government and VGFN, based on their own underlying value systems, extends to resource management as well as other aspects of Vuntut Gwitchin life. As discussed in Chapter 5, for the Vuntut Gwitchin, "respect" goes beyond the practical notion of simply taking only what resources are needed and using all parts of taken animals: it includes respect for live animals. An example of such respect in the southern Yukon relates to a debate over catch-and-release fishing, which First Nations consider to be disrespectful to the feelings of the fish: playing with it, thereby humiliating it (Nadasdy, 2000:80). While most Euro-Canadian biologists and sports fishermen consider the live release practice to be a way of enhancing the fish population, it does not reflect the "respect" for all living things that continues to prevail in First Nation ideology. Respect in this sense represents a continuing form of accountability to the Creator, whose teachings require that respect.

First Nation resource management takes into account both the abundance of a resource and the individual or group need; there is an accountability to ensure sustained survival for future generations. Clock time and calendar dates served no important purpose in a subsistence lifestyle; hunting, trapping, and fishing activities were organized according to seasonal variations, and other elements of life were dependent on those activities (Nagler, 1975:22). Even today, in looking at patterns of change in particular resources, the process of how needs will be met within the context of prevailing

conditions, both in the natural environment and in the needs of the people, is emphasized. For example, the Vuntut Gwitchin have recently observed a decline in the chum salmon population. The people know from their traditional knowledge that if they continue to fish, the supply will be completely depleted. In 2003, VGFN put informal moral sanctions on fishing chum. In 2004, a community survey resulted in "unanimous support that Old Crow should voluntarily not fish Chum salmon in the 2004 fall fishing season" (VGFN, 2004b). The people know where and when the quantity of fish in the river "feels right" and they know that they must be flexible in their approach to the issue, as changing environmental conditions affect it in variable ways and at variable times. Their knowledge encompasses the precept that all things are in constant motion or flux, and must be looked at from a holistic and cyclical viewpoint.

By contrast, the ideology underlying the federal government approach to resource management, described in Chapter 6, reflects the notion that there is an objective, singular form of control that can be imposed upon all things at all times. "Scientific" approaches of non-Aboriginals are typically based on linear descriptions of reality, as exemplified in the study of biological and economic considerations of muskrat harvesting (Chapter 6).

Recently, several Vuntut Gwitchin elders pointed out to Erin Sherry, an anthropologist doing research in Old Crow, that the federal and territorial governments enforce laws, procedures, and accountability mechanisms for resource management that may conflict with their own traditional management practices and with the nature of fluctuating resource patterns (Sherry & VGFN, 1999:212). For example, hunting licenses set limits on the number of each type of game that can be killed and name the specific dates and geographical areas in which they may be hunted. These may be at odds not only with individual subsistence requirements in a particular year, but also with fluctuations in areas of animal migration or with community sanctions on particular hunting or fishing activities. VGFN is aware of the differences between its approach and that of the federal and territorial governments and is encouraging the governments to take certain actions. For example, the 2003 General Assembly passed:

a strong resolution of support for VGFN Government taking the initiative to encourage Fisheries and Oceans Canada to apply a fishing closure to the fall Chum fishery on the Porcupine river to help rebuild Chum stocks. Further VG Government was encouraged to take the lead in monitoring the closure and if necessary enforce the closure (VGFN, 2003).

Not all VGFN citizens endorse the resource management agreements signed pursuant to the VGFN Self-Government agreement. This was demonstrated in a discussion that took place at the General Assembly that I attended in 2003, regarding rights of non-Vuntut Gwitchin in one of the areas designated in an agreement as a fishing reserve. It seems that while the Vuntut Gwitchin maintain their spiritual accountability to the land and to future generations, and the various management agreements acknowledge such accountability by providing for input of traditional knowledge, it is the sovereign government of Canada that "owns" the land and its resources and that holds ultimate accountability for its protection and exploitation. Practically speaking, a combination of the forms of accountability prevail in VGFN traditional territory when it comes to resource management.

Accountability mechanisms

"Monitors" and "controls" are mechanisms that I have described as typical of hierarchical forms of accountability. But in the case of VGFN resource management, controls are applied through informal social and non-hierarchical methods. Accountability to the land is "monitored" by traditional knowledge of the level at which subsistence activities can be sustained, informal observation of damage to the environment, and so on. When negative changes are noted, such as the depletion of the supply of chum salmon, a community decision is made to adapt activities in order to remedy the situation. Sanctions for disregarding the "natural laws", those inherent codes of conduct relating to the natural world that are necessary to maintain the balance that makes survival possible, are still informal. For example, in regular VGFN newsletters and again at the General Assembly, a reminder was made for people to use all parts of any caribou they take. No names were mentioned, and there was no reprimand. The concern was expressed as an informal ethic to which adherence is expected within the community. Sanctions for breaches of the code of ethics are informal, of a social nature through local gossip; they are not hierarchically imposed by the Chief or other VGFN members.

Chief Joe Linklater said in the documentary *Locked Horns: The Fate of Old Crow*, "we've been governing ourselves for hundreds of years....we've shown that we know how...we've looked after the land very well." (Gregg, 2003). The implication is that stewardship has occurred without formal rules and procedures in the past, and it can continue similarly in the future.

Structural accountability within the community

As described in Chapter 7, the structure of the First Nation has become somewhat specialized in terms of separate functions of doctors, teachers, the church, and so on. In some ways people have become less dependent on each other under the DIA system, as an increased sense of individualism has developed. At the same time, there is now an expectation that money and services will always be provided. Several Vuntut Gwitchin citizens mentioned to me, with some dismay, that young people will not gather wood for elders, for example, unless they are paid for it. Similarly, one citizen lamented the fact that while the commonly cited goal of the community is to promote wellness, some elders expect the local van to take them to various locations in the community rather than walk the short distances. To her, this represents a lack of respect and accountability on the part of the elders to themselves. A number of others commented on the lack of teamwork within both the operations of the First Nation and the community at large, and the need to rejuvenate it. One elder said at the General Assembly that "all we have to do is work closely together. To try to help each other."

In times of need and stress, however, there is still a very strong sense of community identity and pulling together. This was evident to me when on one occasion, a week before I arrived in Old Crow, a community member had gone missing and was presumed drowned. The entire VGFN office was closed for several days in order that all the men could go and search for his body. The women gathered together to support his family and to prepare meals for the searchers. After the body was found, community meals - breakfast, lunch, and dinner - continued for a full week until the funeral. Day to day reciprocity patterns may have changed as the cash economy has become prevalent. but a sense of unconditional sharing seemed to characterize the attitude of the community during its week of grief. It is such a community-wide process of mutual accountability and sharing that several citizens suggested needs to be brought back into the forefront.

Accountability of Chief and Council

The structure of VGFN administration is formally hierarchical. The Chief and four Councillors are each Directors of different departments (housing, natural resources, social services, education, and finance). A number of managers and coordinators, each of whom is in charge of particular programs, report to the Directors. Those managers and coordinators, in turn, have assistants and clerks reporting to them. While the powers of the government are divided among the four branches of Chief and Council, the General Assembly, Elders Council, and Tribal Court, Chief and Council comprise the primary decision-making body. The mandate of Chief and Council, according to the constitution and as described in Chapter 7, is to carry out the directives of the General Assembly. They are thus accountable to the General Assembly and to the citizens to carry out those directives and to make decisions "in the best interests of VGFN" (VGFN, 2004a). At the same time they have a lot of discretionary authority over many day-to-day matters.

Chief and Council are very conscious of the importance of providing an "accounting" to the citizens for their own activities and decisions. Accordingly, they have taken steps towards following the Auditor General's recommendations of providing disclosure, transparency, and redress. They have put out an open invitation to all members of the community to come and talk to any of them at any time about concerns and issues they might have. A VGFN newsletter is produced every two or three months for the community, containing reports from all of the departments and many of the employees of VGFN. Audited VGFN financial statements are posted on the VGFN website for public viewing, and they are presented at the General Assembly along with reports from each Director. To date, such hierarchical forms of accountability have been the only templates available to Chief and Council.

Each mechanism above is excellent in theory, but on a practical level, at this time, not one provides a particularly effective process of accountability for the community. The newsletter is a good summary of land, resource, and program activities and participation. However, it is really effective as an accountability mechanism only if it is reviewed and subject to feedback; that is, if it generates an interactive, socializing process. The invitation to personal feedback has been put forward by Chief and Council; however, practically speaking, it is presently not generally forthcoming. Several citizens mentioned to me that they felt this is because "they [Chief and Council] wouldn't listen anyway".

During my visits to Old Crow, I sensed an underlying view among some citizens that the organizational structure basically is a continuation of the system that was in place when the federal government agents had authority, but with different actors. The Indian agent and DIA previously held power and superiority. Now, Chief and Council seem to be viewed as having taken over that role. The Chief, in particular, is referred to by many as "the Chief" or "Chief", reflecting his special status.

Open debate did not seem to be something people are comfortable with either. A few people spoke up at the General Assembly, but they were almost exclusively citizens who are now living in Whitehorse and are involved in the western world. I spoke with

one individual about this, and she expressed frustration with local citizens for not saying much. She said that she had questioned one elder as to why he had not said anything at the General Assembly and his response was that "he lives there" so he was not going to say anything. There is clearly a tension within the community that inhibits open discussion at this point. Compounding the situation is the fact that open criticism is not a traditional way of dealing with disputes, as discussed in Chapter 5. Having said that, judging by reports in newsletters and comments made to me, there has been much more community input in the last year, and a concerted effort to encourage even more. Such open interaction, which enables mutual understandings and mutual decision-making – socializing accountability – is integral to an effective new framework of accountability.

Financial statements

The General Assembly is the main forum intended to disclose the financial affairs of the First Nation to its citizens, and the financial statements are subsequently posted on the website. Both forms of presentation are extremely difficult for citizens to understand. At the General Assembly¹⁰ the auditor reads out the numbers on the statements, line by line. They represent extremely broad categories: wages & benefits, health programs, consultation fees, and so on, as single, lump sum figures. There is no indication of what expenditures exactly are included in the numbers, and there is no assessment made of the value or outcomes of expenditures in terms of budget or of material, social or spiritual benefits received. The format is extremely difficult for anyone to make sense of, let alone people who are not familiar with the language or the relative value of the numbers.

¹⁰ The presentation of financial statements at the General Assembly was held in camera, thus my comments relate to processes only as reported to me by individuals that were a party to it.

While the practice of disclosure represents a conscious effort to provide accountability on the part of Chief and Council, in its present form it is neither effective nor meaningful in the opinion of a number of citizens with whom I spoke.

One person said to me that lists of large numbers don't tell her anything; they say nothing about the outcomes of programs or the status of "wellness" in the community. Another person said that what is presented at the General Assembly "doesn't mean anything." Yet another person exemplified the lack of understanding by saying to me of the consultant's fees, "what the heck's that all about?" If that question was asked at the General Assembly, it was apparently not answered clearly. Similarly, in terms of settlement monies from the land claims agreement, several individuals said to me that they "hope they're looking after our money", referring to Chief and Council. But to those individuals, there seems to be no way of knowing.

To the extent that financial reports *are* a useful tool to the First Nation, apart from being a federal requirement, it is important that the words they use are meaningful to First Nation citizens as well as government officials. It is important that they be presented in a language and a manner that gives them meaning to the citizens: that is, in narrative, perhaps oral, terms which reflect outcomes and relate them to expectations of the citizens.

Budgeting process

While budgeting is considered to be an important mechanism of accountability among federal government officials (Chapter 6), it has not held the same significance within VGFN. The present budgeting process is a carry over from pre-self-government

days. The Financial Transfer Arrangement (FTA), under which VGFN core funding is provided, was calculated on the basis of the figures in the last pre-self-governing budget.

At least until my visit in 2003, each successive budget at VGFN was based on the previous year's budgets, and it was prepared more or less unilaterally by an outside accountant. Thus, it did not necessarily reflect either current priorities of the First Nation for allocation of funds, or community expectations. It was prepared strictly as a prerequisite to receive funding; not as a mechanism of accountability.

According to the VGFN Finance Director, in 2003 the process was that each program Director provided her with a "wish list" and she tried to accommodate their priorities into the budget. The new budget was based upon the previous year's actual expenditures. As there had been no assessment of the necessity of those expenditures, it was assumed that they should be carried into the current budget. There was no room for adjustments to reflect new priorities or goals; the budgeting process was thus an academic exercise. It could be an extremely valuable tool for allocating funds and controlling expenditures, but only if it is meaningful to the community in terms of evaluating outcomes relative to their priorities and needs. An approach of this nature forms part of the framework of accountability discussed in Chapter 10. Accountability may also be achieved through structural relationships and systems within the First Nation.

Structural accountability

I reviewed the existing structures and systems at VGFN and concurred with the view of the auditor, mentioned previously, that, if taken from the point of view of his

frame of reference, formal hierarchical controls and accountability measures fall short of "generally accepted auditing standards". While certain mechanisms of hierarchical accountability are evident, in many circumstances where a mainstream auditor may expect them, they are not visible. As an example, formal approvals of payments are not always documented, or perhaps even provided, and separation of duties is often relaxed as individuals cover tasks for each other. However, the lack of application of such federal government internal standards and control procedures does not necessarily mean that there is "no" accountability as the auditor suggested. Except that the accounts of subsidiary investments and trusts are not included, the audit report has been consistently "unqualified" in recent years, meaning that the financial statements presented are given a clean opinion, without reservation. The lack of disclosure of the investments is clearly a lack of accountability in that area, but that is a political decision of Chief and Council which is beyond the scope of this study. The standard audit opinion that the financial statements are otherwise "fair in all material respects" is an indication that there are controls of some sort at play.

Within each department there are between three and ten or more employees, depending on seasonal construction work. There is no formal procedure for reporting of lower to upper levels in the hierarchy; however, the Directors seem to be very well aware of the goings on within their departments. Individuals working within programs seem to work fairly independently of individuals in other parallel programs, in accordance with the hierarchical structure. This independence is fairly widely viewed as being problematic. A recurring theme at the General Assembly, as well as in my interviews with employees, was the need for sharing and working together both in community activities as well as within the First Nation organization. A number of individuals told me that they felt that the needs of the community would be better served if social programs were more integrated with each other and were initiated more often by community members themselves.

In recent times, in areas such as health and wellness, for example, some programs have been initiated by Health Canada and have apparently been poorly attended. Participants said that they felt that had they been coordinated with other initiatives within the community, they may have been more fruitful. Referring to the idea of coordinating efforts, one elder put it, "the only way to survive is to go back to values of sharing, working together, pride in being Gwitchin." The statement points to the desire for an increased socializing form of accountability, where individuals and departments are more mutually interdependent. In my observation, there is a socializing form at play within the First Nation which occurs simultaneously with, and mediates, a hierarchical form of accountability.

Socializing accountability

Within the First Nation office, I observed a general social awareness of what others are doing and what others are supposed to do, and there is an inherent level of honesty and commitment to "what's right": an underlying code of moral behaviour. For example, payroll time sheets are supposed to be authorized at the supervisor level and the accounting office processes them for payment. Occasionally errors in the time sheets are picked up by the accounting department because the clerks have a broad knowledge of employees involved. In such cases, there is no fuss, the clerk may or may not orally

confirm discrepancies with someone in a superior position, and corrected amounts are processed. As there are apparently no complaints, I assume that the process is successful. The formal control procedure of supervisory approval does not necessarily always work, but a socializing procedure is in place that mediates it.

In many instances within VGFN the closeness of the community and the familiarity within the office itself reduces the need for formal structural forms of accountability. In the payroll case, an informal knowledge and communication among individuals within and around the workplace replaces the need for supervisory controls over accuracy of recording time sheets. Without realizing it, it is the existence of such socializing forms of accountability that, in part, allow the auditor to give a clean opinion in his report. It is on the basis of mechanisms of a socializing form of communication and monitoring that the accounts are recorded accurately. However, to the auditor, there is no contemplation of "accountability" other than through compliance with formal hierarchical and financial procedures, hence his comment that there is "no" accountability. Having said that, I did note examples within the First Nation where hierarchical forms of accountability are effectively in use. The housing department provides an example.

Accountability process in the housing department

According to a former Housing Director, in this department employees had a history of not been efficient either with their time or with materials. To the DIA manager, there had been no requirement for such efficiency under the old federal government funding formula. If costs were too high – a budgetary overrun - there were

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

no particular repercussions. There were no sanctions for poor performance or accountability in any form to any "other", whether it be coworkers, one's own conscience, the community for whom the work was being done, or the immediate supervisor who was in charge of the work.

With the institution of self-governance in 1995, the funding well was no longer seemingly bottomless and a new perspective on the concept of efficiency was introduced. Gradually, closer monitoring by the housing supervisor was instituted. He spent more time at work sites keeping employees on task, and he ensured that time sheets were completed and submitted. Inventories of unused materials were logged and used on other projects, where previously they had been fairly loosely stockpiled and depleted without record. The Housing Director noted that efficiency improved noticeably and that the attitude of the employees was one of acceptance. Both costs and construction time declined.

Similarly, according to the Director, the attitude towards funding for housing repairs had previously been one of indifference on the part of both the administration and the people in need of repairs. Repair requests were phoned in and noted on a blackboard. An employee would attend to the repair when he had time. Costs were incurred and bills were paid by the First Nation. Approval was a formality, a rubber stamp after the fact, because it was after the expense had been incurred. There were no real controls or internal checks to monitor the efficiency or the regularity of the expenditures. But at the same time, while individuals may have known each other personally, there was no apparent need for any form of mutual accountability to each other in terms of cutting costs or watching expenditures. As described earlier in relation to the introduction of

government relief payments, with a secure source of funding, there was no worry of having to save in order to provide for each other or for future generations. The lack of efficiency and accountability noted by the Director was only ultimately addressed through hierarchical controls and sanctions when self-governance was introduced.

In the absence of a sense of mutual accountability, hierarchical controls represented a mechanism by which immediate change could be achieved. Individuals were required to be accountable for damages and other issues that required maintenance to their houses. In order to be entitled to repairs and maintenance, for example, rent payments must not be in arrears. Previously, many rents were unpaid, but costs of repairs were paid out relatively indiscriminately. Under the new system, instructions to carry out individual repairs are given only after rent status has been checked and cleared.

A system has also been established whereby there are limits to the amount of housing renovation costs the First Nation will pay. Any costs over and above that limit are borne by individuals themselves. The policy is intended, according to the Director, to encourage people to recognize the cost of renovations and to "take ownership" of improvement to their houses. As discussed in connection with Vuntut Gwitchin ideology, ownership was traditionally a communal concept. However, the influence of western ways has changed the meaning in some areas and individual ownership is becoming more important. The Director's comment implies that taking ownership and being accountable for one's own property reflects a new source from which a sense of pride and self-identity in such individualism is being encouraged.

Accountability as a balance

One Director described her own sense of accountability as a balance of making sure budgets are met and the people's needs are met. Trying to maintain such a balance puts her in a tough situation. On one hand she lives in very close physical and social proximity to others within the community, but on the other hand, she feels she is no longer seen as a peer when she is trying to instil a seemingly restrictive sense of responsibility and accountability upon others. The Director indicated that she finds it extremely stressful trying to wear both hats of peer and at the same time, hierarchical superior. But in areas such as housing, for example, imposed controls and monitoring of costs and expenditures represent a necessary solution.

Roberts' (1991) theory is that as citizens become more involved in the decisions and activities of the First Nation and as there is more face-to-face interaction on such matters, trust and respect will be fostered, and a more socializing form of accountability will emerge. This is consistent with the suggestion of increased oral communication discussed earlier. And indeed, during my visit to Old Crow in fall 2004, many people commented on the significant increase in community participation in meetings and programs both within the community and within the First Nation organization. In the case of housing, community forums have been held, and housing budget planning meetings have been scheduled for the new year. Through the process of seeking and including more community input, a more socializing form of accountability will emerge and the housing Director's level of hierarchical responsibility will be reduced.

In my discussions with VGFN citizens, a range of thoughts and themes emerged of the meaning of the term "accountability" to them.
Citizens' perspectives of accountability

Community wellness

"Community wellness" was the unanimous response among all the people to whom I spoke when asked what the goals and priorities of the First Nation are. And "accountability", in terms of achieving that goal, seemed to represent maintaining a way of life that encourages and supports that wellness. One woman said that every aspect of the First Nation is related to community wellness: better housing provides better health in terms of less crowding and avoiding unhealthy mould, for example in older houses; fitness programs and substance abuse programs improve individual wellness in all regards: physical, mental, spiritual and emotional; community buildings encourage community events which in turn promote the health of the community as a whole, traditional pursuit classes at school contribute to community wellness through maintaining the culture and the relationship among citizens of all ages; and so on.

Maintaining a balance of life – "keeping it good"

Inherent in the maintenance of community wellness is a process of maintaining a balance in life. To many, that process defines "accountability". One young person who is deeply entrenched in the traditional lifestyle, going out on the land with her family for a month or so each spring and partaking of many other traditional pursuits, said that accountability is "just common sense......keeping it good". This person expressed a huge concern for maintaining the Gwitchin culture and the heritage of the community and keeping people healthy and free of such problems as substance abuse. A researcher in Old Crow in 1996, M. Sauve, spoke of the Gwitchin concept of "Gwiinzii Giinohkhii" or

"talking good" in a way that is similar to the inference of the above participant about "keeping it good". Sauve (1997:viii) describes "talking good" as:

about communicating that which concerns you in a way that underscores first and foremost relationship, and the 'caring' which binds you to the other. You 'talk good' because you want the other person to benefit from what you have to say and you want them to understand that you care about them. Talking good is a process which acts in concert with respect in that it is a way of helping honour the other's spirit. It is founded on patience and a fundamental respect for the other's self-determination. It manifests in many different contexts.

The description epitomizes a socializing form of accountability whereby a mutual understanding is borne out of mutual respect in a personal relationship. It is not something that the participant in my study could articulate as clearly as Sauve did, but she had a very deep sense of what it entailed. The belief that it is "common sense" indicates that it is also mutually understood; an unwritten code of ethics and behaviour. In a sense, then, it also a spiritual form of accountability.

I received a similar sort of response when I asked some other older ladies, for whom Gwich'in is their first language, what a translation of the term "accountability" would be in Gwich'in. They said they would have to think about it. Later they told me that they just couldn't come up with anything, so I asked how they would describe the notion to Elders in their own words. Their response was, "oh that's not something for Elders." Elders at the General Assembly spoke adamantly about the inherent responsibility for people to work together, to share, and to respect all things. For them, "accountability" is both a lifestyle and an ideology, comprising the totality of the values and behaviours that demonstrate respect, working together, and caring for the land, that "keep it good". And the processes of this ideology of accountability are indeed "just common sense" to them. They are the lifestyle encompassed by the values and beliefs passed down by the Creator. Sanctions for deviating from this lifestyle (as described in Chapter 5) are based on natural occurrences and on informal social protocols.

Mutual interaction and interdependence

Several individuals described accountability as a sort of mutual interaction and interdependence. One person said that in her view, for example, the Chief should go house to house and say, "I am Chief, how do you see me as a Chief, what would you like to see me do or help you with." Similarly, she said that program coordinators should go out and say, "how do you see me as coordinator of this program, what are the things you'd like to see me do." Judging by the rest of her conversation, the participant was not speaking in fiscal terms. For her, the financial statements are "just numbers written down"; she is interested in community welfare and community input as a way to improve community wellness.

Chief and Council have a mandate to carry out the directives of the General Assembly, and the individual above suggests they also have an accountability to ensure that the directives reflect the real goals and needs of the community. At the same time, there is a responsibility on the part of the citizens to ensure that their priorities, goals, and needs are known to Chief and Council. Such interdependence and mutual accountability can only be achieved, as Roberts (1991) points out, through face-to-face interaction and communication, just as the participant suggests. That process will "exact and reinforce a sense of interdependence of self and other; an interdependence that includes both an instrumental and moral dimension" (Roberts, 2001:1551). By asking citizens for input, the Chief and coordinators receive instrumental input and at the same time they are in

touch with the moral dimension of the needs and priorities of the people. By providing the Chief and coordinators with input, the citizens exact both an instrumental and moral dimension of accountability from them.

Intergenerational issue

Another individual spoke of accountability as an intergenerational issue: "for me, accountability is about how things were developed, how things came about, what people said [at meetings] for today and for tomorrow". He spoke particularly about decisions and activities relating to natural resources and the land, "where decisions came from and why". His concern is the passing down of knowledge and values from generation to generation as a process to ensure the maintenance of the balance of life. The objective is similar to that of oral tradition, which I described in Chapter 5. This individual represents another example of the juxtaposition of the two worlds of the federal government and the Vuntut Gwitchin: his focus of accountability is to future generations and to the natural world, but his method of providing it is to keep pages and pages of notes of all the public and private meetings that he has attended. He uses the written word, typical of more formal forms of accountability, in the process of being accountable to his spiritual and social priorities.

A blending of forms

The discussion in this chapter has identified different forms of accountability that presently exist and co-exist within VGFN. In the areas of payroll and housing, these comprise aspects of both hierarchical and socializing forms operating jointly. The areas

of financial reports and audits are mainly hierarchical. In the area of the wellness of the community and the maintenance of natural resources, accountability forms are mainly spiritual and social. Thus, there is already a blending of forms of accountability at play within the First Nation. But at the same time, there is a common underlying theme of a desire for more mutual understanding and more "keeping it good".

Garfinkel (1967) and Willmott (1996) suggest that within groups or communities, meanings of what is acceptable conduct and what sanctions exist for unacceptable conduct are very subjective, may be subject to negotiation, and may be completely foreign to non-members. The discussion in this and the last Chapter demonstrate the very different ideological bases of the Vuntut Gwitchin from those of the federal government representatives and how their respective notions of accountability may be incomprehensible to one another.

Conformity to the expectations and standards of the federal government for so many years does not mean that the community's sense of values have necessarily been lost, nor does it necessarily mean that they do not have merit in today's context. There is an acknowledgement within the community, led by the Chief and Elders, that a return to some of the values and traditions of old is necessary in order that the goal of community wellness may be achieved. The concept is consistent with the Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples (1996) and with Canadian Aboriginal scholar Taiaiake Alfred's "Indigenous Manifesto" that is, "shaped by concerns, issues, and demands for guidance arising from within Native communities, together with a commitment to searching within indigenous traditions to find answers we need to move forward" (Alfred, 1999:xxiv). In the next Chapter, I look at an approach to accountability that builds on that manifesto to develop a framework of integrated forms of socializing, spiritual, and hierarchical accountability. I show that they can function together in a manner that brings simultaneous intelligibility to stakeholders of different cultural ideologies.

Chapter 10: A new framework

In this chapter, I build on the discussions of the last two chapters that relate to existing and desirable forms of accountability within VGFN. I present a framework of accountability for the VGFN housing department, specifically, as a template for other departments. I take objectives and goals that have been described to me by VGFN citizens and explain how processes of accountability within each of the three forms - spiritual, socializing, and hierarchical - may be applied to achieve those goals. The housing department framework may be used as a template for other departments, with adjustments for different internal processes and specific objectives.

The figure below represents the interconnections among the spiritual, social, and hierarchical forms of accountability within VGFN and within the federal government. In the Vuntut Gwitchin context, hierarchical and social forms exist within the overarching spiritual form. Accountability to the Gwitchin heritage, to the land and its resources, and to maintaining the culture for future generations are integral to their way of life. Throughout the federal government, the overarching form of accountability is hierarchical. Within that hierarchical form, elements of socializing forms are evident.





Housing Department Framework

Accountability Objectives: based on discussion with the housing Director and several other VGFN members:

- a) on an individual level, members should:
 - take responsibility for their own repairs and take better care of their houses;
 - either reap the benefits or suffer the consequences of not contributing to their own renovation costs (i.e., limited financial support);
 - learn to budget their own renovation costs.
- b) on a community level, the community should:
 - improve efficiency in house construction;
 - reduce energy costs of public buildings;
 - improve living conditions in individual houses, which will in turn improve health and safety, and thus "wellness".

Processes of accountability:

a) spiritual form: accountability to the higher principals of cultural heritage, the Creator, "keeping it good" for the community

Individuals:

- taking pride in cultural heritage, that is, in the values of working together, sharing, respect for others, and in being part of a healthy community;
- taking pride in the integrity of contributing one's share of costs and labour – adhering to a moral code of behaviour to maintain the well-being of the community through helping provide and enable adequate and safe shelter and community buildings.

Indicators of success:

- individuals contributing to community housing objectives, to be measured through increased participation in housing meetings and reduction of community housing costs;
- individuals acquiring respect from others within the community for contributing and upholding the teachings and values of the Creator, measurable on a subjective, individual, "feel good" basis;

 achieving adequate housing which will provide for increased wellness, both personally and for the community. Adequate housing may be measured through improved housing safety inspections and reduced numbers of individuals/housing unit. Wellness may be measured by reduced abuse treatments, reduced police calls, increased participation in community activities and meetings. Many of these may be indicated through the database system, sample input for which are noted at Appendix D.

Sanctions:

- community disrespect for not taking care of oneself and one's housing, thereby failing an accountability to the Creator and community culture. This may be manifest through informal gossip, for example.
- b) *socializing form*: face-to-face interaction among equals with a view to arriving at common understandings of community problems and commonly held solutions to those problems.

Budgeting:

 individuals being involved in community forums such as meetings or surveys to provide input as to community needs and priorities relating to housing and other buildings, including conditions of existing buildings.

This process will assist in allocation of budgets to real community needs

and priorities, and will include citizens in developing a mutual understanding of expected outcomes from the use of those funds. Expectations may relate, for example, to particular renovation jobs of individual houses or community buildings: how monies spent on a new treatment centre or fixing mould problems in houses contribute to overall wellness within the community. Community involvement will enhance community understandings of individual responsibilities in terms of housing repairs and maintenance, for example. When such mutual understanding exists, informal sanctions from peer pressure will be more visible and effective.

Operations:

• a concerted effort at "teamwork" at the construction level increases accountability to each other and to the common good of achieving results.

Reporting:

 oral, narrative reports being provided at the end of the period or year, as required, describing the outcomes from expended amounts, and how each relates to the needs and priorities identified in the beginning.

These include relative amounts of repairs and construction costs on individual houses, relative energy costs of various buildings – that is, energy efficiency. They also include a subjective report on the perceived outcomes or benefits from the expenditures. This report may be based on general, social observations, and also on output from hierarchical processes described in part c below. Subjective reports in the bi-monthly newsletter represent ongoing forms of accountability of a social form. Feedback on the perceived adequacy of the outcomes, particularly as they relate to citizens' expectations may be acquired through further public forums or surveys. This feedback is another form of socializing accountability that promotes mutual understanding and decisionmaking that is in the common interests of the community.

In addition to the need for more narrative commentaries and reports on programs and outcomes, on the level of general expenditures, a suggestion was made that more visibility of activities related to the expenditures would create increased accountability within the community. As an example, it was suggested that architects visiting the village to provide services to the First Nation

government should give a talk to school children on the occupation of

architecture, and/or to local citizens on the purpose of their visit. Being able to

attach something meaningful on a social level to expenditures such as "architect

fees", would provide accountability to the citizens and enable more informed

input and feedback from them.

Indicators of success of the process, of the adequacy or outcomes, and of the adequacy of expenditure controls:

- through the "contentedness" factor of citizens in terms of the effect of the housing and building status on community wellness. As above, this may be measured by increased participation in community programs and meetings, decreased abuse treatment requirements, and decreased number of incidents involving police;
- through achievement of goals and objectives, as set out at community planning meetings;
- on an individual level through pride in house ownership,

personal well-being, and respect from others within the community, indicated on an individual "feel-good" basis.

c) hierarchical form: formal, structured mechanisms associated with accounting information, reports, monitoring processes, and financial controls.

Operations:

- tracking the number of repair calls and related costs by house on database system (see Appendix C for sample input and output);
- tracking costs of repairs and when the budgeted funds are spent construction stops, no matter what stage it is at;
- training construction workers and tracking their work hours and performance;
- tracking energy costs by house;
- tracking health of individuals, particularly in older houses that have been fixed up;
- obtaining approval for all costs prior to expenses being incurred, ensuring that they fall within budget:

• teamwork in preparation of the data as well as presentation of the data spreads out the accountability among peers.

Within the administration, a hierarchical structure still exists in terms of supervisors overseeing construction workers, and the housing Director overseeing the housing manager and construction supervisor. Depending on the relationship among those individuals, the manifest form of accountability may be more socializing than hierarchical in that the accountability among them may be through informal interaction. Also, depending on the individual, it may be that superior roles take on more of a traditional leadership role in terms of being a "guide" with superior skills, rather than an authority figure.

Reporting:

- preparing financial accounting reports of both overall revenue and expenditures and specific individual projects for monthly comparison to budget and expected progress. Terms use to describe accounts will reflect local meanings;
- preparing reports from the database system, such as shown at Appendix C, providing statistics for the basis of evaluation for individuals who may be abusing the system by requesting an inordinate number of minor repairs, for example. Social knowledge of particular mitigating circumstances relating to reports such as the housing report, for example, will be included in the evaluation
- regular oral, narrative reports explaining all of these hierarchicallybased reports to the community.

The above framework offers a blend among spiritual, social, and hierarchical forms of accountability. They may vary in relative importance depending on individuals in particular relationships. The overarching accountability rests with the communal spiritual form of pride in a unique cultural heritage and in a healthy community. By ensuring those, an inherent accountability to future generations and to the sustained future of the culture is maintained. Because of certain distance within relationships and because of the financial nature of many aspects of the First Nations affairs, hierarchical forms of accountability are imperative. However, in order that they make sense to local citizens, they must be supplemented and mediated by socializing forms.

The purpose of this study is not only to develop a new framework of accountability for VGFN. It is also to articulate differences in concepts and forms of accountability and create an awareness of the fact that they even exist: establish an awareness of the "other", and "possibilities" for forms of accountability. The intent is two-sided: on one hand, it is to help the federal government realize that there are forms of accountability that are supplementary and complementary to the ones that they envision, and that in some cases, could potentially even replace them; on the other hand, it is to recognize and acknowledge social and spiritual systems of accountability within the First Nation that resonate from their cultural past and are applicable to their situation today. Citizens may respect and adhere to them more readily, and at the same time, make relevant government systems more intelligible to them.

Similar to Laughlin's (1990) findings in the Church of England, there are numerous different relationships within and around VGFN, and each affords different accountability needs and forms. I have identified several major relationships, and, based on some of the suggestions of Vuntut Gwitchin citizens, have identified some general forms of accountability and their manifestations that in present circumstances represent a cultural "fit". During my visits to Old Crow in November, 2004, I learned that many have already been implemented. Implementation of a database system has begun. Meetings have been held to obtain input from citizens as to goals and priorities in housing planning budgets, and housing budgets are being developed on the basis of those goals and priorities rather than previous expenditures. Weekly meetings of Directors and program managers are being held for updates on community input as well as program activity and progress. Individuals indicated to me that coordination of programs across departments has increased, and there has been an increased number of community meetings; there have been more frequent newsletters and better use of them to explain matters relevant to the community¹¹. I have discussed the accountability framework informally with some citizens, and I look forward to formally discussing them with Chief and Council and interested citizens. I have maintained my relationship with the community as well as with the consultant and hope to continue working with them in the direction of adjusting and applying this framework according to their needs and wishes.

My hope is that the approach of the framework is something that other First Nations may find applicable and tailor to their specific relationships and circumstances. It is a matter of recognizing possibilities of accountability forms and applying them in a manner that fits the particular cultural environment that is the key to establishing a framework of accountability that is more meaningful and appropriate to interested or affected parties.

¹¹ An example of the use of the newsletter was in its explanation to the community of a new billing procedure for housing rents. Some questions had been raised by individuals, and in the next newsletter, a general explanation was given for the benefit of the community at large.

Chapter 11: Present and future studies

Current study

In this study I have reviewed forms of accountability at various times within the Canadian federal government, which originated from the British imperial system of a hierarchical structure and formal rules and procedures. The government system is based on ideologies of inequality among all things, the basic self-interested nature of humans, and the importance of material wealth and power over others. Accountability processes borne of the imperial system and its underlying ideology are of what has been described as a hierarchical form. They are based on an agency theory model of asymmetrical power and are typically manifest through hierarchical reporting procedures and accounting mechanisms such as numerical reports, budgets, and financial controls and monitoring.

Indian policy in Canada was founded on the belief that Indians could be "civilized" through a process of assimilation. Jurisdiction over "Indians and lands reserved for Indians" was assigned to the federal government by the BNA Act (Constitution Act) of 1867. Subsequent legislation was passed, consolidated in the Indian Act of 1876, based on the theory that by subjugating Indian lifestyle and imposing "rational" structures and systems based on European values and customs on Indian people, "civilization" would be inevitable: European values and systems would be understood and adopted by all.

The Vuntut Gwitchin and other Indian peoples of Canada, had histories and cultures based on different ideologies from those of the British. For the Vuntut Gwitchin, there was equality among all things, and survival depended on a system of mutual respect

and interdependence. Accountability was of what has been described as spiritual and socializing forms. It was spiritual in that it was based on an accountability to the "higher principals" of the Creator and a code of conduct embedded within the ideology of equality and respect for all things. It was of a socializing form in that it was based on mutual interdependence and common understandings of values, codes of conduct and reciprocal obligations. Leadership was not an authoritarian position; rather, it represented guidance from an individual with superior skills in a particular area. Decision-making was of a socializing nature in that it involved communal input intended to achieve results for the collective good of the group. While there was a social order, there was no asymmetry of power relations; thus, there was no hierarchical form of accountability.

As the Vuntut Gwitchin came under the influence of the European traders and EuroCanadian agents of the federal government, those traditional spiritual and social forms of accountability were increasingly subordinated. The fur trade reduced some dimensions of communal interdependence through the introduction of individualizing hunting and trapping equipment. Structural patterns and social order changed as subsistence living decreased with changing game requirements by the fur traders and the introduction of new "white man's" commodities. The cash economy and the introduction of government institutions further eroded traditional structural and accountability mechanisms, producing alternate sources of income and separating and compartmentalizing activities within the community. Government financial relief came to be relied upon. New leadership and band organization patterns based on the federal government's hierarchical model were imposed. The federal government administered VGFN land, monies, and activities. The Vuntut Gwitchin, as other First Nations, became increasingly apathetic to their own traditions and culture. But while their own patterns of accountability lost significance, new forms of federal government accountability did not gain significance to them.

In 1969, the federal government's White Paper proposed to abolish the Indian Act. Yukon First Nations, along with other Canadian First Nations, actively opposed the proposal and a move towards Indian self-determination and self-governance began. Gradually programs were devolved to VGFN and in 1993 a Self-Government Agreement was signed between VGFN and the federal and territorial governments. Because of lack of experience and capacity in the area of administration, Indian agents and then white advisors controlled the affairs of the First Nation over the years, and even today are still heavily relied upon for advice in many areas. Structures and systems within VGFN are founded on a hierarchical model and accountability processes are based on a hierarchical form. However, such processes are not necessarily embraced by the First Nation, and many manifestations of them are not understood by the citizens. Financial statements and audit reports in their present form, for example, have little meaning to most VGFN citizens.

There is congruence

The ultimate objectives of the federal government and First Nation are similar in that the goal of each is to enable the best environment possible for their citizens. The divergence lies in what that environment looks like, how it comes to be that way, and assessment of when it has been attained. These different views reflect the divergent

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

ideologies underlying the cultures. Articulation and assessment of perceptions and choices are only meaningful in the terms of the local culture. As Garfinkel (1967) says of accountability practices, they only render themselves observable and reportable in ways that make sense to members of the particular local community or group, depending on their own shared perspectives and values. For example, the fact that allocation of funds to First Nations is based on cultural values and priorities of federal government agents is inconsistent with the notion of "self-governance", and it exemplifies the principal-agent model focus on economic value and efficiency. It is inconsistent, in many ways, with accountability that is meaningful to the environment in which the First Nation exists.

Meaning of accountability to participants today

Within the federal government, the overarching form of accountability identified by participants with whom I spoke was of a hierarchical nature. They cited financial and other statistical reports, compliance with rules and procedures, and meeting predetermined objectives as examples. However, elements of social accountability do exist within those hierarchical systems. There are informal communications, for example, among individuals both internally and externally with First Nations. There is also an awareness within the federal government of the need to meet First Nation social needs, and an effort is being made to monitor the degree to which those needs are being met through statistical program reports.

To VGFN citizens, accountability takes on a number of different meanings, all revolving around the notion of "keeping it good". It has been variously described to me as: "looking after our money", working together, connecting people through teamwork,

connecting programs within the community, passing on a record of decisions and the thoughts behind them (so that future generations may understand their own history and take pride in their heritage), listening to each other in order to establish community priorities and needs, protecting natural resources for future generations, promoting community wellness, and taking ownership of one's own activities and taking pride in them.

Movement towards a new framework

Differences in the two approaches have not gone unnoticed in the public eye. Since the mid-1980s, the federal government, in particular the Auditor-General, has become increasingly cognizant of the disparity between what might be meaningful accountability processes for First Nations and what the government presently expects. At the same time, there have been increasing calls from Vuntut Gwitchin leaders and elders, as well as Aboriginal scholars and leaders across North America, for a return to traditional values and teachings in systems and practices of the community today (Alfred, 1999; Depew, 1994). The scholars and leaders hold that accountability and governance frameworks grounded in traditional principles and values will regenerate a sense of cultural identity. It is not just that the culture may be lost as a result of continuing to subordinate and suppress traditional customs and values. There are potential advantages to the community of reinstituting traditions and values that make financial reports, for example, more meaningful to citizens than the mainstream ways that have been imposed upon them. It will stimulate and foster commitment and support within the community (Depew, 1994). Such community support, it is suggested, will produce more effective and meaningful decisions and solutions: the more participation, the more innovative and enduring processes will be created that are community-appropriate (Stuart, 1999).

Indeed, many communities across North America have observed just such a phenomenon taking place in an Aboriginal justice context, where more people draw on what they term "traditional" values and teachings as the basis of sentencing, rehabilitative, and restitution decisions (Stuart, 1999). Similarly, community economic development initiatives in Aboriginal communities across North America have turned to a community-based approach which is sensitive to local "traditional" cultural forms (Black, 1994; Cornell & Kalt, 1998).

A mix of values and forms

In developing a framework of accountability that is meaningful to citizens of the First Nation while at the same time being acceptable in the eyes of the federal government, the understandings of all parties must be articulated and mutually acknowledged, if not entirely understood. Even from the First Nation point of view the objective is not necessarily to use all traditions or practices of the past, some of which may be as unwanted and inappropriate in today's context as federally imposed systems are. There is a wide variety of histories among the citizens themselves, from elders who lived in the area long before the federal government came to have significant influence on their lives to young people who have grown up with televisions and fast food. The concepts, symbols, and organizational solutions from the past may be different from present issues within the First Nation. Substance abuse, for example, is a relatively "modern" problem in the community, and solutions are correspondingly "modern".

Given the spectrum of western practices and technological advancement, "the past has an uneven importance and value for those in the present" (McDonnell & Depew, 1999:369). But the core values and teachings of sharing, respect, and mutual interdependence that underlie those "traditional" ways have not changed. The issue at hand is how those values may be brought into current systems and structures, and what mix of old and new forms of accountability are most appropriate for the most people today: identifying a constructive balance of different concepts of accountability. As Alfred (1999:29) says:

> It would be unrealistic to imagine that all Native communities are willing and able to jettison the structures in place today for the romantic hope of a return to pre-European life. But it would also be too pessimistic to suggest that there is no room at all for traditional values. Mediating between these extremes, one could argue that most communities would simply be better served by governments founded on those principles drawn from their own cultures that are relevant to the contemporary context.

The Project on Accountability undertaken by the Certified General Accountants Association of Canada (CGA) in conjunction with the Assembly of First Nations (AFN) has addressed accountability needs and potential frameworks relevant to Aboriginal communities. It proposes and supports education and training of Aboriginal people in the areas of finances and management, and it has developed a set of reporting and accounting standards for First Nations (CGA-AFN, 1999). These are commendable, but the approaches and initiatives still place most of their reliance on financial accounts, and are thus still based to a large extent on the values, policies, and systems of the federal government. They do not address the process of accountability that First Nation ideology engenders. One problem that has arisen among many First Nations is that they assume that concepts of social sanctions and social forms of accountability as they know them extend to the corporate world in which the federal government exists. That is, First Nations project their expectations onto a cultural "other". A number of government representatives told me of situations where First Nations have been duped by opportunistic western consultants who have taken advantage of their trust, saying "they [First Nations] are so trusting". Indeed, it is because of inevitable interactions with the outside world that an accountability structure must represent a blending of forms that include meaningful but practical consideration of both western and traditional First Nation values. In developing the framework of accountability discussed in Chapter 10, I draw on a number of suggestions made to me by VGFN citizens..

A holistic approach

On the operational side of VGFN affairs, some citizens suggested that a more "holistic" approach that relates programs, budgets, and outcomes in an understandable "language" would be more meaningful to the community. The traditional "language" in terms of form of communication among the Vuntut Gwitchin was oral, involving face-toface interactions. For many today, reading written financial statements is a difficult task. Oral communication, in a form suggested in the accountability framework, would be much more meaningful to them.

It is generally agreed that a holistic approach that includes input from the community as to priorities, needs, programs, even capital projects, is crucial to ensuring that the collective good and the collective will is achieved. As one Vuntut Gwitchin

citizen suggested, accountability consists of listening to others and speaking up about issues. It requires an equal accountability on the part of citizens as it does of Chief and Council to contribute. Practically speaking, this would ideally be done through round table or circle meetings, whereby individuals in turn are given the opportunity to speak. However, open dialogue is not particularly forthcoming yet within the community, so in the meantime, it was suggested that surveys and informal small group meetings may be used.

A workable balance

In the present relationship between the federal government and the First Nation government, a hierarchical form of accountability exists in the format of audited financial statements and statistical reports which are submitted by the First Nation. There is also presently a hierarchical structure within the First Nation whereby Chief and Council direct certain affairs and transactions. Managers and support staff perform various functions and ultimately report to Chief and Council as Directors. In other areas, there are social mechanisms in place that at times mediate formal rules and procedures. Several individuals indicated to me that they felt it was up to the Directors to initiate and facilitate interaction across programs. There is an apparent expectation of hierarchical direction and organization of activities that will facilitate a more social form of administration and accountability among peers in different programs: a formalization of the informal, if you will.

In developing a framework of accountability that is more meaningful and practical for VGFN members while also meeting the needs of the federal government, the

most important point is to articulate the forms of accountability in effect: the hierarchical forms related to finances and other control processes as well as the social and spiritual forms of trust, mutual understanding, and accountability to higher principals. By providing a framework, such as the one outlined in Chapter 10, at the First Nation level, the hope is that not only will the goals, visions, and priorities of the First Nation citizens' be met and reflected in a language that is meaningful to them, but also, that the federal government will recognize the legitimacy of all those accountability forms within the First Nation; that the government will come to rely on other forms, as opposed to considering only reports and other hierarchical forms that are not meaningful to VGFN citizens.

Future studies

On a practical level, identification and documentation of specific, individual accountability relationships within the general framework presented in Chapter 10 for both the housing department and other departments within the First Nation are the next steps in the process of developing a workable balance of forms of accountability for VGFN. Application of the framework to other First Nations may be pursued through analysis of their own community structures, systems, traditions, values and ideologies.

From a theoretical perspective, other areas of research might follow from the present study. It concentrates on "forms" of accountability in terms of how they may exist and co-exist in different contexts. It does not investigate the influence of language and practices of those different forms of accountability in the formation of self-identity among either the federal government representatives or First Nation citizens. Further

investigation of how, on an individual and a cultural level, accountability practices and languages permeate, influence and produce self-identity and self-control, as Foucault suggests, may generate more insight into how the different forms of accountability came to prevail and change within the different contexts (Rabinow, 1984; Nixon, 1997).

Foucault's ideas may be used to investigate the effects of the power relationship between the federal government and First Nations in terms of changing representations of meanings, particularly of accountability and practices related thereto, within the First Nation. To Foucault, "knowledge linked to power not only assumes the authority of 'the truth' but has the power to make itself true" (Hall, 1997:49). This could be used to interpret several aspects of the federal government/First Nation relationship. First, it may be related to the stereotyping of Aboriginal peoples generally; that is, the construction of Aboriginal peoples as "the other" by the federal government. At the same time, the Foucauldian power/knowledge relationship may be drawn upon to investigate the permeation of federal government technologies and forms of accountability into the First Nation. The control sustained by the federal government over time through educational, political, and accountability processes, for example, may have become invisible and, as Comaroff & Comaroff (1991) describe has happened in other colonial contexts, through habit may have come to shape, direct, and even dominate social thought and action to some degree. While I have identified federal government accountability processes that exist within the First Nation context, I leave detailed analysis of the extent to which the values and social thought of the nation-state have become ingrained in Vuntut Gwitchin citizens for another study.

References

- Acheson, A. 1977. Nomads in Town: The Kutchin of Old Crow, Yukon Territory. PhD Thesis: Cornell University. Microfilm: Ann Arbor, Mich. University Microfilms.
- Alfred, T. 1999. Peace, Power, Righteousness: an indigenous manifesto. Oxford University Press: Don Mills.
- Arrington, C.E. & J. Francis. 1993. Giving Economic Accounts: Accounting as Cultural Practice. Accounting, Organizations and Society, Vol. 18, No 2/3, pp.107-124.
- Auditor-General. 1976. Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the House of Commons. Minister of Supply and Services Canada: Ottawa.
- Auditor-General. 1980. Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the House of Commons. Minister of Supply and Services Canada: Ottawa.
- Auditor-General. 1987. Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the House of Commons. Minister of Supply and Services Canada: Ottawa.
- Auditor-General. 1988. Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the House of Commons. Minister of Supply and Services Canada: Ottawa.
- Auditor-General. 1990. Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the House of Commons. Minister of Supply and Services Canada: Ottawa.
- Auditor-General. 1991. Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the House of Commons. Minister of Supply and Services Canada: Ottawa.
- Auditor-General. 1993. Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the House of Commons. Minister of Supply and Services Canada: Ottawa.
- Auditor-General. 1994. Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the House of Commons. Minister of Supply and Services Canada: Ottawa.
- Auditor-General. 1995. Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the House of Commons. Minister of Supply and Services Canada: Ottawa.
- Auditor-General. 1996. Study of Accountability Practices from a Perspective of First Nations. Minister of Supply and Services Canada: Ottawa.
- Auditor-General. 1997. Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the House of Commons. Minister of Supply and Services Canada: Ottawa.
- Auditor-General. 1998. Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the House of Commons. Minister of Supply and Services Canada: Ottawa.

- Auditor-General. 1999. Report of the Auditor General of Canada to the House of Commons: Minister of Supply and Services Canada: Ottawa.
- Auditor-General. 2002. Report on Aboriginal Accountability Issues. Minister of Supply and Services: Ottawa.
- Auditor-General. 2004. Standing Committee on Aboriginal Affairs, Northern Development and Natural Resources. Minister of Supply and Services: Ottawa.
- Bagot, C. 1845. Report on the Affairs of Indians in Canada, laid before the Legislative Assembly. Province of Canada: Ottawa.
- Balikci, A. 1963. Vunta Kutchin social change, a study of the people of Old Crow. Minister of Northern Affairs and Natural Resources: Ottawa.
- Barron, F.L. 1983. "Alcoholism, Indians, and the Anti-Drink Cause in the Protestant Indian Missions of Upper Canada, 1822-1850." In eds. Getty, I.A.L. & A.S. Lussier. As Long as the Sun Shines and Water Flows. UBC Press: Vancouver.
- Battle, R.F. 1964. Report of Director, Indian Affairs Branch. King's Printer for the Government of Canada: Ottawa
- Berger, T. 1988. Northern Frontier Northern Homeland, revised edition.. Douglas & MacIntyre: Vancouver.
- Berkhofer, R. 1978. The White Man's Indian. Alfred A. Knopf: New York.
- Black, S.S. 1994. Redefining Success in Community Development: A New Approach for Determining and Measuring the Impact of Development. The Lincoln Filene Center: Washington.
- Boldt, M. & A. Long. 1984. Tribal traditions and European-Western Political Ideologies: the Dilemma of Canada's Native Indians. *Canadian Journal of Political Science*, Vol 17, No.3.
- Campbell, R. 1851. Two Journals of Robert Campbell. Facsimile Reproduction 1958. The Shorey Book Store: Seattle.
- Cardinal, H. 1969. The Unjust Society: the Tragedy of Canada's Indians. Hurtig Publishing: Edmonton.
- Carnaghan, C., Gibbins, M., & S. Ikaheimo. 1996. "Managed financial disclosure: the interplay between accountability pressures." In eds. Munro, R. & J. Mouritsen. Accountability: Power, Ethos and the Technologies of Managing. International Thomson Business Press: London.

- CCAF (Canadian Comprehensive Auditing Foundation). 1996. Accountability, performance reporting, comprehensive audit – an integrated perspective. CCAF-FCVI Inc.: Ottawa.
- CGA-AFN. 1999. CGA-AFN Accountability Project Interim Report.
- Checkland, P. & J. Scholes. 1990. Soft Systems Methodology in Action. John Wiley & Sons: Chichester.
- Chew, A. & S. Greer. 1997. Contrasting world views on accounting: Accountability and Aboriginal Culture". *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*, Volume 10, Issue 3, pp. 276-298.
- Chua, W.F. 1996. Teaching and learning only the language of numbers monolingualism in a multilingual world. *Critical Perspectives on Accounting*, Volume 7, Issue 1, pp. 129-156.
- Chua, W.F. 1998. Historical Allegories: let us have diversity. *Critical Perspectives on Accounting*, Volume 9, Issue 6, pp. 617-628.
- Chwastiak, M. 1999. Demonstrating the Principal-Agent Model: A View from the Bottom. *Critical Perspectives on Accounting* 10, 425-441.
- Coates, K. S. 1988. "Best Left as Indians". In eds. Fisher, R. & K. Coates. Out of the Background: Readings on Canadian Native History. Copp, Clark, Pitman: Toronto.
- Coates, K. S. 1991. Best Left as Indians. McGill-Queen's University Press: Montreal.
- Collier, P. 2004. "Governance and the quasi-public organization: a case study of social housing. Working paper presented at University of Alberta.
- Comaroff, J. & J. Comaroff. 1991. Of Revelation & Revolution. University of Chicago Press: Chicago.
- Constitution Act, 1982. Queen's Printer: Ottawa.
- Constitution Act, 1867. Queen's Printer: Ottawa.
- Cornell, S. & J.P. Kalt. 1992. "Reloading the Dice: Improving the Chances for Economic Development on American Indian Reservations", in S.Cornell and J. Kalt, eds. What Can Tribes Do? Strategies and Institutions in American Indian Economic Development. American Indian Studies Center: Los Angeles.
- Crerar, T.A. 1935. Report of the Deputy Superintendent General of Indian Affairs. King's Printer for the Government of Canada: Ottawa.

- Cruikshank, J. 1975. Cultural Explanations of "Indian Drinking": Are They valid? Alcohol & Drug Services, Yukon Territorial Government: Whitehorse.
- Cruikshank, J. 1991. Reading Voices: Dan Dha Ts'edenintth'e: Oral and Written Interpretations of the Yukon's Past. Douglas & McIntyre: Vancouver.
- Cruikshank, J. 1994. Oral Tradition and Oral History: Reviewing some Issues. Canadian Historical Review, LXXV, 3. pp.403-418.
- Cruikshank, Julie. 1998. The Social Life of Stories: Narrative and Knowledge in the Yukon Territory. Vancouver: University of British Columbia Press.
- Cummings, L. & R. J. Anton. 1990. "The Logical and Appreciative Dimensions of Accountability." In eds. Srivasta, S., Cooperider, D.L., and Associates. Jossey-Bass: San Francisco.
- Dacks, G. 1985. Consensus Government in the NWT. Paper presented to Annual Meeting of the Canadian Political Sciences Association.
- Denis, Claude. 1997. We are not you: First Nations and Canadian modernity. Peterborough: Broadview Press.
- DIAND. 1993. DIAND's Evolution from Direct Service Delivery to a Funding Agency. Minister of Supply and Services: Ottawa.
- DIAND. 1997. Department of Indian and Northern Affairs Accountability and Assessment Workbook. Minister of Supply and Services: Ottawa.
- Depew, R.C. 1994. First Nations Organizations: An analytic framework. Department of Indian and Northern Affairs: Ottawa.
- Dobrowolsky, H. 1995. Law of the Yukon: a pictorial history of the Mounted Police in the Yukon. Lost Moose Publishing: Whitehorse.
- Eagleton, T. 1991. Ideology: An Introduction. Verso: New York.
- Ezzamel, M. forthcoming. "Accounting and Order: Evidence from Ancient Egypt."
- Foster, G.M. 1962. Traditional Cultures: And the Impact of Technological Change. Harper & Brothers: New York.
- Frideres, J. 1998. Aboriginal Peoples in Canada: contemporary conflicts. Prentice Hall Allyn and Bacon Canada: Scarborough.

- Gallhofer, S. & A. Chew. 2000. Introduction: accounting and indigenous peoples. Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal, Volume 13, No. 3, pp. 256-267.
- Gallhofer, S. & J. Haslam. 1997. Beyond Accounting: The Possibilities of Accounting and "Critical Accounting Research". *Critical Perspectives on Accounting*, Volume 8, Issues 1-2, pp.71-95.
- Gallhofer, S. & J. Haslam. 2004. Accounting and liberation theology: Some insights for the project of emancipatory accounting. *Accounting, Auditing, & Accountability Journal*, Vol.17, No. 3, pp.382-407.
- Garfinkel, H. 1967. Studies in Ethnomethodology. Prentice-Hall: Englewood Cliffs.
- Gibbins, M. & J. Newton. 1994. An Empirical Exploration of Complex Accountability in Public Accounting. *Journal of Accounting Research*. Vol 32 No.2.
- Gibson, K. 2000. Accounting as a tool for Aboriginal dispossession: then & now. Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal, Volume 13, No. 3, pp. 289-306.
- Goulet, J.G. 1998. Ways of Knowing: experience, knowledge, and power among the Dene Tha. UBC Press: Vancouver.
- Government of Canada. 1969. Government of Canada White Paper Policy on Assimilation. Available at http://www.turtleisland.org
- Government of Canada. 1993. Umbrella final agreement between the Government of Canada, the Council for Yukon Indians and the Government of the Yukon. Dept. of Indian Affairs and Northern Development: Ottawa.
- Government of Canada. 2001. Hansard: Government Orders: Supply, Allotted Aboriginal Affairs. Printer for the Government of Canada: Ottawa
- Greer, S. & C. Patel. 2000. The Issue of Australian Indigenous world-views & accounting. *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*, Volume 13, No 3, pp. 307-329.
- Gregg, A. 2003. "Locked Horns: The Fate of Old Crow". Video production.
- Happynook, T. Mexsis. 2001. "Indigenous Self-determination, Accountability, and Liberal Democracy". available at http://www.turtleisland.org/news/newshappynook.htm.
- Hawthorn, H.B. (ed.) 1966. A Survey of the Contemporary Indians of Canada Volume I. Indian Affairs Branch: Ottawa.

- Hawthorn, H.B. (ed.) 1967. A Survey of the Contemporary Indians of Canada Volume II. Indian Affairs Branch: Ottawa.
- Hines, R. 1992. Accounting: Filling the negative space. Accounting, Organizations & Society, Volume 17, Issues 3-4, pp. 313-341.
- Hood, C. 1995. The "new public management" in the 1980s: variations on a theme. *Accounting, Organizations and Society*, 20(2/3), pp.93-109.
- Hunt, A.J. 1996. An Inquiry into the Ethics of Development Economics. The Union Institute: Cincinnati.
- INAC. 2000. Backgrounder: Canada/First Nations Funding Agreements. Available at www.oag-bvg.gc.ca/domino/reports.inf/html/9910ce.html
- INAC. 2000a. First Nations National Reporting guide 2000/2001. Supply and Services Canada: Ottawa.
- Irwin, R. 1995. Federal Policy Guide for Aboriginal Self-government. Minister of Supply and Services: Ottawa.
- Jacobs, K. 2000. Evaluating accountability: finding a place for the Treaty of Waitangi in the New Zealand public sector. *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*, Volume 13, No 3, pp. 360-380.
- Jacobs, K. & S. Walker. 2004. Accounting and accountability in the Iona community. Accounting, Auditing, and Accountability Journal, Vol. 17, No. 3, p. 361-381.
- Jenness, D. 1932. The Indians of Canada 2nd edition. Department of Mines: Ottawa.
- Jennings, G.H. 1883. An Anecdotal History of the British Parliament from the Earliest Periods to the Present Time. Horace Cox: London.
- Jonsson, S. 1996. "Decoupling hierarchy and accountability: an examination of trust and reputation." In eds. Munro, R. & J. Mouritsen. Accountability: Power, Ethos and the Technologies of Managing. International Thomson Business Press: London.
- Kassi, N. 1987. This Land has Sustained Us. Alternatives 14, p.18.
- Kassi, T & M.J. Moses. 2003. "Imprints of Our Ancestors". videorecording.
- King, R. 1967. The School at Mopass: A Problem of Identity. Holt, Rinehart & Winston: New York.

- Krech, S. 1984. The Subarctic fur Trade: Native Social and Economic Adaptations. UBC Press: Vancouver.
- Lambert, R. 1979. Report of the royal Commission on Financial Management and Accountability. Queen's Printer: Ottawa.
- Laughlin, R. 1990. A Model of Financial Accountability and the Church of England. Financial Accountability and Management, 6(2), pp.93-114.
- Laughlin, R. 1996. "Principals and higher principals: accounting for accountability in the caring professions." In eds. Munro, R. & J. Mouritsen. Accountability: Power, Ethos and the Technologies of Managing. International Thomson Business Press: London.
- Lehman, G. 2004. Accounting, Accountability, and Religion: Charles Taylor's Catholic Modernity and the Malaise of a Disenchanted World. *Accounting and the Public Interest.* Volume 4, pp.43-61.
- Leslie, J. & R. Maguire (eds.). 1978. The Historical Development of the Indian Act. Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development: Ottawa.
- Lougheed, J.A. 1920. Report of the Deputy Superintendent General of Indian Affairs. King's Printer for the Government of Canada: Ottawa.
- MacKay, D.M. 1951. Annual report of the Director of Indian Affairs Branch. King's Printer for the Government of Canada: Ottawa.
- MacKay, D.M. 1953. Annual report of the Director of Indian Affairs Branch. King's Printer for the Government of Canada: Ottawa.
- MacKay, D.M. 1954. Annual report of the Director of Indian Affairs Branch. King's Printer for the Government of Canada: Ottawa.
- Manitoba Indian Brotherhood. 1971. Wahbung: Our Tomorrow. Manitoba Indian Brotherhood: Winnipeg.
- Magna Carta. 1215. at http://www.bl.uk/collections/treasures/magna.html. 10/25/2003..
- McCandless, R. 1985. Yukon Wildlife: A Social History. University of Alberta Press: Edmonton.
- McDonnell, R.F. 1992. "Prospects for Accountability Among the James Bay Cree". Essay commissioned by the Department of Indian and Northern Affairs: Ottawa.

- McDonnell, R.F. & R. Depew. 1999. Aboriginal self-government and selfdetermination in Canada. In, eds. Hylton, J. & P. Fontaine Aboriginal Self-Government in Canada 2nd edition. Purich Publishing Ltd.: Saskatoon.
- McKernan, J. & K. McLullich. 2004. Accounting, love and justice. Accounting, Auditing, and Accountability Journal, Vol. 17, No. 3, pp. 327-360.
- Miller, P. & C. Napier. 1993. Genealogies of Calculation. Accounting, Organizations and Society, Vol.18, No 7-8, pp. 631-647.
- Mingers, J. & S. Taylor. 1992. The Use of Soft Systems Methodology in Practice. The Journal of the Operational Research Society, Vol. 43, Issue 4, PP. 321-332.
- Murray, A.H. 1910. Journal of the Yukon 1847-48. Government Printing Bureau: Ottawa.
- Nagler, M. 1975. Natives Without a Home. Longman Canada Limited: Don Mills.
- Nadasdy, P. 2000. Hunters and Bureaucrats: Power, Knowledge, and the Restructuring of Aboriginal-State Relations in the Southwest Yukon, Canada. UMI Dissertation Services: Ann Arbor.
- Netro, J. 1973. A Book of Indian Legends and Storys from Old Crow Yukon Territory.
- Neu, D. 2000. Accounting & Accountability Relations: Colonization, genocide and Canada's First Nations. Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal, Vol 13, No 3, pp. 268-288.
- Neu, D. & R. Therrien. 2003. Accounting for Genocide: Canada's Bureaucratic Assault on Aboriginal People. Fernwood Publications: Winnipeg.
- Neu, D. & Heincke, M. 2004. The subaltern speaks: financial relations and the limits of governmentality. *Critical Perspectives on Accounting* 15, pp. 179-206.
- Nixon, S. 1997. "Exhibiting Masculinity". In ed. Hall, S. Representation: Cultural Representations and Signifying Practices. Sage Publications: London.
- Normanton, E.L. 1966. The Accountability & Audit of Governments. Manchester University Press: Manchester.
- NYFWMP. 2003. North Yukon Fish and Wildlife Management Plan. Pamphlet.
- Ortner, S.B. 1994. "Theory in Anthropology Since the Sixties" in eds. Dirks, N.B., G. Elay & S.B. Ortner. Culture/Power/History. Princeton University Press: Princeton.

- Osgood, C. 1936. Contributions to the Ethnography of the Kutchin. Yale University Press: New Haven.
- Panozzo, F. 1996. "Accountability and identity: accounting and the democratic organization." In eds. Munro, R. & J. Mouritsen. Accountability: Power, Ethos and the Technologies of Managing. International Thomson Business Press: London.
- Parks Canada. 2002. Vuntut National Park Draft Management Plan. Supply and Services: Ottawa.
- Patterson, E.P.II. 1972. The Canadian Indian: A History Since 1500. Collier-Macmillan Canada, Ltd.: Don Mills.
- Penner, R. 1983. Report of the Special Committee on Indian Self-Government. Queen's Printer: Ottawa.
- Petitot, E. 1899. In Savoie, D. (ed.) 1970. The Amerindians of the Canadian North-West in the 19th Century as seen by Emile Petitot. Vol. II The Loucheux Indians. Minister of Indian & Northern Affairs: Ottawa.
- Pierce, J.A. 1988. Indian Land Claims in the Yukon 1968-1984: Aboriginal Rights as Human Rights. PhD These. Carleton University. Ottawa.
- Ponting, R. & R. Gibbins. 1980. Out of Irrelevance. Butterworths: Toronto.
- Prasad, A. 2003. The Gaze of the Other: Postcolonial Theory and Organizational Analysis. In ed. Prasad, A. Postcolonial Theory and Organizational Analysis: A Critical Engagement. Palgrave Macmillan: New York.
- Privy Council Office. 2003. Government of Canada Guidance for Deputy Ministers. Supply and Services: Ottawa.
- Rabinow, R. 1984. The Foucault Reader. Penguin Books: New York.
- Ray, A.J. 1984. "Periodic Shortages, Native Welfare, and the Hudson's Bay Company 1670-1930." In ed, Krech, S. The Subarctic Fur Trade: Native Social and Economic Adaptations. UBC Press: Vancouver.
- RCAP. 1996. Highlights from the Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples: A Word from the Commissioners. Minister of Supply and Services: Ottawa.
- RCAP. 1996A. Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples. Volume 2, Part 2. Minister of Supply and Services: Ottawa.

- RCAP. 1996B. Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples. Volume 1, Part 1. Chapter 3. Minister of Supply and Services: Ottawa.
- Roberts, J. 1991. The Possibilities of Accounting. Accounting, Organizations and Society, Vol. 16, No. 4, pp. 355-368.
- Roberts, J. 1996. "From discipline to dialogue: individualizing and socializing forms of accountability." In eds. Munro, R. & J. Mouritsen. Accountability: Power, Ethos and the Technologies of Managing. International Thomson Business Press: London.
- Roberts, J. 2001. Trust and Control in Anglo-American systems of corporate governance: The individualizing and socializing effects of processes of accountability. *Human Relations*, Vol. 54(12): 1547-1572.
- Roberts, J. & R. Scapens. 1985. Accounting systems and systems of accountability understanding accounting practices in their organizational contexts. *Accounting*, *Organizations and Society*, Vol. 10, No.4, pp. 442-456.
- Royal Proclamation of 1763. Available at: http://www.bloorstreet.com/ 200block/rp1763.htm#3
- Sahlins, M. 1972. Stone Age Economics. Aldane-Atherton, Inc: Chicago.
- Sahlins, M. 1994. "Goodbye to Tristes Tropes: ethnography in the Context of Modern World History" in ed. Borofsky, R. Assessing Cultural Anthropology. McGraw-Hill, Inc. New York.
- Said, E. 1993. Culture and Imperialism. Knopf Publishing: New York.
- Samson Cree Nation. 1998. The Report of the Nipishckopahk Board of Inquiry. Hobbema.
- Sauve, M. 1997. Gwiinzii Giinohkhii "Talking Good". MA Thesis: Whitehorse.
- Schlenker, B. & M. Weigold. 1992. Interpersonal Processes Involving Impression Regulation and Management. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, pp. 92-99.
- Schweiker, W. 1993. Accounting for Ourselves: Accounting practice and the discourse of ethics. *Accounting, Organizations and Society*, Vol. 18, No. 2/3, pp. 231-252.
- Sealey, G.D. 1969. History of the Hudson Bay Company, 1870-1900. M.A. Thesis. University of Western Ontario: London.
- Shearer, T. 2002. Ethics and Accountability: from the for-itself to the for-the other. Accounting, Organizations and Society 27, p.541-573.
- Sherry, E. & Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation. 1999. The Land Still Speaks: Gwich'in Words About Life in Dempster Country. Page Production Services: Old Crow.
- Sidney, A., Smith, K., Dawson, R., & J. Cruikshank. 1977. My stories are my wealth: as told to Julie Cruikshank. Willow Printer: Whitehorse.
- Simpson, M. 1989. Muskrat harvest and management on Old Crow flats: final project report. Department of Renewable Resources YTG: Whitehorse.
- Sinclair, A. 1995. The Chameleon of Accountability: Forms and Discourses. Accounting, Organizations and Society, Vol.20, No. 2/3, pp. 219-237.
- Slobodin, R. 1962. Band Organization of Peel River Kutchin. Department of Northern Affairs and Natural resources: Ottawa.
- Stanley, G. 1983. "As Long as the Sun Shines and Waters Flow: An Historical Comment." In eds. Getty, I. & A. Lussier. As Long as the Sun Shines and Waters Flow. University of British Columbia Press: Vancouver.
- Statutes of Canada. 1880. 3rd Sess. 4th Parl. Chapter 17, "An Act to amend the Indian Act, 1880". Printer for the Government of Canada: Ottawa
- Statutes of Canada, 1884a. Victoria 47, Chapter 27. "Indian Act". Printer for the Government of Canada: Ottawa.
- Statutes of Canada. 1894. Victoria 57-58. Chapter 32. "Indian Act". Printer for the Government of Canada: Ottawa.
- Statutes of Canada. 1895. Victoria, 58-59, Chapter 35. "Indian Act". Printer for the Government of Canada: Ottawa.
- Statutes of Canada. 1898. RG 10 vol 6809, file 470-2-3, vol.11, part 4. Printer for the Government of Canada: Ottawa.
- Statutes of Canada. 1900. Victoria, 63-64. Printer for the Government of Canada: Ottawa.
- Statutes of Canada. 1906. 6 Edward VIII, Chapter 92. "An Act to amend the Indian Act". Printer for the Government of Canada: Ottawa.
- Statutes of Canada. 1927. 15 George VI, Chapter 98 "Indian Act". Printer for the Government of Canada: Ottawa.
- Statutes of Canada. 1951. 15 George VI, Chapter 29 "An Act Respecting Indians". Printer for the Government of Canada: Ottawa.

- Stuart, B. 1999. "Guiding Principles: Designing and Introducing Peacemaking Circles." Unpublished thesis.
- Tanner, A. 1965. The Structure of Fur Relations. University of British Columbia Press: Vancouver.
- Tobias, J.L. 1983. "Protection, Civilization, Assimilation. An Outline History of Canada's Indian Policy." In eds. Getty, I.A.L. & A.S. Lussier. As Long as the Sun Shines and Water Flows. UBC Press: Vancouver.
- Veale, Mr. Justice R. 2002. Reasons for Judgment. *Scheffen et al.* . *Barber et al.* . Supreme Court of the Yukon Territory: Whitehorse.
- Villard, H.G. & W.W. Willoughby. 1918. The Canadian Budgetary System. D. Appleton & Company: New York.
- Vrsnik, V. 1999. Audit Indian Affairs open letter to the Prime Minister Jean Chretien. Available at http://ww.taxpayer.com/ltts/mb/July27-99.htm
- VGFN. 2001. Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation General Assembly summary.
- VGFN. 2003. Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation News release #2, August 5, 2003
- VGFN. 2004. Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation Resolution #14. Available at http://www.oldcrow.yk.net/gal.htm
- VGFN. 2004a. VGFN Constitution. Available at http://www.oldcrow.yk.net/cc.htm
- VGFN. 2004b. VGFN newsletter, May.
- VGFN. 2004c. Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation website. Available at: http://www.oldcrow.ca/
- VGFNFA. 1993. Vuntut Gwich'in First Nation Final Agreement. Minister of Supply and Services Canada: Ottawa.
- VGFNSA. 1993. Vuntut Gwich'in First Nation Self-Government Agreement. Minister of Supply and Services Canada: Ottawa.
- Willmott, H. 1996. "Thinking accountability: accounting for the disciplined production of self." In eds. Munro, R. & J. Mouritsen. Accountability: Power, Ethos and the Technologies of Managing. International Thomson Business Press: London.
- Yukon Act. 1898. Available at: http://www.explorenorth.com/library/yafeatures/blyt98.htm

Yukon Native Brotherhood. 1973. Together Today for Our Children Tomorrow. Yukon Native Brotherhood: Whitehorse.

Appendix A

A summary of fieldwork

In March, 2003, I attended a conference on First Nations accountability in the Yukon. This was basically an information session on an Aboriginal Information Database and Software system that the eight self-governing First Nations are contemplating implementing. The conference afforded me the opportunity to meet community finance directors and other people connected with financial and accountability matters within the communities, including two representatives from Vuntut Gwitchin First Nation (VGFN) of Old Crow. I had a meeting with those two and Norman McIntyre, the Chartered Accountant who has been very involved in helping VGFN with accounting, financial, and other related matters, since they became selfgoverning. At the meeting we discussed the fact that the database system would serve as a very good start for VGFN in terms of logistical housekeeping and accounting, and that it could produce many reports that would allow them to improve accountability and controls. I suggested that the database is a tool whose value would depend on the output that it generates and the degree to which that output is followed up. I also noted that there are other subjective indicators and processes that could dovetail with such a system and improve accountability. After some discussion and subsequent discussion between Norman and the VGFN Chief, it was agreed that I would go to Old Crow. In conjunction with conducting interviews directly related to my thesis, I would prepare a detailed description of existing systems at VGFN, and from discussion with various individuals within the First Nation, prepare a summary of what they consider to be desirable inputs and outputs that a database system might be able to produce – what accountability

173

mechanisms they thought would be useful, what reports they would like to see and how they would be used, etc. The objective was to develop a prototype system of reporting and accountability that might be used in other First Nations in the Yukon.

I went to Old Crow with Norman and one of his staff for the first week of June. I met with Norman and the Chief and Council on the Monday afternoon of our arrival, and explained what my thesis is about, what I wanted to do in the community, and what I could do for them. It was agreed that this would be useful, but that I needed to complete the VGFN ethics process before I would proceed. This is a slightly more detailed process than the Yukon Government ethics proposal that I had already completed and that had been forwarded to VGFN. They have their own, more stringent, process for two reasons: because of the unique nature of the community and the land surrounding it, it is a very popular target for research projects, and VGFN is very protective of their environment and their culture; the First Nation is involved in a number of sensitive political and economic issues, about which it is concerned that there be no leakage. So I completed the required form and had a brief interview with the Heritage officer who approves the applications. This took three days, in which time I read numerous files, reports, and publications that Norman provided me with, relating to meetings, agreements, and general goings on within VGFN over the past three or four years. At the same time, I was seen to be "around" the community and the office, so people were getting used to who I was. On Wednesday, Norman and his staff member left, and I started to make appointments to meet with the various Directors. This was not as simple as it may seem, but I was patient and did manage to meet with each of the three Councillors (who are also Department Directors) before I left on Friday afternoon. These were relatively informal

174

interviews that lasted between forty-five minutes and just over an hour. I took notes at each meeting, and when I had finished, I went and filled in gaps in my cryptic scribblings and wrote down general comments and observations about the interviews and the interviewees for my own future reference. At the end of each meeting, we agreed that we would think about what we had talked about, and we would meet again when I returned in July. One of the Councillors seemed quite reluctant to meet at first, and when we did meet, he was not overly forthcoming. The other two were much more cooperative and helpful. I learned later that these attitudes were very typical of all three, and in fact, I had done well to get a chance to talk to the first one. During the time that I was not interviewing these people, I was in the finance department office reading, and then writing up and supplementing notes of the interviews. The office is fairly busy with people coming in looking for cheques, asking about accounting matters within their departments, and just coming in for chats with one or other of the three employees who work there. I was able to listen and observe all of these goings on, plus, given my normal interest in "gossip", I did some chatting myself, and was able to learn a fair amount about the general goings on within the community, who is who, how things work in the community and in the office, etcetera.

The finance director, having only been in the community for three months, was learning the ropes herself, and invited me to her house for dinner one night. She is from a small village in Kenya, and recently finished her MBA at UBC. She is extremely laid back and unassuming, and has been accepted into the community very well. I found her insights into community life very interesting and helpful to my understanding of things, and we discussed financial and accountability matters at great length. I left the community feeling like I had been there for weeks, and I looked forward to returning in July.

In mid-July, I returned to Old Crow for another week. There had been two deaths in the community the week before, and an autopsy was being performed in Whitehorse on the second person before he was buried. Thus, the community was in a bit of a lull. Five or six gravediggers were out preparing the grave, a three day job given that the permafrost has to be thawed bit by bit before each level can be dug. The women of the community prepared meals for everyone for the entire week, so for each meal, as many as sixty or seventy people might come and sit on the picnic tables outside the place where the victim's mother lived, and have a community meal. I partook of several of these, which afforded me a great opportunity to get to know people and just sit and listen and observe the nuances of the local culture happening around me. As I had been in the community for a week previously, most people had at least seen me around and knew why I was there, so it seemed quite natural that I should be there. I had dinner with the Finance Director on the nights that I didn't go to the general dinner, and those evenings continued to be very interesting and informative, as they had been on my first visit with her.

On this trip, I met again with two of the Councillors – the Chief was out of town and the other Councillor was very busy and distracted with the funeral preparations so I felt it best to leave him alone. Coincidentally, this was the individual who was more difficult to approach the first time around. I also interviewed five employees of varying qualifications from various departments in the office, two of whom indicated that they were speaking as citizens as much as they were as employees. All of these individuals

176

were chosen on the basis of recommendations from the Finance Director, who felt that they would be able to provide practical and realistic insights into community activities. I have described all the interviewees in Appendix B.

I began to prepare a description of systems, based on input from various employees involved in the various activities. I reviewed my understanding of the systems with them, and I compiled a list of outputs based on Councillors' and employees' comments about what they would like to see in this regard. A summary report of this is at Appendix B. I stayed in the community for five days on this visit. As the village is so small (280 people and physically, most of the buildings are contained in an area of about three square miles), and particularly since I had either attended or walked by the community meals on my way back and forth from the Finance Director's house every day, I felt like I had become quite a known quantity in the community. I had had good opportunities to get to know community intrigue and personalities.

I returned to Old Crow for three days in August, to attend the VGFN General Assembly. This was held at a traditional meeting place, called Tlo-Kut about an hour's boat ride up the Porcupine River from Old Crow. Shuttle river boats took people back and forth from the village site all day long, a ride which in itself provided an opportunity for good visits with others on the boat. I stayed in the "bed and breakfast" building with the VGFN auditor, the manager of an investment company in which some of the VGFN compensation funds are held, and an advisor to that company who did a PhD in 1986 on culture and modernity in a Quebec First Nation. This chap was particularly interested in values and culture within minority and underprivileged groups in Canada. including First Nations. Our normal routine for the three days was to catch a boat up the river in the morning, listen to the goings on at the General Assembly and visit with people there all day and then return home at about 8:30 in the evening. We had meals at Tlo-Kut, and in the evenings, our building seemed to be the meeting place for all of the people from out of town – several other investment consultants were staying in the other building. Old Crow is a dry community, so discussions were over tea, and were generally centered around practical matters relating to Old Crow (ie. it wasn't exactly party time). These evenings were quite invaluable to me, as all of these people had been connected with Old Crow, mainly relating to financial matters, for years, so they were able to provide me with background information on all sorts of historical issues within the community. While these discussions were informal, everyone knew why I was there and what the topic of my thesis is and they were very happy to give me their opinions on accountability as well as all sorts of other matters.

As well as spending many hours talking to these "outsiders" – particularly the auditor, who happens to have articled in the same office that I did, but two years later – I was able to chat with many of the fifty or sixty community members attending the General Assembly. There were a number of elders there, a few of whom spoke at length to the Assembly, and a few who talked to me personally briefly. I took notes as people spoke at the General Assembly, and at various times after I had had private conversations with different people, I would go and write down what they had said. The whole three days was a very enlightening cultural experience and provided my first first-hand insight into the very different perspectives on community issues of outside consultants and the auditor.

In Whitehorse, I conducted three formal interviews and I had numerous informal conversations (at social gatherings) with various other people connected to First Nations in some way or another. After returning to Edmonton I conducted two other interviews by telephone with federal government funding department employees.

My most recent trip to Old Crow was in November, 2004. I went for four days and stayed with the finance Director. I conducted several interviews with individuals in the office and had general discussions with numerous individuals as to changes that had taken place in the year since my previous visit. I also chatted with the Chief at length during the flight up to Old Crow. The finance Director and I attended a community meal that was held in conjunction with a parenting workshop that was being provided to the community. In Whitehorse, I conducted further interviews with two former Band managers and an employee of DIA. Details of all interviewees are noted in Appendix B.

Interviews

Appendix B

Location	Gender	Age	VGFN Citizen	Occupation	Length of interview	
Old Crow	М	45	yes	VGFN Councillor/Director of Health &Social serv	ices ½ hr	
Old Crow	М	50	yes	VGFN Councillor/Director of Land & resources	1½hrs	
Old Crow	F	30	yes	VGFN Councillor/Director of Housing	1½hrs	
Old Crow	F	55	yes	VGFN Community health representative	3⁄4 hr	
Old Crow	F	40	yes	VGFN Community wellness worker	½ hr	
Old Crow	F	30	yes	VGFN Enrollment officer	34 hr	
Old Crow	F	30	yes	VGFN Director of training	1 hr	
Old Crow	F	40	yes	VGFN Accounts payable clerk	1 hr	
Old Crow	F	28	no	VGFN Director of Finance	4 hrs	
Whitehorse	F	35	yes	DIA employment officer	3¼ hrs	
Whitehorse	М	60	no	member VGFN land-use planning board	2hrs	
Whitehorse	М	50	no	YTG Chief land claims negotiator	1½hrs	

Whitehorse	М	55	no	former First Nations Band manager	1½hrs
Whitehorse	М	40	no	consultant and former VGFN Finance Director	Thrs
Edmonton (telephor	ne)M	50	no	DIA manager of capital funding for First Nations	1/2hr
Edmonton (telephor	ic)F	50	no	DIA manager of general funding for First Nations	1½hrs

informal visits from which I took notes

Old Crow – Tlo Kut	М	75	yes	elder
Old Crow Tlo-Kut	F	75	yes	elder
Old Crow – Tlo-Kut	F	55	yes	Gwitchin teacher
Old Crow – Tlo-Kut	М	50	no	investment counsellor/broker for VGFN
Old Crow – Tlo-Kut	М	55	no	auditor
Whitehorse	М	60	no	Supreme Court judge
Whitehorse	М	60	no	Federal chief land claims negotiator

Sample Housin	ng Report	Month: March 2003							Appendix C
Paying rent	<u>House</u> <u>#</u>	House condition	<u>Rent</u> arrears	<u># R&M</u> calis	1 <u># R&M</u> projects	- E	<u>\$ for</u> projects	<u>Avg. \$/ project</u>	<u># calls</u> <u>YTD</u>
	ABC EFG	fair fair		0 0	4 1	3 1	\$67.00 \$168.00	\$22.33 \$168.00	7 0
Not paying rent	xyz	good			2	2	\$515.00	\$257.50	1
Totals					7	6	\$750.00	\$447.83	8

From this you could see that perhaps ABC should be taking more responsibility to look after their own affairs rather than

phoning numerous times for apparently small problems. Also, perhaps xyz's condition is not really that good and needs to be reassessed.

Appendix D

Example Database Inputs and Red Flags

Inputs

General database fields

- name
- birthdate
- gender
- in VGFN housing house number
- living in community/out of community
- destination: 0 child
 - 1 in school
 - 2 employed out of community
 - 3 employed in community
 - 4 occupational skills upgrading
 - 5 attending post-secondary education
 - 6 unemployed
 - 7 whereabouts unknown/deceased
- on Social Assistance: 10 no
 - 11 yes, elder
 - 12 yes, employable
 - 13 yes, unemployable-single parent
 - 14 yes, unemployable-disabled
 - 15 yes, unemployable-other

Red Flags

Housing database fields (for each building)

- assessment of building conditions
- assessment of washroom conditions
- r & m calls
- r& m costs per call
- utility costs
- reno costs and budgets: labour
 - : materials
 - : electrical, plumbing, heating, etc.

Red Flags

- changes in status, destination......eg. If a person has been on SA and becomes employed, their name will be red-flagged in the system so all programs can deal with it accordingly - education,
- housing,
 - etc. (ensures no double dipping)
 - housing costs eg. flags if a person requires R&M but is in rent arrears